

PLAN REVIEW

SECOND PUBLICATION AMENDED ALLOCATIONS & DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT DPD

SEPTEMBER 2023



Document Passport

Title: Newark & Sherwood Plan Review Amended Allocations & Development Management Development Plan Document

Status: Publication Development Plan Document (DPD)

Summary: This Second Publication DPD sets out **allocations of land** for new housing, including Gypsy, Roma, Traveller housing, employment and other development in the main settlements in the District. It also sets out **Development Management policies** for the use in the consideration of Planning Applications and **updated Housing Policies** to replace those in the Amended Core Strategy.

Route of Approval for Publication:	Cabinet 19 September 2023	
	Full Council 20 September 2023	

Date of Approval for Publication: 20 September 2023

Consultation Summary: Public consultation was undertaken on the Plan Review on a number of occasions between 2015 and 2017, this led to the Amended Core Strategy being produced first and then more detailed consultation on the Allocations & Development Management proposals undertaken in July – August 2019 and July – September 2021. The First Publication DPD was published for consultation in Winter 2022. Following the close to the representation period, of significance was a representation from the Environment Agency and a change in situation regarding the Gypsy & Traveller Pitch Delivery Strategy. As a result, the Second Publication DPD is subject to a period of representation. People who feel that the DPD is not 'sound' under the terms of the Planning Regulations can make a representation on the matter to the Council.

Representation Period: From Monday 25 September 2023 until 5pm on Monday 6 November 2023. Copies of this document and guidance on how to make representations are deposited at Castle House (open between 9am and 5pm Monday to Friday), the District's Libraries and on the Council's Website: <u>https://www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/aadm-representation/</u>

After the Representation Period: Following a period when representations will be sought on this document a finalised DPD will be submitted to the Secretary of State in December 2023 and assessed by an independent Inspector in Spring of 2024.

Estimated Date of Final Adoption: October 2024

Matt Lamb MTCP MPA MRTPI Director – Planning & Growth Newark and Sherwood District Council Castle House Great North Road Newark Nottinghamshire NG24 1BY

Guide to the Publication Development Plan Document

As the Document Passport outlines, this is the Second Publication Development Plan Document (DPD). This means that it is the Amended Allocations & Development Management DPD containing the policies and wording which the Council wishes to submit to the Secretary of State for Examination and ultimately adoption by the District Council. As the First Publication DPD proposed amendments to the DPD Adopted in 2013, it showed the original text, with deletions crossed through and additions underlined. However, as this is now the Second Publication DPD, proposed amendments since the First Publication DPD are now double underlined and proposed deletions are double crossed through. This gives everyone the opportunity to read the DPD as amended and consider if they wish to make Representations on the contents of the document.

The representations will be considered alongside the Amended DPD when submitted in December 2023 and will be examined by an independent Inspector whose role is to assess whether the plan has been prepared in accordance with the Duty to Cooperate, to legal and procedural requirements, and whether it is sound. Representations submitted should relate to the requirements of the Duty to Cooperate, legal compliance or the `Tests of Soundness.'

Everyone now has the opportunity to read the DPD and consider if they wish to make Representations on the contents of the documents. Unlike at the previous stage of the production of the DPD this is not a consultation but a period seeking representations. The representations will be considered alongside the DPD when submitted and, in Spring 2024, the DPD will be examined by an independent Inspector whose role is to assess whether the plan has been prepared in accordance with the Duty to Cooperate, to legal and procedural requirements, and whether it is sound. Representations submitted should relate to the requirements of the Duty to Cooperate, legal compliance or the `Tests of Soundness.'

The legal requirements are that the Amended Allocations & Development Management DPD:

- Has been prepared in accordance with the Local Development Scheme (i.e. the Council's timetable).
- In compliance with the Statement of Community Involvement and the Town and Country Planning (Local Development)(England) Regulations 2012.
- Has been subject to a sustainability appraisal (which in Newark and Sherwood is part of an Integrated Impact Assessment)
- Has regard to national policy and guidance

A local planning authority should submit a plan for examination which it considers is "sound" – namely that it is:

a) Positively prepared – providing a strategy which, as a minimum, seeks to meet the area's objectively assessed needs; and is informed by agreements with other authorities, so that unmet need from neighbouring areas is accommodated where it is practical to do so and is consistent with achieving sustainable development;

- b) Justified an appropriate strategy, taking into account the reasonable alternatives, and based on proportionate evidence;
- c) Effective deliverable over the plan period, and based on effective joint working on cross-boundary strategic matters that have been dealt with rather than deferred, as evidenced by the statement of common ground; and
- d) Consistent with national policy enabling the delivery of sustainable development in accordance with the policies in this Framework and other statements of national planning policy, where relevant.

Detailed guidance on how to make representations is set out on our website <u>www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/aadm-representation/</u>, in guidance notes which are also available at Castle House and the District's Libraries.

Representations can be made against the whole document or a particular allocation or policy and should be made on representation forms available at the same locations as the Guidance notes. Representations not made on the Representations Form should clearly indicate which test of soundness or point of legal compliance the representation relates to.

If you have any questions, please contact Planning Policy on 01636 650000 or via planningpolicy@nsdc.info

Contents

Intr	oduction
1.0	Introduction
Allo	cations
2.0	Newark Area
	Newark Urban Area
	Collingham
	Sutton on Trent
3.0	Southwell Area
	Southwell
	Farnsfield
4.0	Nottingham Fringe Area
	Lowdham
5.0	Sherwood Area
	Laxton
	Ollerton & Boughton
	Edwinstowe
	Bilsthorpe
6.0	Mansfield Fringe Area
	Rainworth
	Clipstone
	Blidworth
Dev	elopment Management Policies
7.0	Development Management Policies
Hon	nes for All
8.0	Homes for All
Арр	endices
Anne	andix A Policies Amended or Deleted by the Adention of this DDD
	endix A Policies Amended or Deleted by the Adoption of this DPD
•••	endix C Monitoring
	endix C Monitoring endix D Open Space Quantity Standards
•••	
нрре	endix E Neighbourhood Planning Strategic Policies

1.0 Introduction

- 1.1 The <u>Amended</u> Allocations and Development Management Development Plan Document (A&DMDPD AADMDPD) is one of the Local Development <u>Plan</u> Documents (LDDs DPD) included within the Newark and Sherwood Local Development Framework (LDF) <u>which has been</u> reviewed over the past seven years. The first element of the Plan Review focussed on updating the Core Strategy DPD and an Amended Core Strategy DPD was adopted in March 2019. The adoption of AADMDPD completes the Plan Review process.
- 1.2 Its main purpose is <u>The intention of the Plan Review is to ensure that the AADMDPD continues</u> to allocate sufficient land for housing, employment and retail, to meet the needs of Newark and Sherwood to 2026 <u>2033</u> and beyond. <u>The document includes new and amended Housing and Affordable Housing Policies which replace those included in the Amended Core Strategy and new Gypsy Roma Traveller policies and allocations.</u> The document also sets out amendments to urban boundaries and village envelopes, retail boundaries as well as sites requiring continued protection from development (open space and green infrastructure designations). It also includes a suite of Development Management policies to provide greater direction, help deliver specific allocations and assist in the day-to-day assessment of planning applications.</u>
- 1.3 The previous A&DM DPD has been was written in accordance with the adopted Core Strategy that was adopted in March 2011 and its approach to settlement growth in identifying specific sites where new homes and employment sites should be built. Having adopted an Amended Core Strategy with updated development targets it was necessary to ensure that these continue to be met by the allocations and policies within the DPD. As the targets in the Amended Core Strategy are lower (albeit for a different time period) and overall, we had made enough allocations to meet the higher target the starting point for the review was that we should have sufficient sites to meet development needs without making further allocations. All sites in the DPD have been appraised to see if they are still available and deliverable, those sites that continue to be, have remained allocated. We have only deallocated sites in circumstances where they are no longer available or deliverable. Where details regarding allocations have changed or new evidence needs to be taken into account site allocation policies have been amended. The DPD illustrates the location and extent of the allocated land on the Policies Map and provides guidance on how and when the sites should be developed. The site selection process followed in the making of these allocations has been guided by the methodology detailed in Appendix B.
- 1.4 Details of these site allocations and designations are outlined in the following sections of the document and are grouped into different sections of the document based on the Areas identified in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy. This sub-division is derived from the presence of common characteristics, including the prevailing economic, social and environmental conditions and the existence of connections to, and the influence of, surrounding areas and centres. This identifies five distinct and internally cohesive areas within the District as shown on Figure 1. The location and extent of the allocated sites are shown on the accompanying Policies Map. As this is a review, Allocations that have been completed or deallocated are referred to in the text and Appendix A explains the reason for the deletion.

- 1.5 It should however be recognised that the allocation of a site for a particular use in the A&DM DPD AADMDPD is not the same as receiving planning permission for a development. The effect of a site allocation is establish Council policy support for the principle of the development proposed in the allocation. Planning permission for the specific use that the site is allocated for will still be required.
- 1.6 In addition to those allocations and designations made in those settlements which are central to delivering the Spatial Strategy a number of Main Open Areas have also been designated in a number of the remaining settlements across the District. Details of these Main Open Areas can be found at the start of each Area Chapter and on the Policies Map.
- 1.7 To assist the reader a Glossary of the terms used throughout the document has been provided in Appendix B.



Background Context

- 1.8 The preparation of the A&DM DPD has taken into account the relevant national, regional and local planning policy context. The DPD has also been informed by a series of evidence base studies prepared to assist with the production of the District Council's LDF. In addition the infrastructure requirements of the District and the findings of the supporting Integrated Impact Assessment (incorporating a Sustainability Appraisal) and Appropriate Assessment have also been important elements in feeding into the development of the DPD.
- 1.9 **National Planning Policy** National planning policy on the various aspects of spatial planning and the operation of the planning system is set out within the National Planning Policy Framework <u>and accompanying Planning Policy Guidance</u>. This policy framework covers broad topic areas such as plan preparation, housing, employment, town centres, built heritage, Green Belts and biodiversity and the creation of strong, safe and prosperous communities. Local authorities are required to take national policy into account when preparing their LDDs <u>DPDs</u> by ensuring that the plans and policies within them are consistent with this national guidance. National planning policy is also material to the consideration of individual planning applications and appeals. Further information on national planning policy can be viewed at <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance.</u>
- 1.10 Local Planning Policy The Newark and Sherwood <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy was adopted by the Council on 29th 7th March 2019 2011. The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy forms the overarching document in the LDF and all other LDDs <u>DPDs</u> produced by the Council should be in general conformity with this plan. It sets out the spatial vision for Newark and Sherwood, contains a range of strategic and area-based objectives for the District and a number of strategic policies for achieving the vision.
- 1.11 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy sets out how new development in Newark and Sherwood will be distributed across the District. In planning to meet the level of growth which is directed at the Newark Urban Area, the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy identifies and allocates three Strategic Sites that are capable of delivering a significant amount of the growth as Sustainable Urban Extensions (SUEs) to the existing urban area. A <u>SUE has also been allocated at Edwinstowe</u>. These strategic sites will be developed as new neighbourhoods in a phased manner throughout the plan period and beyond, to deliver new housing, employment and supporting services including education and facilities to meet the needs of a growing population. In addition to these strategic sites, specific sites for development are identified, in line with the District Council's approach to settlement growth, through the A&DM this DPD. The development that comes forward at these locations must also be consistent with the cross-cutting policies contained within the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy.
- 1.12 Adoption of the this A&DM DPD by the District Council completes the Plan Review process and replaces the previous Allocations & Development Management DPD replacement of the saved policies of the Newark & Sherwood Local Plan (1999). In addition the Policies Map has also been updated to take account of the allocations and designations made through this DPD, the Policies Map also identifies constraints such as Conservation Areas, sites designated for their nature conservation value and Source Protection Zones (protecting water aquifers).

As a result of this updating <u>Therefore</u> any sites that were previously identified on the Policies Map but which are not retained in this document are no longer allocated for the use for which they were originally identified.

- 1.13 <u>Climate change is a significant issue that requires urgent action, and the Council therefore</u> declared a climate change emergency on 16th July 2019. The Local Development Framework <u>already addresses climate change through both the Amended Core Strategy (2019) and</u> <u>Allocations and Development Management DPD (2013). The Plan Review has provided the</u> <u>Council with further opportunity to strengthen the Publication Amended Allocations &</u> <u>Development Management DPD to address the climate change emergency and the Council</u> <u>will seek to integrate further action in Supplementary Planning Documents and guidance that</u> <u>it produces in future.</u>
- 1.14 **Evidence Base** A significant amount of research has been undertaken to develop an evidence base to support the preparation of this document and the other documents in the Council's LDF. This evidence base has played a critical role in <u>the development of new policy</u> and the site assessment work that has been undertaken as part of the preparation of this document and includes:
 - The Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA)
 - The Retail and Town Centres Study
 - The Sub Regional Employment Land Review
 - The Employment Land Availability Study
 - Green Belt Study
 - <u>Strategic Housing & Employment Land Availability Assessment (SHELAA)</u>
 - Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA)
 - Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP)
 - Landscape Character Assessment (LCA)
 - District Wide Transport Study and updated IDP Transport Chapter
 - Housing Needs Assessment
 - Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment
 - Conservation Areas Appraisals
 - The Green Infrastructure Strategy
 - The Green Spaces Strategy and the Green Spaces Improvement Plans for each community
 - Open Space Assessment & Strategy
 - <u>Whole Plan Viability Assessment</u>
 - Main Open Area Review
 - Southwell Setting Study
 - Southwell Gateway Study
 - Bridge Ward Neighbourhood Study

These reports are available to view on the Council's website: https://www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/planreview-evidence/

- 1.15 Infrastructure The housing and employment growth proposed for the District will need to be supported by additional physical and social infrastructure to cater for an increased population, and also to improve existing facilities. The District Council have therefore produced has an Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) to provide a detailed understanding of existing shortfalls in infrastructure provision and to identify the infrastructure required to meet the level of growth anticipated in the district up to 2033 2026.
- 1.16 New development that comes forward within the District, including on the sites identified by the AADMDPD A&DM DPD, will be expected to make an appropriate contribution to these infrastructure requirements.
- 1.17 In order to specifically assist in the delivery of strategic infrastructure within the District the Council <u>operates a</u> has introduced a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). The CIL is a levy which local authorities in England and Wales can charge on most types of new development in their area. CIL charges are based on the size, type and location of the development proposed. Following independent Examination the District Council has adopted a Charging Schedule which sets out the rate to be levied against new development in the District. This Charging Schedule came into effect on the 1st December 2011. The CIL will be used to provide improvements to the strategic highway network and other highway infrastructure that may include the Southern Link Road as identified in the IDP and to contribute to secondary education in the District including a secondary school within the Newark Urban Area.
- 1.18 In addition local infrastructure, including facilities and services which are essential for development to take place, or which are needed to mitigate the impact of development at the site or neighbourhood level, will be secured through planning obligations.
- 1.19 Public Participation - Production of the DPD has been informed by public consultation during which the District Council has consulted widely with stakeholder groups including residents, Town and Parish Councils, community groups, the Government and other key consultees. Consultation on the Plan Review as a whole began in 2015 with a Plan Review Issues Paper, Consultation on this informed a number of Preferred Approach consultations over the next two years which fed into an Amended Core Strategy and further consultation on the various aspects of this DPD, namely the Issues paper in 2019, and the Options Report in 2021 and the <u>1</u>st <u>Publication DPD in 2022</u>. The first stage in the DPDs production was the Options Report which underwent consultation between 3rd October and 25th November 2011, this was then supplemented by a further stage of consultation on the Additional Sites and Development Management Policies Consultation Papers between 20th March and the 1st May 2012. At each of these consultation stages, the Council has sought feedback from the public and key stakeholders to help shape development of the DPD and the policies within it. This has been carried out in line with the Council's Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) and with the requirements of the COVID regulations that existed at the time of consultation. The Council has sought to make engagement with the A&DM DPD accessible, facilitated through exhibitions in all settlements in which allocations are proposed, making documents available in local libraries, local forums, localadvertising in the press and local community buildings and distribution of letters and consultationdocuments.

- 1.20 Integrated Impact Assessment and Sustainability Appraisal The District Council is required to ensure that documents prepared for its LDF are subject to a Sustainability Appraisal (SA), which incorporates the requirements of Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA). Carrying out the process of SA is a statutory requirement within the spatial planning process. It provides a means to assess the economic, social and environmental effects of the strategies and policies of the LDF from the outset of the plan preparation process. The Council is also required to carry out an Equalities Impact Assessment to ensure that the impacts on those with protected characteristics are fully considered. It is recommended as best practice that the impact of the DPD on health issues should also be considered. To consider all these issues comprehensively an Integrated Impact Assessment has been prepared alongside the plan including sustainability, equality and health considerations together. The IIA is available to view at https://www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/planreview-evidence/.
- 1.21 The purpose of SA is to promote sustainable development through the better integration of sustainability considerations into the preparation and adoption of plans. The A&DM DPD is accompanied by a SA Report which considers the likely significant environmental, economic and social effects of the Plan. The Sustainability Appraisal Report can be viewed at http://www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/adm
- 1.21 **Appropriate Assessment-** The Habitats Directive (Directive 92/43/EEC) on the Conservation of Natural Habitats and of Wild Fauna and Flora requires that any plan or project that is likely to have a significant effect on a designated habitat site, either individually or in combination with other plans or projects, is subject to an Appropriate Assessment (AA) of its implications for the site in view of the sites conservation objectives. AA is required when the habitat site is designated for their international nature conservation interests and includes:
 - Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) and candidate Special Areas of Conservation (cSAC);
 - Special Protection Area (SPA) and candidate Special Protection Areas (cSPA); and
 - Ramsar sites.
- 1.22 In Newark and Sherwood, there is one designated habitat site, Birklands and Bilhaugh Special Area of Conservation (SAC), located within Sherwood Forest <u>and there are also a number of SPAs that are within 40km of the District. Alongside these formal designations Natural England recommend that a precautionary approach should be adopted to the habitats of Woodlark and Nightjar in Sherwood Forest and therefore a shadow AA has been undertaken on these sites. A Screening Report for the A&DM DPD has been undertaken to assess and screen the policies within it to establish whether they would adversely affect the designated habitats. This has been followed by an AA; the recommendations of which have been incorporated into the policies and allocations of the DPD. The Screening Report and AA can be viewed at http://www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/adm</u>

https://www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/planreview-evidence/

Monitoring and Review

- 1.23 Monitoring- The effective review and monitoring of the LDF, including the <u>AADMDPD</u> A&DM DPD, is crucial to its successful delivery and critical in understanding the effectiveness of the policies, allocations and designations which have been provided for. The Monitoring Framework for the A&DM DPD builds on that established for the Core Strategy DPD and is detailed in Appendix C. The A&DM DPD sets out the detail for how the vision and objectives of the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy will be achieved on the ground.
- 1.24 <u>Housing</u> The Housing Trajectory for Allocated Sites <u>(Appendix C)</u> shows an illustration of how the housing identified through this document may be delivered over the Plan period <u>and help</u> <u>meet the housing target set out in Spatial Policy 2 of the Amended Core Strategy</u>. In Blidworth and Lowdham it has not been possible to accommodate the numbers of dwellings identified in theCore Strategy due to Green Belt, flooding and access constraints. However, as can be seen from the Local Development Framework Housing Trajectory included at Appendix C, the total number of dwellings identified, 15199, is still in excess of the 14800 required.
- 1.25 The District Council will give consideration to reviewing the housing numbers set out in the Core Strategy for Green Belt villages in 2015/16, whilst reviewing the position with regards to progresson the implementation of allocations and policies within the Development Plan. As it is not the intention to undertake a further review of the Green Belt, it may be necessary to revise the housingfigures downwards if development is not forthcoming.
- 1.25 There is some flexibility in the figures as they have been assessed on a basis of 30dph across the district, apart from the Newark Urban Area which has been assessed at 40dph. As part of the determination of planning allocations on these allocated sites it is possible that both higher and lower densities may be achieved on sites as part of the design process.
- 1.26 The District Council can demonstrate 7.6 7.05 7.20 years' worth of housing supply, as at 1st April 2022 2012, whentaking account of planning permissions on deliverable sites and allocated sites where dwellings are anticipated to come forward within five years. The five-year land supply is included within the Council's Housing Monitoring and 5 Year Land Supply Report and is updated on an annual basis.
- 1.27 However, this document has been produced during a time of economic recession and if the marketdoes not improve within the short to medium term it is possible that the levels of housing deliveryanticipated may not be achieved. The District Council will keep under review the delivery of housing against the trajectory and also the requirements to maintain a 5-year land supply. The Strategic Sites allocated within the Core Strategy are also central to the delivery of the vision and strategy for the District. Progress on all sites will be monitored through the Annual Monitoring Report in accordance with the targets and indicators set out in the Monitoring Appendices included within the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy (Appendix <u>F</u> G) and this document (Appendix C).
- 1.28 It is proposed that a review of the full housing needs assessment will be undertaken in 2014. Thiswill provide the context for reviewing the general and specific housing needs policies contained within the Core Strategy and this DPD as detailed in paragraph 1.40

Employment

- 1.28 This DPD sets out the detail for how employment land will be provided across the District. Employment land provision set out in Spatial Policy 2 of the adopted Amended Core Strategy identifies a requirement of 83.1 in the region of 211 to 220 hectares, distributed amongst the five areas for the period 2006 2013 to 2033 2026. In total the District has a supply of 176.69 185.56 hectares of employment land.
- 1.29 The table below demonstrates the provision of employment land across the District at 1st April 2012, and the Lower and Upper Core Strategy requirements.

Table 1

	District Totals
Lower Core Strategy Requirement	211
Upper Core Strategy Requirement	220
Total hectares of land provided up to 2026	225.44

- 1.29 As shown above, this document meets the requirements for employment land provision as set outin the Core Strategy. The employment trajectories for allocated sites show an illustration of how the employment identified through this document may be delivered over the Plan period.
- 1.30 As with the housing situation, it is possible that the levels of employment delivery anticipated maynot be achieved. The District Council will keep under review the delivery of employment land against the trajectories. This will be monitored through the Annual Monitoring Report in accordance with the targets and indicators set out in the Monitoring Appendices.
- 1.31 Retail The 2016 Retail and Town Centre Study carried out an assessment of capacity for new comparison and convenience goods over the plan period and identified a limited need for additional comparison floor space beyond the NPPF required 10 year horizon. Retail provision has been made in the Amended Core Strategy for the Strategic Sites and no additional retail allocations have been made in this document beyond those which have been carried forward from the 2013 DPD.
- 1.32 As part of the production of the A&DM DPD the Council commissioned a review of retail requirementsby Alyn Nicholls Associates. The review concluded that the comparison floor space requirement for the District was now 15% lower than originally estimated and set out in Paragraph 5.31 (p49) of the Adopted Core Strategy DPD at 15,690 square metres net. This is as a result of a more up to date retail projection than those contained within the original Retail study. The other elements of the Core Strategy requirements continue to be valid:

- Convenience floor space requirements;
- Comparison floorspace requirements are only required post 2019 as a result of the increased demand generated by housing development.

Therefore the retail requirements for the District are:

	Newark Urban Area	Rest of District	District Wide	Totals
Additional floor space capacity for Convenience Goods (Sqm)	5661	6707		12368
Additional floor space capacity for Comparison Goods (Sqm)			15690	15690
Total Requirement				28058

Table 2

- 1.33 Taking into account existing completions and commitments, the District Council has allocated sufficient land to meet the requirements as set out above. Details of these are provided in AppendixC Monitoring alongside a retail trajectory. Retail provision was made in the Core Strategy for convenience and comparison shopping in Newark Urban Area in the 3 Strategic Urban Extensions, Local Centre allocations. This document makes an allocation to meet the residual requirement forpost 2019 comparison retail provision in Newark Urban Area and various other allocations for convenience provision in the rest of the District.
- 1.34 Given the additional retail need relates to new housing growth and the need to review retail over the medium term it is proposed that a full retail needs assessment will be carried out in 2015/16. This will allow the District Council to make necessary adjustments to the strategy if additional or alternative sites are required.

Future Review

1.32 This DPD supports the delivery of the Amended Core Strategy adopted in 2019. It reflects the somewhat unusual situation that our earlier 2011 Core Strategy had higher development targets and therefore rolling the plan period forward to 2033 has not required additional housing and employment allocations to be made. Now that the Amended Allocations & Development Management DPD The NPPF will require that in 2024 the Council reviews the

Amended Core Strategy to see if it remains up to date, at that point it is likely that the Council will begin the process of developing a new Local Plan. In 2015/16 the District Council will review the position with regards to progress on the implementation of allocations and policies within the Development Plan, having regard to the trajectories and thecurrent market situation. If necessary, action can be taken to review elements of the Plan, as appropriate, including options to roll forward the end date of the Plan (where delivery is taking placebut at a slower rate due to market conditions); or to address changes required as a result of updated evidence.

2.0 Newark Area

- 2.1 The Newark Area covers the eastern side of the District and is dominated by the historic market town of Newark and the Trent Valley. The Area is split into three sub-areas to reflect its diverse nature:
 - Newark and Rural South Sub-Area
 - Rural North Sub-Area
 - Collingham Sub-Area
- 2.2 The Area contains the District's largest settlement, Newark-on-Trent. Newark Urban Area is defined as the main built-up areas of Newark, Balderton and Fernwood and is designated in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy as a Sub-Regional Centre which is the principal location for growth in Newark & Sherwood. In the north of the Newark Area, in the Collingham and Rural North Sub-Areas respectively, the Principal Villages of Collingham and Sutton on Trent act as important focuses for local services. Allocations for development have been made, and their status updated, in Newark Urban Area, Collingham and Sutton on Trent.

Public Open Space & Main Open Areas

- 2.3 Beyond the settlements where development is being allocated, protection for important land and Public Open Space is still required. Public Open Space and other forms of recreation land (including school playing fields) can be found in settlements across the area, whilst not all are defined on the Policies Map, they are all protected by virtue of Spatial Policy 8 of the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy. Loss of such facilities will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated that it is no longer feasible to provide, or that there is sufficient alternative provision elsewhere of similar or better quality.
- 2.4 Main Open Areas are areas of open land within settlements that play an important role in defining their form and structure. They are not always open to the public although most are viewable from public land or accessible via public footpaths through them. They are designated on the Policies Map.

Policy NA/MOA - Newark Area – Main Open Areas

Main Open Areas represent those areas of predominantly open land that play an important part in defining a settlements form and structure.

Within the following locations Main Open Areas have been defined on the Policies Map:

- Besthorpe
- Coddington
- Cromwell
- North Clifton
- North Muskham
- Norwell
- South Muskham

Within these Main Open Areas planning permission will not normally be granted for built development.

Newark Urban Area

- 2.5 The Newark Urban Area comprises the main built-up areas of Newark-on-Trent, Balderton and Fernwood. Newark-on-Trent itself is the District's largest settlement and is significant as a centre of commerce and trade with strong links to the surrounding villages, farms and countryside. The area has excellent communication links with quick rail connections to London, Leeds, Edinburgh and Nottingham and its proximity to the A1(T) ensures that the area is also well connected to the trunk road network.
- 2.6 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy identifies Newark as a Sub-Regional Centre and reaffirms its status as a GrowthPoint. The Amended Core Strategy therefore directs significant levels of growth to the Newark Urban Area, with 70%60% of the overall District housing growth and the majority of the Newark Area's employment land requirement, between 80 to 87_51.9 hectares, to be provided in the area during the plan period. The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy addresses the majority of this growth in allocating three Strategic Sites, however a with the residual requirement of 1,544 dwellings and 25 to 32 hectares of employment land still remains to be planned for in this DPD. This review updates the position of the allocations at April 20223. Whilst some of the allocations have the benefit of planning permission and may be under construction, the allocations are retained unless all of the site is complete. When taking account of developments which may continue delivering beyond the 2033 Plan Period there is a residual requirement of 436 455 dwellings which can be accommodated on the remaining site allocations. Sufficient land has been completed or has the benefit of planning permission to meet the employment requirements in the Newark Area.
- 2.7 The majority of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community of the District live in and around <u>Newark Urban Area, proposals for existing sites and future provision are set out in Chapter</u> <u>8 of this document.</u> The current requirement for Gypsy and Traveller provision in the Core Strategy of 84 pitches hasnow been met and exceeded with 93 pitches having been secured. This requirement covers the period to the end of 2012. Projecting forward based on the existing needs study it is anticipated that an additional 21 pitches will be required over the next 5 years. Currently the District Council is in negotiation to buy an existing site which has planning permission, but is not in use, to createadditional capacity which should meet such a target. Cabinet has resolved that if necessary Compulsory Purchase Order powers can be used for this purpose. More fundamentally the DistrictCouncil is updating its evidence base, in partnership with other Local Authorities, to reflect the substantial increase in pitch numbers that has occurred and will seek to secure any further allocationsbased on this information through a Gypsy & Traveller DPD over the next two years.
- 2.8 It is considered that this growth will strengthen Newark's role as a Sub-Regional Centre and build a critical mass that enables the area to support and provide a range of retail, commercial, employment, leisure and other services to people living in the town and the surrounding villages and facilitate the cost-effective provision of infrastructure.

Policy NUA/Ho/1 Newark Urban Area - Housing Site 1 – <u>Site De-allocated</u>

Land at the end of Alexander Avenue and Stephen Road has been allocated on the Policies Mapfor residential development providing around 20 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- Provision of an appropriate landscaping scheme submitted as part of any planning application to screen the site from the A46 Newark Bypass;
- Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post-determination mitigation measures, if necessary, reflecting the high archaeological potential of the site, secured by condition.

Policy NUA/Ho/2 Newark Urban Area - Housing Site 2

Land south of Quibells Lane has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing around <u>8625</u> dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- The preparation of an appropriate Transport Assessment by the applicant, including improvements to Quibells Lane to adoptable standard, forming part of any planning application Appropriate access to the site via Hatchets Lane;
- The preparation of a Site-Specific Flood Risk Assessment by the applicant forming part of any planning application <u>and details of measures to mitigate the potential for on-site</u> <u>surface water flooding risk and management of run off and ensure that flood risk is not</u> <u>increased elsewhere:</u>
- Provision of an appropriate landscaping scheme submitted as part of any planning application to screen the site from the East Coast Main Line;
- Developer contributions towards the elimination of the foot crossing across the East Coast Main Line at Hatchets Lane secured through the planning application process; and
- The investigation of potential archaeology on the site and any necessary post-

determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent reflecting the high archaeological potential of the site.

The site currently includes the District Council's Seven Hills Homeless Hostel. Redevelopment of this site should only occur once the District Council has made suitable alternative provision for theHostel in line with the requirements of Spatial Policy 8.

Policy NUA/Ho/3 Newark Urban Area - Housing Site 3 – <u>Site De-allocated</u>

Land on Lincoln Road has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providingaround 24 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- Enhanced provision of an element of Public Open Space on 0.3 hectares of the site including re-provision of the existing Multi-Use Games Area secured as part of any planning applicationand developer contributions;
- Access to any residential development via Cedar Avenue; and
- Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application andpost determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required.

Policy NUA/Ho/4 Newark Urban Area - Housing Site 4 - Yorke Drive Policy Area

Yorke Drive Estate and Lincoln Road Playing Fields have been identified in the Bridge Ward Neighbourhood Study as locations for regeneration and redevelopment. The area has been identified on the Policies Map as the NUA/Ho/4 - Yorke Drive Policy Area. The regeneration and redevelopment of the Yorke Drive Policy Area should be a comprehensive scheme, regenerating existing housing and developing new stock in a coordinated and sustainable manner. To achieve this, proposals in the Policy Area will be presented as part of a Master Plan which will:

- i Include proposals for improved linkages between the policy area and the wider Bridge Ward including Lincoln Road and Northern Road Industrial Estate;
- ii. Include proposals for phasing and delivery methods for the redevelopment;
- iii. Meet the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to DM-Policy

<u>DM</u> 2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations; and

iv. Facilitate pre-determination archaeological evaluation and post-determination mitigation measures.

Within the existing Yorke Drive Estate, the Master Plan will provide for the following:

- i. Removal of poorer quality housing and replacement with new dwellings;
- ii. Change of housing type to increase mix of tenure and range of housing; and
- iii. Improvements to the layout and public realm of the estate;

Within the Lincoln Road Playing Field the Master Plan will address the following:

- i. Suitable playing pitches are retained to meet the requirements of Spatial Policy 8 <u>of the</u> <u>Amended Core Strategy</u>; and
- ii. Additional access is provided to the site via Lincoln Road.

In allocating this site for housing development it is anticipated that approximately 230 net additional dwellings will be developed.

Policy NUA/Ho/5 Newark Urban Area - Housing Site 5

Land north of Beacon Hill Road and the northbound A1 Coddington slip road has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing around 200 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- Satisfactory access arrangements through the neighbouring site which has planning permissionfor residential dwellings;
- <u>Submission of a Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment and details of measures to mitigate</u> <u>the potential for on-site surface water flooding risk and management of run-off and</u> <u>ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere;</u>
- Provision of an appropriate landscaping scheme submitted as part of any planning application to screen the site from the A1 and long-distance views into the site from the north;
- Proposals will need to demonstrate that any identified mineral resource is not

needlessly sterilised and where this cannot be demonstrated, prior extraction may be sought where practical;

- Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post-determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required; and
- The preparation of a Master Plan as part of any planning application(s) setting out the broad location for development on the site and phasing of new development

Policy NUA/Ho/6 Newark Urban Area - Housing Site 6

Land between 55 and 65 Millgate has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing around 10 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- The site lies in Newark Conservation Area in close proximity to Listed Buildings and the District Council will be preparing a development brief to guide development on the site, any proposals will have to meet the requirements of such a brief; and
- <u>Submission of a Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment and details of measures to mitigate the</u> <u>potential for on-site surface water flooding risk and management of run-off and ensure that</u> <u>flood risk is not increased elsewhere; and</u>
- Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post-determination mitigation measures, secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required, reflecting the high archaeological potential of the site.
- 2.9 The area on Bowbridge Road south of the proposed leisure centre is going through a period of change, long established industrial uses are disappearing and brownfield sites are becoming vacant. The normal recycling of land however is restricted by continuing neighbouring uses within the area. Therefore, a policy to facilitate re-use of the sites is proposed to ensure proper redevelopment of the area. <u>Applicants for any future development will be required to provide suitable mitigation for any adverse impacts from the existing neighbouring uses.</u>

Policy NUA/Ho/7 Newark Urban Area - Bowbridge Road Policy Area

Land between Bowbridge Road and Hawton Lane has been identified as the Bowbridge Road Policy Area on the Policies Map.

Within the Policy Area proposals to redevelop vacant brownfield sites will be encouraged. Such redevelopment should seek to ensure that the impact of neighbouring uses is fully taken into account. In particular residential development is allocated on the following sites:

- NUA/Ho/8
- NUA/Ho/9

The Council will work with stakeholders to seek appropriate regeneration within the area and seek to resolve existing environmental problems which exist in the Policy Area <u>including by the</u> <u>redevelopment of Opportunity Site 1 the Tarmac site.</u> Further investigation, in the form of a study will be undertaken to examine the environmental issues.

Policy NUA/Ho/8 Newark Urban Area - Housing Site 8

Land on Bowbridge Road has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing around <u>6686</u> dwellings, taking into account an existing planning permission for a nursing home.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- Addressing the requirements of NUA/Ho/7 Bowbridge Road Policy Area; and
- Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required.

Development of this site will be phased to the latter stages of the plan period in order for the existing environmental issues to be resolved and the Southern Link Road constructed.

Policy NUA/Ho/9 Newark Urban Area - Housing Site 9

Land on Bowbridge Road has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing around 150 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- Addressing the requirements of NUA/Ho/7 Bowbridge Road Policy Area; and
- <u>Submission of a Site-Specific Flood Risk Assessment and details of measures to mitigate</u> <u>the potential for on-site surface water flooding risk and management of run-off and</u> <u>ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere; and</u>
- Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post-determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required.

Development of this site will be phased to the latter stages of the plan period in order for the existing environmental issues to be resolved and the Southern Link Road constructed.

Policy NUA/Ho/10 Newark Urban Area - Housing Site 10

Land north of Lowfield Lane has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing around <u>120170</u> dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- The preparation of an appropriate <u>tran</u>sport assessment by the applicant, including improvements to Manners Road/London Road Junction forming part of any planning application;
- <u>Submission of a Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment and details of measures to mitigate</u> the potential for on-site surface water flooding risk and management of run-off and ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere; and no residential development shall be located within the area of the site in Flood Zone 2;</u>
- <u>Submission of an ecological evaluation, mitigation strategy and a scheme for the enhancement of the site as part of any planning application:</u>
- An appropriate landscaping scheme, submitted as part of any planning application, providing buffering to the south and west of the site in relation to the adjacent <u>Local</u> <u>Wildlife Sites SINCs</u> and retention of existing hedgerows on site where possible; and
- <u>Proposals will need to demonstrate that any identified mineral resource is not</u> <u>needlessly sterilised and where this cannot be demonstrated, prior extraction may be</u> <u>sought where practical; and</u>

• Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post-determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required. New development here should respect the plot shapes of the medieval field system.

Mixed Use Allocations

Policy NUA/SPA/1 Newark Urban Area - Newark Showground Policy Area

Within the area defined on the Policies Map as Newark Showground Policy Area new development which supports and complements the East Midlands Events Centre (Newark & Nottinghamshire Agricultural Society Showground) and other leisure and visitor economy uses on site will be supported. In addition, development proposals which result in provision of an appropriately located Livestock Market facility, proportionate complementary uses and an enhanced replacement Lorry Park within the Policy Area will be positively viewed. provided that it meets Subject to the wider requirements of the Amended Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7 being met.

The District Council will work with the County Council, the Highways Agency, Parish Councils and the various landowners to prepare a Master Plan for the whole policy area to secure appropriate enhancement and development of the site.

Within the Policy Area a new mixed-use allocation has been made in the following location:

• NUA/MU/1 Land North of the A17

Within the Policy Area proposals must specifically address the following:

- The need to address access constraints relating to the A1/A46/A17 junctions, including the A46 Newark Northern Bypass dualling identified in the Road Investment Strategy 2;
- The need to adequately screen new development <u>The need to achieve high quality</u> <u>sustainable building design and comprehensive integrated landscaping;</u>
- The investigation of potential archaeology on the site and any necessary postdetermination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent reflecting the high archaeological potential of the site;
- Address any issues arising from the proposals which may adversely affect nearby residents.

Policy NUA/MU/1 Newark Urban Area - Mixed Use Site 1

Land North of the A17 has been allocated on the Policies Map for mixed use development. The site will accommodate a Hotel/Conference Facility, restaurant facilities to support the wider showground uses, and employment uses.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, <u>and Policy</u> <u>DM5(b) regarding flood risk</u>, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- The requirements of the Newark Showground Policy Area;
- The preparation of a site-specific Master Plan for the allocation setting out the location of various land uses and a phasing policy for new development;
- Until appropriate improvements have been made to the A1/A46/A17 Junction, <u>employment_development_will_not_be_considered_appropriate. Any any</u> proposed development will need to demonstrate that it will not generate significant a.m. and p.m. peak traffic as part of any planning application.

Policy NUA/MU/2 Newark Urban Area - Mixed Use Site 2 – De-allocated

Land at the current Brownhills Motor Homes site has been allocated on the Policies Map for mixeduse development. The site will accommodate employment (B1/B2/B8) development, roadside services including a hotel (which currently has outline Planning Permission), and the continued suigeneris use of the site for the sale of Motor Homes.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- Appropriate design which addresses the site's gateway location and manages the transitioninto Newark Urban Area;
- The preparation of an appropriate Transport Assessment by the applicant to consider theimpact on the A46/A1 junction;
- Consideration of the impact on access to the Newark Industrial Estate as set out in NUA/E/1;
- The amount and type of employment provision will be determined as part of any planning application ensuring that a flexible approach to such provision can be achieved in line with thesite characteristics; and

 Pre determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application andpost determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required.

Policies which are for uses other than employment, hotel or sale of motor homes proposals will need to consider the suitability of the site for such uses. Residential or retail development are not considered appropriate on the site.

Policy NUA/MU/3 Newark Urban Area - Mixed Use Site 3 <u>– Re-allocated as</u> <u>Opportunity Site</u>

Land at the current NSK factory on Northern Road has been allocated on the Policies Map for mixed use development. The site will accommodate at least 150 dwellings, employment provision and comparison retail provision of around 4,000 square metres (net).

In addition to the general policy requirements in the Amended Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- The preparation of a Master Plan setting out the broad location of new development on the site, an assessment of the impact of new development on the town centre, phasing of new development within the site and associated transfer of existing NSK engineering plant to a new location in Newark Urban Area. In preparing such phasing retail development will comeforward in the latter part of the Plan Period (post-2019). Earlier delivery of retail will only be supported where the need for such retail has been adequately demonstrated in terms of theimpact on the viability and vitality of the Town Centre;
- In preparing any Master Plan particular care should be taken in determining the location of residential development, in particular consideration should be given as to whether additional land outside the allocation could be incorporated to better realise such proposals;
- Investigation and recording of the site's industrial heritage by the applicant as part of the development of a scheme with a view to incorporating, where practicable, any important features;
- The amount and type of employment provision will be determined as part of any Master Planpreparation ensuring that a flexible approach to such provision can be achieved in line with the site characteristics and wider regeneration aims.

Policy NUA/MU/4 Newark Urban Area - Mixed Use Site 4

Land at Bowbridge Road has been allocated on the Policies Map for mixed use development. The site will accommodate around 115 dwellings and a new leisure centre for Newark. In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- The development of a Master Plan to address the relationship between the residential development and the new leisure centre and provide a context for any future incorporation of RHP Sports Ground within the management of leisure centre;
- Address issues relating to the adjacent operations of neighbouring employment sites; and
- Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post-determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required.

Opportunity Sites

Policy NUA/OS Opportunity Sites

To ensure that the housing, and employment and other land use needs of the District are delivered over the plan period, sufficient sites have been allocated to more than meet the requirements. In accordance with Amended Core Strategy Spatial Policy 5 – Delivering the Strategy, the following opportunity sites have also been identified:

- NUA/OS/1 Tarmac Site, Hawton Lane/Bowbridge Road, Newark (around 270 dwellings)
- <u>NUA/OS/2 NSK Factory (former NUA/MU/3) Northern Road, Newark (around 150 dwellings and compatible employment, leisure, education and community uses)</u>

These sites all lie within the Urban Boundary and where it becomes clear through the monitoring process that delivery is not taking place at the rates required, the Council will actively seek to bring forward opportunity sites by working with landowners and developers to release sites earlier in the plan period.

The Council will keep these opportunity sites under review and may identify additional opportunity sites within the settlements central to delivering the Spatial Strategy though the annual Monitoring process.

2.10 These sites are not the subject of formal housing allocations as, although they are still considered developable, they are subject to uncertainty over timescales for delivery. These sites are however all within the Newark Urban Area and there is nothing to prevent these sites coming forward for housing development and other compatible uses at any point in the Plan Period providing any development proposals meet the requirements of the appropriate Development Management policies.

2.11 <u>Measures which may be used to bring forward development on these sites could include</u> securing alternative sites for an existing use, granting Permission in Principle on brownfield sites, seeking Government funding to assist in the release of the site, consider purchasing the site on behalf of the Council's Development Company or Compulsory Purchase.

Employment Allocations

Policy NUA/E/1 Newark Urban Area - Newark Industrial Estate Policy Area

Within the area defined on the Policies Map as NUA/E/1 Newark Industrial Estate Policy Area, new employment development will be encouraged. Newark Industrial Estate is a strategic Major Employment Site (as defined on the Newark Key Diagram); development which is not of a $\frac{B1}{B2}$ /B8/ $\frac{E(g)}{E(g)}$ use class will be expected to meet the requirements in Core Policy 6.

Within the Policy Area new employment allocations have been made in the following locations:

- NUA/E/2 Land West of the A1 and
- NUA/E/3 Land off Telford Drive

The Bridge Ward Neighbourhood Study identified key concerns with traffic flow and parking within the Policy Area. The District Council will work with the County Council, the owners and businesses located within the Policy Area to resolve existing traffic issues and seek to secure additional connectivity to the wider Bridge Ward including Newark Northgate Station.

In promoting new development in the Policy Area, the District Council expects:

- i. Appropriate boundary treatment and screening of open storage areas;
- ii. Satisfactory provision of access for parking and servicing;
- iii. Development should not impact on adjacent residential areas; and
- iv. Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post-determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required.

Policy NUA/E/2 Newark Urban Area - Employment Site 2

Land west of the A1 on Stephenson Way has been allocated on the Policies Map for employment development. The site allocation is in two parcels, a total of $12.24 \frac{6.85}{6.2}$ hectares in size.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- i. The requirements of NUA/E/1 Newark Industrial Estate Policy Area;
- ii. <u>Submission of a Site-Specific Flood Risk Assessment and details of measures to mitigate</u> <u>the potential for on-site surface water flooding risk, management of run-off and ensure</u> <u>that flood risk is not increased elsewhere;</u>
- iii. An appropriate landscaping scheme submitted as part of any planning application providing screening of the site from the A1; and
- iv. An appropriate assessment of access issues arising from the proposal on the wider industrial estate submitted as part of any planning application.

Policy NUA/E/3 Newark Urban Area - Employment Site 3

Land off Telford Drive has been allocated on the Policies Map for employment development. The allocation is in three parcels, a total of 1.54 <u>site is 0.5 0.88</u> hectares in size.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- i. The requirements of NUA/E/1 Newark Industrial Estate Policy Area;
- ii. <u>Submission of a Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment and details of measures to mitigate</u> <u>the potential for on-site surface water flooding risk, management of run-off and ensure</u> <u>that flood risk is not increased elsewhere</u>;
- iii. Appropriate landscaping scheme, submitted as part of any planning application, providing appropriate boundary treatment to respect the Middleton Road area; and
- iv. An appropriate assessment of access issues arising from the proposal on the wider industrial estate submitted as part of any planning application.

Policy NUA/E/4 Newark Urban Area - Employment Site 4

Land at the former Nottinghamshire County Council Highways Depot on Great North Road has been allocated on the Policies Map for employment development. The site is 2.07 ha in size and $\frac{B1}{B2}/B2/B8/E(g)$ is appropriate in this location.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- Appropriate design which addresses the site's gateway location and manages the transition into Newark Urban Area including retention and enhancement of existing boundary planting on the Great North Road/Kelham Road boundary;
- The preparation of a Site-Specific Flood Risk Assessment, and details of measures to mitigate on-site flooding risk and ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere, by the applicant forming part of any planning application; and
- Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post-determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required.

Proposals for non B1/B2/B8/E(g) uses should demonstrate that they meet the requirements of Core Policy 6 of the Amended Core Strategy.

Phasing

Policy NUA/Ph/1 Newark Urban Area - Phasing Policy

In Newark Urban Area the following sites will include phasing within any Master Plan to accompany any planning application:

- NUA/Ho/4
- NUA/Ho/5
- NUA/MU/3
- NUA/MU/4

In the following sites, phasing will be required to address infrastructure/environmental issues:

- NUA/Ho/8
- NUA/Ho/9
- NUA/MU/1

Phasing in all cases must be appropriate to the size of the development, reflect on site and infrastructure provision and constraints and not be unviable for the developer to implement.

Retail

2.12 Newark Town Centre is the focus for retail provision within the Newark Urban Area and part of the wider District and is defined as a Town Centre within the retail hierarchy (Core Policy

8). The shopping core is focused on the historic marketplace and surrounding streets with restaurants and cafés centred around Castle Gate and the Town Wharf adjacent to the Castle and the River Trent. <u>Three Purpose purpose</u>-built shopping centres are located to the north and south of the core, <u>anchored by Morrison's</u>, <u>Wilkinson's and Asda respectively</u> with a further retail development on the former Potterdyke car park which opened in November 2011. The District Council and its partners are pursuing a range of activities to enhance the sustainability of the centre. The Newark Town Investment Plan includes proposals to regenerate key buildings and grow footfall. Further proposals will be included in the Newark Town Centre Master Plan <u>Strategy</u>.

2.13 There are also 2 <u>3</u> retail parks in Newark, Northgate Retail Park, Beacon Hill Retail Park and <u>The Maltings Retail Park</u>. There are also a number of shops in the rest of the Newark Urban Area that meet the day to day needs of local residents.

Policy NUA/TC/1 Newark Urban Area - Newark Town Centre

To help promote Newark Town Centre as the major focus for new and improved shopping, leisure and tourism facilities, a town centre boundary which illustrates the extent of the primary shopping area as well as primary and secondary shopping frontages have has been defined on the Policies Map. The primary shopping frontages are areas which contain the town's key retailers, have strong pedestrian activity and are the focus for retail activity. Secondary frontages are those that containmore of a mix of uses including retail, leisure and service sector businesses.

The future management of the Centre will be provided for through the development and implementation of the Newark-on-Trent Town Investment Plan and subsequent Town Centre Strategy_Newark Town Centre Masterplan. Consideration of development proposals for Development of retail and other Main Town Centre uses within and beyond Newark Town Centre will be considered made against the general policy requirements in the Amended Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to DM Policy 11 Retail and Main Town Centre Uses.

2.14 Balderton contains two discrete areas of retail and other town centre uses. The area to the north is contained within a purpose-built shopping centre adjacent to the Lakeside development. The larger area to the south is the more traditional centre which caters for a wider range of day to day needs. <u>Fernwood Village Centre is the existing local centre defined by Policy NUA/LC/3, a further local centre is proposed in the Amended Core Strategy in policy NAP2C Land around Fernwood.</u>

Policy NUA/LC/1 Balderton - Local Centre North

To promote the strength of Balderton as a local shopping destination, a Local Centre has been defined on the Policies Map.

Development of retail and other town centre uses within the Local Centre will be considered

against the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to DM Policy 11 Retail and <u>Main</u> Town Centre Uses.

Policy NUA/LC/2 Balderton - Local Centre South

To promote the strength of Balderton as a local shopping destination, a Local Centre has been defined on the Policies Map.

Development of retail and other town centre uses within the Local Centre will be considered againstthe general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to DM Policy 11 Retail and <u>Main</u> Town Centre Uses.

Policy NUA/LC/3 Fernwood Village Centre - Local Centre

To promote the strength of Fernwood as a local shopping destination, a Local Centre has been defined on the Policies Map around the Village Centre.

<u>Development of retail and other town centre uses within the Local Centre will be considered</u> <u>against the general policy requirements in the Amended Core Strategy and the Development</u> <u>Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to DM Policy 11 Retail and Main</u> <u>Town Centre Uses.</u>

2.15 The 2010 2016 Retail and Town Centre Study carried out an assessment of capacity for new comparison and convenience goods over the plan period and identified a limited need for additional comparison floor space beyond the NPPF required 10-year horizon, therefore no allocation has been made in this document. Further work undertaken to support the Allocations and Development Management DPD has estimated that around 10,000 square metres (net) is required over plan period (focused at the end of the plan period). As a consequence, NUA/MU/3 has been allocated as a mixed use site which could accommodate the residual amount.

Northgate Station Policy Area

2.16 Newark Northgate Station is an important gateway site for the town. The East Coast Mainline provides a fast and efficient link between Newark, the north and London. During the DPD consultation, it became apparent that <u>A</u> number of consultees <u>have long</u> felt that the area was is in need of regeneration. The results of the Bridge Ward Neighbourhood Study also identified the importance of linkages between Newark Industrial Estate and Northgate Station. Given the importance of the area to the town it is proposed that a comprehensive regeneration scheme be worked up for the area around Northgate Station. Such a scheme will be progressed as part of the current work being undertaken to regenerate the town in

the first 10 years of this DPD. These regeneration aspirations will form part of the context for the development of the Newark Town Centre Masterplan.

Policy NUA/Tr/1 Northgate Station Policy Area

The District Council will work with Network Rail, the Train Operating Companies, Nottinghamshire County Council and the various landowners, transport and amenity stakeholders to prepare a comprehensive regeneration scheme for the area on the Policies Map defined as the Northgate Station Policy Area. Any scheme will contain the following element:

- Proposals to improve the physical environment of the Policy Area to recognise its important gateway role;
- Proposals to preserve and enhance heritage assets, including the Grade II listed station and the adjoining conservation area;
- Proposals to improve the linkages between the site and Newark Industrial Estate, NUA/MU/3, the wider Bridge Ward and the Town Centre; and
- Proposals to improve transport and car parking provision in the area, and further encourage walking and cycling to the station.

Archaeology

- 2.17 The Farndon and River Devon Ice Age Landscape is an un-designated heritage asset of national archaeological importance- comprising the material remains of human activity and associated natural deposits. Discovery of scatters of flint tools and waste on land east of Farndon (incorporated in plough-soil) led to the initial identification of this nationally important site of human occupation, dating from around 14,000 years ago. Adding to its significance was the subsequent discovery that below the ground the irregular buried topography, and complex deposits of wind and water born material, have preserved microsites undisturbed with finds still lying where they fell.
- 2.18 The physical nature of flint scatters and the complex three-dimensional form of the geology formed at that time (gravels, waterbodies and scarps, lain with alluvium and wind-blown sands) make it essential that specialist expertise and approaches to archaeological assessment are in place from the earliest stage of planning proposals. So as to ensure that the significance of any remains affected is sufficiently understood, and their importance is afforded proportionate weight in the planning process. Given that the landscape is of national importance but falls outside the scope of designation under the 1979 Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act (as amended), this approach to ensure this takes place has been developed with Historic England. It is recognised that the knowledge and understanding of the archaeological deposits may continue to evolve, and so where new information becomes available and is verified then this is something that application of the policy approach will have regard to. Guidance set out through the District Council's Non-

Designated Heritage Assets Criteria_provides the local context for the policy approach, and will be applicable to its implementation.

Policy NUA/AR/1 Archaeology – Farndon and River Devon Ice Age Landscape

The Farndon and River Devon Ice Age Landscape is split into two areas as defined on the Policies Map;

<u>Area A – Nationally Important Archaeological Remains</u> <u>Area B – High Risk of Nationally Important Archaeological Remains</u>

For development proposals within Area A, local and national planning policy towards designated heritage assets will apply.

For development proposals within Area B, an appropriate site evaluation from the earliest stages of predetermination site assessment will be required in order to allow for the significance and importance of archaeological remains to be proportionately treated in the planning process. All developments should include pre-application investigation comprising both non-intrusive and intrusive field evaluation undertaken in consultation with the relevant specialists. Where these investigations show comparable results with Area A, the policy approach would consider the proposed sites in terms of national and local planning policy towards designated heritage assets.

In implementing the above regard will be had to the most up-to-date information. Departures will require justification on the basis of robust and verified evidence.

- 2.19 The battles and sieges of the English Civil War (1642-52) between King and Parliament were the last major active military campaigns to be undertaken on English soil and have left their mark on the English landscape in a variety of ways, typically including earthworks that provided temporary protection for infantry or to act as gun emplacements. These earthworks, which may have been reinforced with revetting and palisades, consisted of banks and ditches and varied in complexity from simple breastworks to complex systems of banks and interconnecting trenches. They can be recognised today as surviving earthworks or as crop or soil marks on aerial photographs. They are recorded widely throughout England, with concentrations in the main areas of campaigning, and have been recognised to be unique in representing the only evidence on the ground of military campaigns fought in England since the introduction of guns.
- 2.20 Newark was a significant location during the English Civil War and a key garrison held by Royalist forces from the outbreak of the Civil War in 1642. The crossing at the Trent was an important strategic location on the Great North Road, and Newark's distinctive castle was a symbol of power in the landscape. Newark witnessed a number of fierce sieges between 1643 and 1646, culminating in Charles I's surrender to Parliamentary forces. The local communities would have been hugely impacted by the war, with disease, famine and hardship. The town was surrounded by a series of offensive and defensive fieldworks, many of which survive to the present day.

2.21 They are the most impressive surviving collection of such works in England; not only do extensive remains survive, but the whole system is recorded on two nearly contemporary plans, one by a Royalist engineer, the other by a Parliamentarian. They thus provide a unique opportunity for the study of the field engineering of the Civil War. All surviving examples of the Newark siege works are identified to be nationally important, comprising at least 12 scheduled sites. The Nottinghamshire Historic Environment Record identifies extensive further potential archaeological significance, some of which has the potential to be nationally significant. Non earthwork remains can also be significant, such as shot and coinage. While the known fortifications and earthworks are scheduled, archaeological evidence for the precise location of smaller scale fortifications, battlefield/skirmish activity, garrison lines and the parliamentary defensive works known as 'lines of circumvallation' remains more elusive; however, at the very least ephemeral evidence within the siege landscape is likely present for all of these.

Policy NUA/AR/2 Archaeology – Newark Civil War

For sites within Newark and its immediate environs containing known or potential Civil War archaeological interest, applications must be accompanied by an appropriate archaeological assessment of the impact of the development. A field evaluation prior to determination of the planning application may also be required. Where remains are of regional significance within the Civil War constraints as defined on the Policies Map, detailed agreement on ground impacts should be secured before planning permission is granted.

Where necessary to secure the protection of the heritage asset or a programme of archaeological mitigation, conditions will be attached to permissions. These may include requirements for detailed agreement on ground impacts and programmes of archaeological investigation, building recording, reporting and archiving.

For development proposals within Newark, the Notts Historic Environment Records should be consulted which defines Areas of Archaeological Significance.

Infrastructure

2.22 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy (<u>see</u> Appendix D as reviewed and updated by the Annual Monitoring Report) and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan set out the various requirements for infrastructure in the Newark Urban Area. The District Council will work with infrastructure providers and, where appropriate, adjoining local authorities to ensure the provision of these and other specific infrastructure required as a direct result of development. This will be achieved through the provisions of Policy DM3 'Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations', the Developer Contributions SPD and the Community Infrastructure Levy.
Open Green-Spaces and Green Infrastructure

- 2.23 A number of open spaces sites requiring protection under <u>Policy</u> SP8 of the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy are shown on the Policies Map, <u>however, all open spaces are protected under Policy</u> <u>SP8.</u> The necessity for this protection is explained in the supporting <u>Green</u> <u>Open Space</u> <u>Assessment & Strategy</u> Space Strategy document.
- 2.24 The <u>Open Space Assessment & Strategy</u> Green Spaces Improvement Plans identifies the following additional open space requirements for the Newark Urban Area:

Allotments	Additional provision required Newark,
	Balderton & Fernwood New provision required
	in Balderton West, Beacon, Bridge, Castle,
	Devon and Fernwood Wards
Amenity Greenspace	Additional provision required in Balderton
	New provision required in Balderton West,
	Bridge and Fernwood Wards
<u>Cemeteries</u>	Additional provision required in Newark
Outdoor Sports Facilities	New provision required in Beacon, Bridge and
	Devon Wards
Children and Young Persons Provision	Additional provision in Newark, Balderton and
	Fernwood New provision required in Castle,
	Devon and Magnus Wards
Natural/Semi-Natural Greenspace	Additional provision in Newark, Balderton &
	Fernwood New provision required to serve
	Beacon and Magnus Wards
Parks and Gardens	Additional provision in Newark and Fernwood
	New provision required in Fernwood Ward.

Table 3 1 - Newark Urban Area Open Space Requirements

- 2.25 These requirements will need to be delivered as part of the delivery of housing allocations, <u>planning permissions</u> and/or through the District/<u>Town/Parish</u> Council working with <u>their-its</u> partners. <u>Development proposals should give consideration to the requirements above, and</u> <u>also the need to provide quality onsite open space on new developments. The availability of</u> <u>open space in and around the locality of the proposal site and the impact of new</u> <u>development on existing open spaces will help inform these requirements. This will ensure</u> <u>that new development has access to good quality open space.</u>
- 2.26 <u>Outdoor sport facilities are not analysed as part of the Open Space Strategy & Assessment</u> as a different methodology in line with national guidance (Sport England) is prescribed and is contained in a separate standalone Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS). This document will be updated in due course is currently being updated and due to be published in Winter 2023/24.
- 2.27 The Green Infrastructure Issues for the Newark Urban Area identified by the Green Infrastructure Strategy are focussed on the protection and enhancement of existing networks and the creation of new strategic access routes with the aim of limiting the impacts of growth, increasing connectivity with the surrounding countryside, improving access to assets (including the Trent, Devon and Middle Beck Rivers) and the supporting of tourism.

Provision should include for the following routes:

- Creation of a new footpath between Kelham Hall, Averham and the railway bridge at Averham Weir.
- The introduction of a circular route on land north of Farndon Harbour linking to Farndon Fields, the Sconce and Devon Park and the proposed Middle Beck Natural Corridor.
- Middle Beck / Shire Dyke Natural Corridor- the creation of a new multi-functional corridor stretching from Fernwood to the Sconce and Devon Park. In doing so the route should connect with the National Cycle Network Route and the Green Infrastructure being provided as part of the Land South of Newark strategic site. Provision should also be made for the introduction of a number of Local Nature Reserves along the route.
- Introduction of a new route linking the Country Park in the Land East of Newark strategic site to Stapleford Woods to the East and the Middle Beck / Shire Dyke Natural Corridor to the Southeast.
- Creation of a Multi-User Route linking Newark and Southwell.

Open Breaks

2.28 In order to ensure that existing settlements retain their separate identities and characteristics, the District Council has identified certain areas that are under pressure for development which provide an open break between settlements.

Policy NUA/OB/1 Newark Urban Area - Open Breaks

In order to ensure that existing settlements retain their separate identities and characteristics, the District Council has identified certain areas that are under pressure for development which provide an open break between settlements.

- i. Newark and Farndon;
- ii. Newark and Winthorpe; and
- iii. Newark and Coddington.

Within land allocated on the Policies Map as Open Breaks in Newark Urban Area, planning permission will not normally be granted for built development. Exceptions to this will include development which does not unacceptably harm the openness of the Open Break, and falls within the following categories:

- a) <u>Proportionate development ancillary to existing domestic development within or</u> <u>adjoining the Open Break; and</u>
- b) <u>Redevelopment and replacement or change of use of existing development which does</u> <u>not have a greater impact on the openness of the designation than the existing</u> <u>development.</u>

Newark Urban Area Boundary

2.29 The Urban Boundary for the Newark Urban Area, as shown on the Policies Map, has been amended to reflect the addition of the Strategic Sites, allocated through the Core Strategy, to include new allocations that have been designated and to reflect exiting conditions on the ground Tolney Lane Policy Area.



© Crown Copyright and database right 2012 Ordnance Survey. Licence 100022288. Scale: 1:15,000 Date: 19/09/2023 Author: emmar





© Crown Copyright and database right 2023 Ordnance Survey.) Licence 100022288.) Scale: 1:4,250 Date: 12/09/2023 Author: emmar

Collingham

- 2.30 The Sub-Area lies in the northeast corner of the District. Due to the barrier formed by the River Trent, this area looks to both Newark and Lincoln for its services. Collingham provides a focus for local services. To the north of Collingham, people also look to Lincoln for such services.
- 2.31 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy directs <u>1%</u> <u>2%</u> of the District's housing growth to the Principal Village of Collingham. This equates to a need to provide <u>142</u> <u>176</u> dwellings in this settlement between 20<u>0613</u> and 20<u>2633</u>. Previous completions and committed developments <u>will have</u> all contribute<u>d</u> towards the achievement of this target. There is however a residual requirement for the A&DM DPD to identify sites that are capable of delivering 80 new dwellings in Collingham. This review updates the position of the allocations at April 20223. Whilst some of the allocations have the benefit of planning permission and may be under construction, the allocations are retained unless all of the site is complete.

Policy Co/MU/1 Collingham - Mixed Use Site 1

Land in between Swinderby Road and Station Road, to the west of the railway line has been allocated on the Policies Map for mixed use development providing around 80 dwellings, allotments, up to 0.75ha of employment uses in the northeastern part of the site, public open space and the potential for a station car park.

Land to the east of the allocation has been identified for future development within Use Classes B1 and C2 under designation Co/RL/1 on the Policies Map. This area will be considered for development, as part of any planning application, subject to a confirmation of demand for B1 and/or C2 development use that cannot be accommodated within Co/MU/1, and a demonstration that the proposed development will not create unacceptable local environmental, highway and amenity impacts.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- A Master Plan, forming part of any planning application(s) setting out the broad locations for the different types of development and their phasing, taking account of infrastructure provision, constraints and the need to ensure that the delivery of the range of uses is not prejudiced;
- Provision of access points off both Station Road and Swinderby Road, linked by vehicular access through the site suitable to accommodate the vehicle movements associated with the site's development and established farm traffic in the area. Provision should also be made for pedestrian access to existing residential development to the west;
- Design and layout of development to preserve the amenity of established dwellings to the west of the site;

- Appropriate easements to the watercourses running along the northern and western boundaries of the site included as part of the site layout;
- Design and layout of new development to respect the setting of the Grade II listed Station House;
- Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post-determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required;
- The provision of a station car park on the site as part of any planning application or developer contribution to offsite provision if required following discussion with Network Rail; and
- Localised sewer or pumping station improvements.

Retail

Policy Co/LC/1 Collingham - Local Centre

To promote the strength of Collingham as a Principal Village, a Local Centre has been defined on the Policies Map.

Development of retail and other town centre uses within the Local Centre will be considered against the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to DM Policy 11 Retail and <u>Main</u> Town Centre Uses.

Open Green Spaces and Green Infrastructure

- 2.32 <u>A number of open spaces requiring protection under Policy SP8 of the Amended Core</u> Strategy are shown on the Policies Map, however, all open spaces are protected under Policy SP8. The necessity for this protection is explained in the supporting Open Space Assessment & Strategy document. The Public Open Space and School Playing Field identified on the Policies Map will be protected by Spatial Policy 8 – Protecting and Promoting Leisure and Community Facilities. Development proposals that would result in the loss of any such spaces will be assessed against the criteria of Policy SP8.
- 2.33 <u>The Open Space Assessment & Strategy identifies the following additional open space</u> requirements for Collingham:

Table 2 - Collingham Open Space Requirements

Allotments	Sufficient provision is currently available in Collingham
Amenity Greenspace	Additional provision required in Collingham
Children and Young Persons Provision	Additional provision required in Collingham
Natural/Semi-Natural Greenspace	Additional provision required in Collingham

- 2.34 <u>These requirements will need to be delivered as part of the delivery of housing allocations,</u> <u>planning permissions</u> and / or through the District / Town / Parish Council working with their <u>partners. Development proposals should give consideration to the requirements above, and</u> <u>also the need to provide quality onsite open space on new developments. The availability of</u> <u>open space in and around the locality of the proposal site and the impact of new</u> <u>development on existing open spaces will help inform these requirements. This will ensure</u> <u>that new development has access to good quality open space.</u> These requirements will need to be delivered as part of the delivery of housing allocations, and/or through the District/Town/Parish Council working with <u>their-its</u> partners.
- 2.35 <u>Outdoor sport facilities are not analysed as part of the Open Space Strategy & Assessment</u> as a different methodology in line with national guidance (Sport England) is prescribed and contained in a separate standalone Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS). This document will be updated in due course is currently being updated and due to be published in Winter 2023/24.

Main Open Areas

Policy Co/MOA Collingham - Main Open Areas

Main Open Areas represent those areas of predominantly open land within Collingham that play an important part in defining its form and structure.

Within land allocated on the Policies Map as Main Open Areas, planning permission will not normally be granted for built development.

Infrastructure

2.36 The <u>Amended Core Strategy (see</u> appendix D, as reviewed and updated by the Annual Monitoring Report) and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan set out the various requirements for infrastructure in Collingham. The District Council will work with infrastructure providers and where appropriate, adjoining local authorities to ensure the provision of these and other specific infrastructure required as a direct result of development. This will be achieved through the provisions of Policy DM3 'Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations', the Developer Contributions SPD and the Community Infrastructure Levy.

Village Envelope

2.37 The village envelope has been extended to include the allocated mixed use site defined above and development that has taken place since the previous boundaries were drawn up for the Local Plan remain unchanged.



 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ Crown Copyright and database right 2011 Ordnance Survey. Licence 100022288.

Sutton-on-Trent

- 2.38 The Sub Area covers the north centre area of the District, and whilst to some extent remote from Newark, the spine of villages along the A1 are well connected to the Sub-Regional Centre. Sutton-on-Trent provides a focus for local services within the Rural North Sub Area and is classified as a Principal Village in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy.
- 2.39 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy directs 0.5% of the District's housing growth to the Principal Village of Sutton-on-Trent. This equates to a need to provide 71 <u>44</u> dwellings in this settlement between 200613 and 202633. Previous completions and committed developments will all contribute towards the achievement of this target. There is however a residual requirement for the A&DM DPD to identify sites that are capable of delivering 37 new dwellings in Sutton on Trent. In addition to this there is a local desire to see additional retail provision and community facilities such as additional parking for the adjacent doctor's surgery, a village hall, post office and relocated library. This review updates the position of the allocations at April 20223. Whilst some of the allocations have the benefit of planning permission and may be under construction, the allocations are retained unless all of the site is complete.

Mixed Use Allocation

Policy ST/MU/1 Sutton-on-Trent - Mixed Use Site 1

Land to the east of Hemplands Lane has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing around 37 dwellings, retail and additional car parking for the adjacent doctor's surgery.

Consideration will be given to a comprehensive mixed use scheme of development on the site extending into the Main Open Area to the east where it can be demonstrated that this is necessary to deliver community facilities within the site and provide public access to other parts of the Main Open Area.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- A master plan, forming part of any planning application(s) setting out the broad locations for the different types of development and their phasing, taking account of infrastructure provision, constraints and the need to ensure that the delivery of the range of uses is not prejudiced;
- Developer funded localised upsizing of sewer network as required;
- Assessment of impact of local surface water flooding as part of any planning application including provision of safe access and egress and flood resilient construction;

- Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required; and
- Consideration of the impact on the character and appearance of the Sutton-on-Trent Conservation Area.

Retail

Policy ST/LC/1 Sutton-on-Trent - Local Centre

To promote the strength of Sutton-on-Trent as a Principal Village, a Local Centre has been defined indicatively identified on the Policies Map as part of ST/MU/1.

Development of retail and other town centre uses within the Local Centre will be considered against the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to DM Policy 11 Retail and <u>Main</u> Town Centre Uses.

Employment

Policy ST/EA/1 Sutton-on-Trent - Existing Employment Policy Area

Planning permission will be granted for employment development on land identified as the Existing Employment Policy Area on the Policies Map subject to its compatibility with established dwellings and assessment against relevant Core and Development Management Policies.

Within this area, new dwellings will not normally be permitted due to the likely conflict with the proliferation of employment uses.

Open Green Spaces and Green Infrastructure

- 2.40 <u>A number of open spaces requiring protection under Policy SP8 of the Amended Core Strategy are shown on the Policies Map, however, all open spaces are protected under Policy SP8. The necessity for this protection is explained in the supporting Open Space Assessment & Strategy Document. The Public Open Space and playing field identified on the Policies Map will be protected by SpatialPolicy 8 Protecting and Promoting Leisure and Community Facilities. Development proposals that would result in the loss of any such spaces will be assessed against the criteria of Policy SP8.</u>
- 2.41 <u>The Open Space Strategy & Assessment identifies the following additional open space</u> requirements for Sutton on Trent:

Table 3 - Sutton-on-Trent Open Space Requirements:

Allotments	Additional provision required in Sutton-on-Trent
Amenity Greenspace	Additional provision required in Sutton-on-Trent
Children and Young Persons Provision	Additional provision required in Sutton-on-Trent
Natural/Semi-Natural Greenspace	Additional provision required in Sutton-on-Trent

- 2.42 <u>These requirements will need to be delivered as part of the delivery of housing allocations,</u> planning permissions and / or through the District / Town / Parish Council working with their partners. <u>Development proposals should give consideration to the requirements above, and</u> also the need to provide quality onsite open space on new developments. The availability of open space in and around the locality of the proposal site and the impact of new development on existing open spaces will help inform these requirements. This will ensure that new development has access to good quality open space.</u>
- 2.43 <u>Outdoor sports facilities are not analysed as part of the Open Space Strategy & Assessment</u> as a different methodology in line with national guidance (Sport England) is prescribed and is contained in a separate standalone Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS). This document will be updated in due course is currently being updated and due to be published in Winter 2023/24.

Main Open Areas

Policy ST/MOA Sutton-on-Trent - Main Open Areas

Main Open Areas represent those areas of predominantly open land within Sutton on Trent that play an important part in defining its form and structure.

Within land allocated on the Policies Map as Main Open Areas, planning permission will not normally be granted for built development.

On the Main Open Area to the east of site ST/MU/1 consideration will be given to allowing development where it forms part of a comprehensive mixed use scheme that demonstrates it is necessary to deliver community facilities within the site and provide public access to other parts of the Main Open Area.

Infrastructure

2.44 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy (see appendix D, as reviewed and updated by the Annual Monitoring Report) and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan set out the various requirements for infrastructure in Sutton-on-Trent. The District Council will work with infrastructure providers and where appropriate, adjoining local authorities to ensure the provision of these and other specific infrastructure required as a direct result of development. Specific consideration will be given to the inclusion of a public library and other community facilities within the mixed-

use allocation. This will be achieved through the provisions of Policy DM3 'Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations', the Developer Contributions SPD and the Community Infrastructure Levy.

Village Envelope

2.45 The village envelope has been extended to include development that has taken place since the previous boundaries were drawn up for the Local Plan remains unchanged.



3.0 Southwell Area

3.1 The Southwell Area covers the southern part of the district and is focused around the Minster Town of Southwell, which acts as a "service centre" to a large rural area. In addition to Southwell the Area also includes the Principal Village of Farnsfield which has a good range of day to day facilities, and acts as a secondary focus for service provision. Many residents however look towards Newark and Nottingham for higher level services additional to those provided in Southwell and Farnsfield. Outside of Southwell and Farnsfield the Area also has many attractive villages, often with their own Conservation Areas. Allocations for development have been were made in Southwell and Farnsfield. but the Farnsfield allocations have now been completed.

Public Open Space & Main Open Areas

- 3.2 Beyond the settlements where development is being allocated protection for important land and Public Open Space is still required. Public Open Space and other forms of recreation land (including school playing fields) can be found in settlements across the area, whilst not all are defined on the Policies Map, they are all protected by virtue of Spatial Policy 8 of the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy. Loss of such facilities will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated that it is no longer feasible to provide, or that there is sufficient alternative provision elsewhere of similar or better quality.
- 3.3 Main Open Areas are areas of open land within settlements that play an important role in defining their form and structure. They are not always open to the public although most are viewable from public land or accessible via public footpaths through them. They are designated on the Policies Map.

Policy SoA/MOA Southwell Area - Main Open Areas

Main Open Areas represent those areas of predominantly open land that play an important part in defining a settlements form and structure.

Within the following locations Main Open Areas have been defined on the Policies Map;

- Bleasby;
- Edingley;
- Fiskerton; and
- Upton

Within these Main Open Areas planning permission will not normally be granted for built development.

Southwell

3.4 Southwell is the third biggest settlement in the District. It serves a large local area and has the second largest retail centre in the District, a leisure centre and a secondary school that provides education to much of the Southwell Area. Southwell does however have a serious

local housing need which is perpetuated by high local house prices and <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy Policy SP2 states that provision will be made in Southwell for new housing and employment in order to support the role of Southwell as a Service Centre and the development of sustainable communities.

- 3.5 Southwell is a town of outstanding architectural and historic interest, containing the Minster and associated diocesan administration, a wealth of historic buildings and a large Conservation Area. The District Council has carried out a Conservation Area Character Appraisal of Southwell's Conservation Area which was adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document in July 2005 (this is now in the process of being updated). The Appraisal reached a series of conclusions regarding the protection of the Conservation Area; of particular concern is the need to ensure that its rural nature is preserved along with its landscape setting and the important open spaces both public and those associated with Prebendal houses within it. The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy requires that the setting of Southwell, including the views of Southwell Minster and The Workhouse, are protected and enhanced. The allocation of sites and the detailed requirements for development of those sites has had regard to this requirement and has been informed by the detailed 'Southwell Landscape Setting' document prepared by the Council and Nottinghamshire County Council.
- 3.6 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy directs 3% of the District's housing growth to the Service Centre of Southwell. This equates to a need to provide 425 264 dwellings in this settlement between 200613 and 202633. Previous completions and committed developments will all contribute towards the achievement of this target. There is however a residual requirement for the A&DM DPD to identify sites that are capable of delivering 290 new dwellings in Southwell. There is also a requirement to allocate between 6 and 7 4.5 hectares of new employment land across the Southwell Area. Sufficient land has been completed or has the benefit of planning permission to meet the employment requirements in the Southwell Area. This review updates the position of the allocations at April 20223. Whilst some of the allocations are retained unless all of the site is complete.

Housing Allocations

Policy So/Ho/1 Southwell - Housing Site 1 – Development now completed

Land east of Allenby Road has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing around 65 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

i. Appropriate design, density and layout which addresses the sites gateway location and manages the transition into the main built up area. In order to assimilate the development provision should be made for the retention and enhancement of the sites existing landscape screening;

- ii. The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development to ensure that there is no detrimental impact in run-off into surrounding residential areas or the existing drainage regime;
- iii. The incorporation of the tree lines subject to Tree Preservation Orders into the sites layout;
- iv. Provision of appropriate pedestrian access as part of the design and layout of any planningapplication; and
- v. The investigation of potential archaeology on the site and any necessary post determinationmitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent.

Policy So/Ho/2 Southwell - Housing Site 2

Land south of Halloughton Road has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing around 45 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- i. Appropriate design, density and layout which addresses the site's:
 - 1. Gateway location and manages the transition into the main built up area;
 - 2. Potential impact on views of and across the principal heritage assets of the Minster, HolyTrinity Church, Archbishop's Palace and the Thurgarton Hundred Workhouse in accordance with policy So/PV Southwell Protected Views; and its
 - 3. Proximity to the Southwell Conservation Area respecting its character and appearance.

In order to assimilate the development, provision should therefore be made, in accordance with the landscape character, for the retention and enhancement of the site's existing landscape screening.

- ii. The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development to ensure that there is no detrimental impact in run-off into surrounding residential areas or the existing drainage regime;
- iii. The provision of suitable access off Halloughton Road as part of the design and layout of any planning application. This should be informed by the preparation of an appropriate Transport Assessment to identify the impact of the development on the highway network. Through this assessment, the access requirements of So/Ho/3, the impact on the Halloughton Road / West Gate junction and the provision of appropriate mitigating measures should be addressed; and

iv. The investigation of potential archaeology on the site and any necessary post determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent.

Policy So/Ho/3 Southwell - Housing Site 3 - Development now completed

Land at Nottingham Road has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential developmentproviding around 30 dwellings.

In addition to general policy requirements in the Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- i. Appropriate design, layout and density which addresses the sites:
 - 1. Gateway location managing the transition into the main built up area;
 - 2. Potential impact on views of and across the principal heritage assets of the Minster, Holy Trinity Church, Bishops Palace and the Thurgarton Hundred Workhouse in accordance with policy So/PV 'Southwell Protected Views'; and its
 - 3. Conservation Area location respecting its character and appearance.

In order to assimilate the development, provision should therefore be made for the retention and enhancement of the sites existing landscape screening. This should specifically include significant buffering in both the west of the site in order to retain views of the Grade II Listed Holy Trinity Church from the junction of Halloughton and Nottingham Road and also in the north of the site to screen the Potwell Dyke.

- ii. Appropriately designed access forming part of any planning application, with consideration being given to its location off Nottingham Road and the access requirements of So/Ho/2;
- iii. Preparation of a Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment by the applicant forming part of anyplanning application;
- iv. The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development toensure that there is no detrimental impact in run off into surrounding residential areas or the existing drainage regime;
- v. Subject to prior qualitative assessment, the offsetting of the loss of grassland subject to SINC status through the provision of an appropriate level of on site replacement habitat;
- vi. Development will be required to seek to maintain and enhance the current provision of Rightsof Way which traverse the site; and
- vii. The investigation of potential archaeology on the site and any necessary post determinationmitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent.

Policy So/Ho/4 Southwell - Housing Site 4

Land East of Kirklington Road has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing around 45 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following <u>Allocations Policies of the Southwell</u> <u>Neighbourhood Plan and</u>:

- i. Cooperate with the infrastructure provider to carry out an assessment of the drainage infrastructure required to serve the development, the impact on the local drainage network serving the site and the identification of appropriate mitigating measures to ensure that there is adequate capacity in the local drainage network to serve the development;
- ii. Appropriate design, density and layout which addresses the sites gateway location and manages the transition into the main built-up area. In order to assimilate the development and limit the impact of the development on the character of the area provision should be made for landscape buffering on the sites northern and western extents within the design and layout of any planning application. In considering such buffering this should be particularly extensive to the south of The Vineries to help retain the semi-rural character of this section of Kirklington Road;
- iii. The provision of suitable access off Lower Kirklington Road as part of the design and layout of any planning application. This should be informed by the preparation of an appropriate Transport Assessment to identify the impact of the development on the highway network, and specifically include the impacts on Lower Kirklington Road and the Kirklington Road / Lower Kirklington Road junction and the provision of appropriate mitigating measures;
- iv. The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development to ensure that there is no detrimental impact in run-off into surrounding residential areas or the existing drainage regime;
- v. The provision of appropriate pedestrian access as part of the design and layout of any planning application which utilises the existing Right of Way to the south of the site;
- vi. The undertaking of a Tree Survey by the applicant, assessing and informing the retention of the best specimens into public and private amenity space within the design and layout of any planning application; and
- vii. Pre-determination evaluation and any necessary post determination archaeological mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent reflecting the medium archaeological interest of the site.

Policy So/Ho/5 Southwell - Housing Site 5

Land off Lower Kirklington Road has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing around 60 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the <u>following Allocations Policies of the Southwell</u> <u>Neighbourhood Plan and</u>:

- i. Cooperat<u>ion</u> with the infrastructure provider to carry out an assessment of the drainage infrastructure required to serve the development, the impact on the local drainage network serving the site and the identification of appropriate measures to ensure that there is adequate capacity in the local drainage network to serve the development;
- ii. Appropriate design, density and layout which addresses the sites gateway location and manages the transition into the main built-up area. In order to assimilate the development, provision should be made, in accordance with the landscape character, for the retention and enhancement of the sites existing landscape screening;
- iii. Preparation of an appropriate Transport Assessment as part of any planning application to identify the impact of the development on the highway network. This assessment should specifically include the impact of the sites access on the Lower Kirklington Road
 / Kirklington Road junction, the achievement of acceptable visibility and the provision of appropriate mitigating measures;
- iv. Submission of a site specific Flood Risk Assessment and details of measures to mitigate the potential for on-site surface water flooding risk and management of run-off and ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere;
- v. The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development to ensure that there is no detrimental impact in run-off into surrounding residential areas or the existing drainage regime;
- vi. Provision of appropriate landscape buffering to the Southwell Trail within the design and layout of any planning application;
- vii. Development will be required to seek to maintain and enhance the current provision of Right of Ways which traverse the site; and
- viii. Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required reflecting the high archaeological potential of the site.

Policy So/Ho/6 Southwell - Housing Site 6 – Development now completed

Land at The Burgage (Rainbows) has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential developmentproviding around 25 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- I. A Design Brief, to be prepared by the applicant, which appropriately addresses:
 - 1. The sites sensitive Conservation Area location respecting its character and appearance;
 - 2. The presence of listed and curtilage listed structures within and surrounding the site, which should form the focus for the redevelopment;
 - 3. Provision of improved access arrangements which are suitable to the historic nature ofthe location; and
 - 4. Taking account of the above the provision of a suitable site design, density and layout which also takes into account the difference in site levels between the allocated site andadjacent residential areas.

ii. Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post determination mitigation measures secured by condition on an planning consent are likelyto be required to reflect the high archaeological interest of the site.

Policy So/Ho/7 Southwell - Housing Site 7

Southwell Depot has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing around <u>1518</u> dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations development on this site will be subject to the <u>following Allocations Policies of the Southwell</u> <u>Neighbourhood Plan and</u>:

- i. The extent of the sites eastern boundary being defined by the safeguarded line of the Southwell Bypass;
- ii. Appropriate design, density and layout which addresses the sites:
 - 1. Gateway location and manages the transition into the main built up area; and the

2. Adjacent location to the Southwell Conservation Area respecting its character and appearance.

In order to assimilate the development, provision should therefore be made for the retention and enhancement of existing landscape screening in the south and west of the site.

- iii. <u>Submission of a site-specific Flood Risk Assessment and details of measures to mitigate the</u> <u>potential for on-site surface water flooding risk and management of run-off and ensure that</u> <u>flood risk is not increased elsewhere</u>;
- iv. The investigation of potential archaeology on the site and any necessary post determinationmitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent. Predetermination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required.

Mixed Use Allocations

Policy So/MU/1 Southwell - Mixed Use Site 1 – Allocation Deleted

Land at the former Minster School has been allocated on the Policies Map for mixed use developmentaround 13 dwellings and enhanced Open Space.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- i. A design brief, to be prepared by the applicant, which appropriately addresses:
 - 1. The need to protect views of and across the principal heritage assets of the Minster, HolyTrinity Church, Bishops Palace and the Thurgarton Hundred Workhouse in accordance with policy So/PV 'Southwell Protected Views';
 - 2. The sites sensitive Conservation Area location respecting its character and appearance;
 - 3. The setting of adjacent Listed Buildings;
 - 4. The Scheduled Ancient Monument and its setting which is partially located within the sitethrough its incorporation into enhanced open space provision;
 - 5. Archaeological mitigation measures including preservation in situ and recording, whererequired, to reflect the high archaeological interest of the site; and
 - 6. Taking account of the above the provision of a suitable site design, density and layout.

ii. Preparation of a Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment by the applicant forming part of any planning application.

Southwell Housing Need

As part of the work undertaken to produce the Housing Needs Assessment, which informed the production of the Core Strategy housing policies, an analysis of particular housing needs within different parts of the District was undertaken. In Southwell the study identified the following:

- Significant shortfalls in smaller properties including 2 bedroom bungalows and 1-2 bedroom flats; and
- The need to accommodate an ageing population and young people wishing to stay in the area.

The housing need is acute and the District Council identified the meeting of this as one of the primary factors underpinning the Service Centres identified level of growth. Therefore in developing proposals for new housing development we will expect developers to cater for the specific needs of the settlement.

Policy So/HN/1 Southwell Housing Need

The District Council will seek to secure, subject to local site circumstances and the viability of the development, the majority of new housing on allocated and windfall sites within Southwell as one or two bedroom units in line with the identified housing need.

Employment Allocations

Policy So/E/1 Southwell - Crew Lane Industrial Estate Policy Area

Within the area defined on the Policies Map as So/E/1 Crew Lane Industrial Estate Policy Area, new employment development will be encouraged and in order to provide for the expansion of the Industrial Estate new an employment allocation have has been made in the following locations:

- So/E/2 Land to the east of Crew Lane 2.72.34ha
- So/E/3 Land to the south of Crew Lane 2.18ha

Development proposals within the Policy Area will be required to address the following:

1. Southwell Bypass

The provision of a Southwell Bypass is identified within the Nottinghamshire Local Transport Planand in accordance with Spatial Policy 7 Sustainable Transport the District

Council has safeguarded the intended line of the Bypass. As a result of this safeguarding:

- Development proposals within the Policy Area which would prevent the implementation of theBypass will not be supported; and
- To facilitate the delivery of the employment allocations So/E/2 and So/E/3 the preparation of a suitable scheme which makes provision for the future delivery of the Bypass will be required. This scheme should be informed by the undertaking of an appropriate transport assessmentwhich in addition should also consider the impacts on the Industrial Estates internal road network, the surrounding highway network, access to the Southwell Racecourse and the provision of appropriate mitigating measures.

However should the current line no longer be maintained then the District Council will take theopportunity to review the Policy Area in order to allow for its coherent future planning.

2. <u>1.</u> Thurgarton Hundred Workhouse

The Crew Lane Industrial Estate Policy Area adjoins the area defined on the Policies Map as the Thurgarton Hundred Workhouse's Immediate Surroundings. As a result development proposals within the Policy Area should ensure that they do not detrimentally impact upon the Immediate Surroundings of the Workhouse and that the opportunities for enhancements are secured. Those proposals which have the potential to negatively impact on the setting of the Workhouse will not normally be acceptable. The District Council will therefore expect development proposals to:

• Demonstrate an appropriate design, layout and scale which respects and enhances the immediate surroundings of the Workhouse taking account of the need for suitable height and massing and the provision of appropriate mitigating measures such as landscape screening.

Where possible the District Council will also work with partners to secure improvements to the existing Crew Lane Policy Area environment.

3. <u>2.</u> General Development Requirements

In addition to the above, development proposals within the Employment Area will also be subject to the following:

- Development proposals which are not of a B1/B2/B8 /E(g) use class will need to meet therequirements within Core Policy 6 of the Amended Core Strategy;
- Satisfactory provision of access for parking and servicing; and
- Development should not impact on adjacent residential areas.

Policy So/E/2 Southwell - Land to the east of Crew Lane

Land east of Crew Lane has been allocated on the Policies Map for employment development. The site is $\frac{2.71}{2.33} + \frac{1}{2.33}$

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- The requirements of the Crew Lane Industrial Estate Policy Area (So/E/1) and;
- <u>The submission of a site-specific Flood Risk Assessment and provision of a site layout</u> <u>which is based on a sequential approach to site design and details of measures to</u> <u>mitigate on-site flooding risk and ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere;</u>
- Development will be required to seek to maintain and enhance the current provision of Right of Ways along the eastern boundary of the site=<u>; and</u>
- <u>Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required.</u>

Policy So/E/3 Southwell - Land to the south of Crew Lane -Deleted

Land south of Crew Lane has been allocated on the Policies Map for employment development. The site is 2.18 Hectares in size.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

• The requirements of the Crew Lane Industrial Estate Policy Area (So/E/1)

Reserved Land to the south of Crew Lane

Policy So/RL/1 Southwell - Reserved Land to the south of Crew Lane

Land to the South of Crew Lane has been identified on the Policies Map and this land will be reserved to ensure that at the next round of plan making it allows for a comprehensive approach to address development needs in this area. Development proposals which prejudice this approach will not normally be considered appropriate.

3.7 Land to south of Crew Lane formerly identified as employment land has been re-designated as reserved land. This is to ensure that the land remains available for future comprehensive assessment of development needs in Southwell. This approach does not seek to specify what development will occur on the site but aims to protect the land to ensure that when those decision can be made (through the next round of plan making) the best use of the site has not been prejudiced.

Retail

Policy So/DC/1 Southwell - Southwell District Centre

The future management of the Centre will be provided for through the development and implementation of a District Centre Strategy, and the consideration of development proposals for retail and other town centre uses within and beyond Southwell District Centre, The Southwell District Centre, as defined on the Policies Map, will be used in conjunction with Development Management Policy 11 Retail and Town Centre Uses to assess retail proposals. made against the general policy requirements in the Amended Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM11 Retail and Main Town Centre Uses.

Open Green Spaces and Green Infrastructure

- 3.8 A number of open spaces sites requiring protection under <u>Policy</u> SP8 of the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy are shown on the Policies Map, <u>however</u>, all open spaces are protected under Policy <u>SP8</u>. The necessity for this protection is explained in the supporting Green Space <u>Open Space</u> <u>Assessment &</u> Strategy document.
- 3.9 The Green Spaces Improvement Plans Open Space Strategy & Assessment identifies the following additional open space requirements for Southwell:

Table 4 - Southwell Open Space Requirements:

Southwell East	
Allotments	New provision required
Cemeteries	Town Council identified need for increased provision
Children and Young Persons	New provision / extension of current provision
Provision	required in the long term
Southwell North	
Allotments	New provision required
Cemeteries	Town Council identified need for increased provision
Children and Young Persons	New provision required
Provision	
Southwell West	

Allotments	New provision required	
Cemeteries	Town Council identified need for increased	
	provision	

Allotments	Additional provision required
<u>Cemeteries</u>	Town Council identified need for increased provision
Amenity Greenspace	Additional provision required.
Natural & Semi-Natural Greenspace	Additional provision required.
Children and Young Persons Provision	Additional provision required.
Parks & Gardens	Additional provision required.

- 3.10 These requirements will be delivered as part of the delivery of housing allocations, <u>planning</u> <u>permissions</u> and/or through the District/Town/Parish Council working with its their partners. <u>Development proposals should give consideration to the requirements above, and also the</u> <u>need to provide quality onsite open space on new developments. The availability of open</u> <u>space in and around the locality of the proposal site and the impact of new development on</u> <u>existing open spaces will help inform these requirements. This will ensure that new</u> <u>development has access to good quality open space.</u>
- 3.11 <u>Outdoor sports facilities are not analysed as part of the Open Space Assessment & Strategy</u> as a different methodology in line with national guidance (Sport England) is prescribed and is contained in a separate standalone Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS). This document will be updated in due course is currently being updated and due to be published in Winter 2023/24.
- 3.12 The supporting text to Core Strategy Policy <u>Amended CP12</u> notes that Southwell is particularly deficient in terms of its Green Infrastructure connections with a poor level of access to both Newark and the west of the District. The Green Infrastructure issues for Southwell identified by the Green Infrastructure Strategy are therefore focused on the protection and enhancement of existing networks and the creation of new strategic access routes to link the settlement to Newark and areas of tourism activity in the Northwest of the District and into the wider Green Infrastructure network. The Green Infrastructure Strategy suggested that provision should be made for the following route:
 - Creation of a new Multi-User route stretching from Newark to the Northwest of the District incorporating the existing Southwell Trail route.

Main Open Areas

Policy So/MOA Southwell - Main Open Areas

Main Open Areas represent those areas of predominantly open land within Southwell that play an important part in defining its form and structure.

Within land allocated on the Policies Map as Main Open Areas in Southwell, planning permission will not normally be granted for built development.

Southwell Protected Views and Thurgarton Hundred Workhouse

- 3.13 Key to the distinctive character of Southwell are the views of and across, as well as the settings of the principal heritage assets of the Southwell Minster, Archbishop's Palace, Thurgarton Hundred Workhouse and the Holy Trinity Church. It is therefore important that future development respects these views and settings and does not negatively impact upon them.
- 3.14 Accordingly, and in line with the requirements of Policy SoAP 1 Role and Setting of Southwell of the adopted <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy, these important views and an area considered to provide the 'immediate surroundings' of the Workhouse have been defined on the Policies Map. These areas are however not intended to definitively define the extent of views or settings and development proposals which fall outside of them may still present the potential for detrimental impacts. It is therefore important that proposals appropriately address the requirements of policies So/PV Southwell Protected Views and So/Wh Thurgarton Hundred Workhouse.

Policy So/PV Southwell Protected Views

The District Council will seek to protect views of and across the principal heritage assets of the Minster, Holy Trinity church, Archbishop's Palace and Thurgarton Hundred Workhouse including the view cones identified on the Policies Map. Therefore:

- Development proposals within the view cones, as defined on the Policies Map, will be required to demonstrate that they do not negatively impact on the views of these heritage assets. Those proposals which do detrimentally impact on the views of these heritage assets will not be acceptable; and
- Beyond the areas defined within the view cones, as defined on the Policies Map, development proposals which have the potential to negatively impact on the views of these heritage assets will not normally be acceptable. The level of potential impact will be dependent on factors such as scale, height, location and the scope for mitigation.

Policy So/Wh Thurgarton Hundred Workhouse

The District Council will seek to protect and enhance the setting of Thurgarton Hundred Workhouse. Therefore:

• Development proposals within the area defined as the immediate surroundings of the Workhouse on the Policies Map should ensure that they do not negatively impact on these surroundings. Those proposals which do detrimentally impact on the setting of the Workhouse will not be acceptable;

- Development proposals to the south of the immediate setting within the Crew Lane Industrial Estate should address the requirements above and of policy So/E/1; and
- Beyond the boundary of the immediate surroundings of the Workhouse, as defined on the Policies Map, development proposals which have the potential to negatively impact on the setting of the Workhouse will not normally be acceptable. The level of potential impact will be dependent on factors such as scale, height and location and the scope for mitigation.

Archaeology

- 3.15 The Roman villa site adjacent to Southwell Minster is thought to be one of the largest such sites in the East Midlands. Numerous Roman finds have been recorded in this area and around Southwell since the 18th century and archaeological excavations from the 1950s onwards have recorded the presence of a large building dating to the 2nd century AD with significant alterations and extensions in the 3rd and 4th centuries.
- 3.16 In addition, over 30 early medieval Christian burials were recorded in the initial excavation and a further 225 during subsequent work. Consequently, the site is a scheduled monument (National Heritage List for England entry: 1003528).
- 3.17 More recently the areas to the east and south of the scheduled monument have undergone archaeological investigation, most notably on the former Minster School site on Church Lane and to the north of Church Lane at Platts Orchard. Evaluation has also been undertaken further to the south close to Potwell Dyke. All these sites have produced evidence for further intensive activity dating from 1st century onwards, including an 8th century inhumation cemetery, industrial activity a large block wall, and more prosaic structures along the southern area, although the precise dating and function of these remains unclear, a direct relationship with the adjacent villa may be inferred.
- 3.18 This more recent archaeological investigation, along with known find spots from Southwell, indicates that activity associated with the villa likely extends well beyond the scheduled area, although the precise location, nature and extent of this is not yet fully understood. It is therefore essential that specialist expertise and approaches to archaeological assessment are in place from the earliest stage of planning proposals so as to ensure the significance of remains affected is sufficiently understood and their importance is afforded proportionate weight in the planning process.

Policy So/AR/1 Archaeology – Southwell Roman Villa

The Southwell Roman Villa is identified in two areas, as defined on the Policies Map;

- <u>the scheduled monument; and</u>
- Area A (extended area of high archaeological potential).

For development proposals within Area A, an appropriate site evaluation from the earliest

stages of predetermination site assessment will be required in order to allow for the significance and importance of archaeological remains to be proportionately treated in the planning process.

All developments should include pre-application investigation comprising both non-intrusive and intrusive field evaluation undertaken in consultation with the relevant specialists. Where these investigations show comparable results with the Scheduled Monument, the policy approach would consider the proposed sites in terms of national and local planning policy towards designated heritage assets.

Infrastructure

3.19 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy (Appendix D, <u>As reviewed and updated by the Annual</u> <u>Monitoring Report</u>) and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan set out the various requirements for infrastructure in Southwell. The District Council will work with infrastructure providers and where appropriate, adjoining local authorities to ensure the provision of these and other specific infrastructure required as a direct result of development. This will be achieved through the provisions of Policy DM3 'Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations', the Developer Contributions SPD and the Community Infrastructure Levy.

Urban Boundary

- 3.20 The Urban Boundary for Southwell, as shown on the Policies Map, has been amended to reflect the deletion of the saved route of the Southwell By-Pass and the associated changes to So/E/2 and So/Ho/7. include:
 - Existing housing, shopping, and other urban uses since the previous boundaries were drawn up for the Local Plan; and
 - The housing/employment/mixed use allocations as shown on the Policies Map.



Farnsfield

- 3.21 Farnsfield is classed as a Principal Village. The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy states that to secure and support the role of Principal Villages, provision will be made for new housing to meet local housing need and support for employment to provide local jobs.
- 3.22 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy directs <u>12.4</u>% of the District's housing growth to the Principal Village of Farnsfield. This equates to a need to provide <u>142</u> <u>211</u> dwellings in this settlement between 2006<u>13</u> and 2026<u>33</u>. Previous completions and committed developments <u>will have</u> all contribute<u>d</u> towards the achievement of this target. There is however a residual requirement for the A&DM DPD to identify sites that are capable of delivering <u>105 new</u> dwellings in Farnsfield. This review updates the position of the allocations at April 202<u>23</u>, with the allocations now completed.

Housing Allocations

Policy Fa/Ho/1 Farnsfield - Housing Site 1 – Development now completed

Land to the east of Ridgeway and Greenvale has been allocated on the Policies Map for residentialdevelopment providing around 35 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on the site will be subject to the following:

- Appropriate design which addresses the sites edge of settlement location and manages the transition into the main built up area. In order to assimilate the development into the surroundingcountryside provision should be made, in accordance with the landscape character of the area, for the retention and enhancement of the sites existing landscape screening;
- Appropriate separation and buffer within the design and layout of any planning application between existing dwellings on Ridgeway and Greenvale and proposed dwellings on the siteto provide both with an adequate standard of amenity;
- Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post determination mitigation measures, including excavation, likely to be required by conditions attached to any planning permission. New development here should respect the plot shapesof the medieval field system;
- Transport Assessment of the Southwell Road/Ridgeway junction submitted as part of any planning application; and
- Developer funded localised sewer capacity improvements as required.

Policy Fa/MU/1 Farnsfield – Mixed Use Site 1 – Development now completed

Land to the west of Cockett Lane has been allocated on the Policies Map for a mixed use development providing around 70 dwellings together with associated public open space and up to 0.5 ha of B1 and B2 employment development compatible with established residential developmentnearby.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the <u>Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7</u>, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on the site will be subject to the following:

- A master plan, forming part of any planning application(s) setting out the broad locations for the different types of development and their phasing, taking account of infrastructure provision, constraints and the need to ensure that the delivery of the range of uses is not prejudiced;
- Consideration of stability and drainage issues relating to former quarry on the western boundaryof site as part of any planning application;
- Appropriately designed access forming part of any planning application, with considerationbeing given to its location towards the southern part of the sites frontage to Cockett Lane;
- Pre determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required reflecting the medium to high archaeological potential of the site; and
- Developer funded localised sewer capacity improvements as required.

Retail

Policy Fa/LC/1 Farnsfield - Local Centre

To promote the strength of Farnsfield as a Principal Village, a Local Centre has been defined on the Policies Map.

Development of retail and other town centre uses within the Local Centre will be considered against general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to DM Policy 11 Retail and <u>Main</u> Town Centre Uses.

Open Green Spaces and Green Infrastructure

- 3.23 <u>A number of open spaces requiring protection under Policy SP8 of the Amended Core</u> Strategy are shown on the Policies Map, however, all open spaces are protected under Policy SP8. The necessity for this protection is explained in the supporting Open Space Assessment & Strategy document. The Public Open Space and Playing Fields identified on the Policies Map will be protected by Spatial Policy 8 – Protecting and Promoting Leisure and Community Facilities. Development policies that would result in the loss of any such spaces will be assessed against the criteria of Policy SP8.</u>
- 3.24 <u>The Open Space Assessment & Strategy identifies the following additional open space</u> requirements for Farnsfield:

Table 5 - Farnsfield Open Space Requirements

<u>Allotments</u>	Sufficient provision is currently available in Farnsfield
Amenity Greenspace	Sufficient provision is currently available in Farnsfield
Children and Young Persons Provision	Additional provision required in Farnsfield
Natural/Semi-Natural Greenspace	Additional provision required in Farnsfield

- 3.25 <u>These requirements will need to be delivered as part of the delivery of housing allocations,</u> <u>planning_permissions</u> and / or though the District/Town/Parish Council working with their <u>partners. Development proposals should give consideration to the requirements above, and</u> <u>also the need to provide quality onsite open space on new developments. The availability of</u> <u>open space in and around the locality of the proposal site and the impact of new</u> <u>development on existing open spaces will help inform these requirements. This will ensure</u> <u>that new development has access to good quality open space.</u>
- 3.26 <u>Outdoor sport facilities are not analysed as part of the Open Space Strategy & Assessment</u> as a different methodology in line with national guidance (Sport England) is prescribed and is contained in a separate standalone Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS). This document will be updated in due course is currently being updated and due to be published in Winter 2023/24.

Infrastructure

3.27 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy (Appendix D, as reviewed and updated by the Annual Monitoring Report) and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan set out the various requirements for infrastructure in Farnsfield. The District Council will work with infrastructure providers and where appropriate, adjoining local authorities to ensure the provision of these and other specific infrastructure required as a direct result of development. This will be achieved through the provisions of Policy DM3 'Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations', the Developer Contributions SPD and the Community Infrastructure Levy.
Village Envelope

3.28 The village envelope has been extended to include the allocated housing sites identified above and the development at Southwell Road that has taken place since the previous DPD was adopted. previous boundaries were drawn up for the Local Plan.



4.0 Nottingham Fringe Area

4.1 This area is in the Nottingham – Derby Green Belt which is intended to protect the open character of land around the Nottingham conurbation and the City of Derby. The designation extends into the south-western part of the District and acts as a constraint on new development. Within the area, Lowdham acts as a focus for day-to-day services and, with its own railway station, provides good access to Nottingham. Many residents in the area look towards Greater Nottingham for most of their services and employment.

Lowdham

4.2 Within the Nottingham Fringe Area, Lowdham acts as a focus for the provision of day-to-day services. With its own railway station, Lowdham has good access to Nottingham and it is identified by Spatial Policy 2 of the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy as a location where provision will be made for new housing to meet local housing need and support for employment to provide local jobs in order to secure the village's role as a sustainable community.

Spatial Policy 4A of the Core Strategy, Extent of the Green Belt, requires small scale reviews of the Nottingham — Derby Green Belt in Blidworth, Lowdham and Rainworth in order to meet housing requirements. It also sets out the criteria which will be used in undertaking these reviews.

Housing Allocations

4.3 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy directs 0.5%0.1% of the District's housing growth to the Principal Village of Lowdham. This equates to a need to provide 719 dwellings in this settlement between 200613 and 202633. Previous completions and committed developments will <u>have</u> all contributed towards the achievement of this target. There is however a residual requirement for the A&DM DPD to identify sites that are capable of delivering 60 new dwellings in Lowdham. This review updates the position of the allocations at April 20223.

Policy Lo/Ho/1 Lowdham - Housing Site 1 <u>– Site De-allocated</u>

Land adjacent to 28 Epperstone Road has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing around 5 dwellings. Consequently this site has been removed from the Nottingham – Derby Green Belt.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- Consideration of the retention of the existing boundary hedgerows as part of the design and layout of any planning application in order to manage the transition into the main built up area;and
- Development on this site shall be served from a single point of access onto Epperstone Road.

Policy Lo/Ho/2 Lowdham - Housing Site 2 – Development now completed

Land to the south east of Brookfield, Epperstone Road has been allocated on the Policies Map forresidential development providing around 5 dwellings. Consequently, this site has been removed from the Nottingham - Derby Green Belt.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the_Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- Consideration of the provision of a new hedgerow to the north eastern boundary and retention of the existing boundary hedgerow to the south east as part of the design and layout of any planning application in order to manage the transition into the main built up area;
- The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development toensure that there is no detrimental impact in run-off into surrounding residential areas or the existing drainage regime;
- Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post-determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required;
- The existing access road will require upgrading as part of any planning application in order toserve the level of development proposed.

As a result of undertaking the small scale review of the Green Belt, in accordance with the criteria set out in Spatial Policy 4A, and the findings of the Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment it is not possible to accommodate the amount of housing development as required by the Core Strategy and allocations have been made for 10 dwellings. The requirements for growth will be met elsewhere in the District as set out in the Introduction to this DPD.

Lowdham Housing Need

As part of the work undertaken to produce the Housing Needs Assessment, which informed the production of the Core Strategy housing policies, an analysis of particular housing needs within different parts of the District was undertaken. The study identified the following:

- Significant shortfalls in smaller properties;
- The need to accommodate an ageing population and young people wishing to stay in the area

The Lowdham Housing Needs Survey 2007 identified a need for a mix of mainly 2 bed houses and bungalows. Due to the limited capacity for new housing provision within Lowdham consideration needs to be given to providing these smaller units to meet the local needs of the community.

Policy Lo/HN/1 Lowdham Housing Need

The District Council will seek to secure, subject to local site circumstances and the viability of the development, the majority of new housing on allocated and windfall sites within Lowdham as two bedroom units to meet the needs of the local community.

Employment

4.4 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy sets out the amount of employment land to be provided in Newark and Sherwood and how this should be distributed across the District. It identifies a guideline requirement of 0.1 hectares of new employment land in Nottingham Fringe Area during the plan period. However, due to 0.11 hectares of land in the Nottingham Fringe Area having been granted planning permission for employment uses, the amount of employment land that the <u>A</u>A&DM DPD is required to allocate across the Nottingham Fringe Area is up to 0.89 hectares. Previous completions of 0.13ha are sufficient to meet this requirement.

Due to the constraints of the Green Belt, no suitable sites have been identified in Lowdham and the District Council considers that this growth will be met elsewhere within the District.

Retail

Policy Lo/LC/1 Lowdham - Local Centre

The Lowdham Local Centre, as defined on the Policies map, will be used in conjunction with Development Management Policy 11 – Retail and <u>Main</u> Town Centre uses to assess retail proposals.

Transport

Policy Lo/Tr/1 Lowdham - Transport Site 1

Land at the junction of Caythorpe Road and Gunthorpe Road, has been allocated on the Policies Map for parking facilities in association with the adjacent Railway Station.

Open Green Spaces and Green Infrastructure

4.5 <u>A number of open spaces requiring protection under Policy SP8 of the Amended Core Strategy are shown on the Policies Map, however, all open spaces are protected under Policy SP8. The necessity for this protection is explained in the supporting Open Space Assessment & Strategy document. The Public Open Space and School Playing Field identified on the Policies map will be protected by Spatial Policy 8 – Protecting and Promoting Leisure and Community Facilities. Development proposals that would result in the loss of any such spaces will be assessed against the criteria of Policy SP8.</u>

4.6 The <u>Open Space Assessment & Strategy</u> Green Spaces Improvement Plans identifies the following additional open space requirements for Lowdham:

Allotments	Additional provision required in Lowdham New allotment provision required in the long term
Amenity Greenspace	Sufficient provision is currently available in Lowdham
Children and Young Persons Provision	Additional provision required in Lowdham
Natural/Semi-Natural Greenspace	Additional provision required in Lowdham

- 4.7 This requirement will <u>need to be</u> delivered <u>as part of the delivery of planning permissions</u>—of housing allocations <u>and/or</u> through the District/Town/Parish Council working with <u>their</u> its partners. <u>Development proposals should give consideration to the requirements above, and also the need to provide quality onsite open space on new developments. The availability of open space in and around the locality of the proposal site and the impact of new development on existing open spaces will help inform these requirements. This will ensure that new development has access to good quality open space.</u>
- 4.8 <u>Outdoor sport facilities are not analysed as part of the Open Space Assessment & Strategy</u> as a different methodology in line with national guidance (Sport England) is prescribed and is contained in a separate standalone Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS). This document will be updated in due course is currently being updated and due to be published in Winter 2023/24.
- 4.9 The Green Infrastructure issues for Lowdham identified by the Green Infrastructure Strategy are focused on the protection and enhancement of existing networks, such as that along the Trent Valley and the route between Southwell and the North of Nottingham, to link the settlement into the wider Green Infrastructure Network.

Infrastructure

4.10 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy (Appendix D, as reviewed and updated by the Annual <u>Monitoring Report</u>) and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan set out the various requirements for infrastructure in Lowdham. The District Council will work with infrastructure providers and where appropriate, adjoining local authorities to ensure the provision of these and other specific infrastructure required as a direct result of development. This will be achieved through the provisions of Policy DM3 'Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations', the Developer Contributions SPD and the Community Infrastructure Levy.

Village Envelope

4.11 The village envelope has been extended to include the 2 housing allocations defined above and development that has taken place since the previous boundaries were drawn up for the Local Plan. As a consequence of this, the 2 housing allocations and a small area of domestic garden land to the rear of Brookfield are no longer included within the Nottingham – Derby Green Belt remains unchanged.



5.0 Sherwood Area

- 5.1 The Sherwood Area covers much of the north west of the District. The area is closely related to Mansfield and Worksop, however Ollerton & Boughton <u>and Edwinstowe is are</u> also a focus for services, jobs and education whilst Bilsthorpe is a and Edwinstowe are centres with their <u>its</u> own day to day facilities.
- 5.2 The Area also contains some of Nottinghamshire's most important nature conservation sites, including the Birklands & Bilhaugh Special Area of Conservation which is north of Edwinstowe. This is also the location of the Sherwood Forest Visitor Centre. <u>The results of the Habitat Regulations Assessment carried out on the proposals in this DPD identified that:</u>
 - further housing development within an 8.9km zone of the the Birklands & Billhaugh Special Area of Conservation (SAC) would likely impact on it by increasing recreational pressure. It recommends that this could be most appropriately remedied by the provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Green Spaces (SANGS) onsite. Where it is not possible develop SANGs on site applicants should work with the Local Planning Authority and Natural England to identify appropriate offsite proposals to relieve recreational pressure on the SAC within the surrounding area. This approach has been reflected in this DPD and also in the approach to the redevelopment of Thoresby Colliery allocated in the Amended Core Strategy.
 - that within 400m of habitat which support populations of woodlark and nightjar and have the potential to be identified in the future as a Special Protection Area – known as the possible potential Special Protection Area (ppSPA) - that a risk based approach in line with Natural England advice should be followed and this is reflected within this DPD.

Public Open Space & Main Open Areas

- 5.3 Beyond the settlements where development is being allocated protection for important land and Public Open Space is still required. Public Open Space and other forms of recreation land (including school playing fields) can be found in settlements across the area, whilst not all are defined on the Policies Map they are all protected by virtue of Spatial Policy 8 of the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy. Loss of such facilities will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated that it is no longer feasible to provide, or that there is sufficient alternative provision elsewhere of similar or better quality.
- 5.4 Main Open Areas are areas of open land within settlements that play an important role in defining their form and structure. They are not always open to the public although most are viewable from public land or accessible via public footpaths through them. They are designated on the Policies Map.

Policy ShA/MOA Sherwood Area - Main Open Area

Main Open Areas represent those areas of predominantly open land that play an important part in defining a settlement's form and structure.

Within the following locations Main Open Areas have been defined on the Policies Map;

- Budby
- Eakring
- Perlethorpe
- Wellow

Within these Main Open Areas planning permission will not normally be granted for built development.

<u>Laxton</u>

5.5 Laxton is the last remaining village in England that operates an open field system of farming under the supervision of a manorial Court Leet. In order to ensure that these important historic agricultural practices survive it is important that the owners of Laxton, Thoresby Estates, have the ability to appropriately manage the various farm tenancies. This includes providing retirement homes for farmers so that farmhouses located in working farms can be occupied by working farmers. Policy ShA/L/1 sets out the policy context for achieving this.

Policy ShA/L/1 Laxton

In line with Core Policy 14 of the Amended Core Strategy the District Council will work with partners to support the long-term management of the historic open field system of farming in Laxton. Development which detrimentally impacts on the operation of the historic open field system of farming in Laxton will be refused. Development which supports the operation of the historic open field system of farming in Laxon will be granted.

In Laxton schemes which provide retirement housing for agricultural workers who have been engaged in the operation of the open field system will be supported provided that such schemes:

- demonstrate the retirement housing will <u>be occupied by retired estate workers or</u> retired agricultural tenants enable the farms to return to active agricultural use as part of the open field system, to be secured through a legal agreement;
- do not impede the ongoing operation of the open field system; and
- do not detrimentally impact on heritage assets and the special character of the Conservation Area unless public benefits outweigh the detrimental impact.

Such sites should be in Laxton Parish and meet the requirements set out in Spatial Policy 3 Rural Areas relating to Scale, Impact and Character of Development.



Ollerton & Boughton

- 5.6 Ollerton & Boughton acts as a service centre to a large local population, both in the town and the surrounding Sherwood Area. Over the plan period it is anticipated that the town will see the provision of new housing, employment and associated facilities that will help regenerate the area and reinforce its role as the main centre within the Sherwood Area.
- 5.7 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy directs <u>89</u>% of the District's housing growth to the Service Centre of Ollerton & Boughton. This equates to a need to provide <u>1133793</u> dwellings in this settlement between 200613 and 202633. Previous completions and committed developments will all contribute towards the achievement of this target. There is however a residual requirement for the A&DM DPD to identify sites that are capable of delivering 487 new dwellings in Ollerton & Boughton. This review updates the position of the allocations at April 202<u>23</u>. Whilst some of the allocations have the benefit of planning permission and may be under construction, the allocate up to 1.56 for 16.2 hectares of employment land across the Sherwood Area and sufficient land has been completed or has the benefit of planning permission to meet this requirement.

Housing Allocations

Policy OB/Ho/1 Ollerton & Boughton - Housing Site 1 - Development now completed

Land North of Wellow Road has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing around 125 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- The preparation of a Master Plan setting out the broad location for development on the site and phasing of new development. This should include appropriate design which addresses the site's gateway location and manages the transition into the main built up area. In order toassimilate the development into the surrounding countryside provision should be made, in accordance with the landscape character, for the retention and enhancement of the site's existing landscape screening;
- Assessment of the impact on transport infrastructure, including Ollerton roundabout, and thestrategic sports infrastructure as part of any planning application(s);
- Developer funded improvements to ensure sufficient capacity within the public foul sewersystem and wastewater treatment works to meet the needs of the development;
- The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development to ensure that there is no detrimental impact in run-off into surrounding residential areas or the existing drainage regime;

- The incorporation of buffer landscaping as part of the design and layout of any planningapplication(s) to minimise the impact of development on the adjoining SINC; and
- Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post determination mitigation measures secured through conditions attached to any planningpermission, including preservation in situ where required to reflect the high archaeological interest of the site.

Policy OB/Ho/2 Ollerton & Boughton - Housing Site 2 - Development now completed

Land adjacent to Hollies Close has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential developmentproviding around 25 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- Contributions will be required towards the provision of strategic sports infrastructure withinOllerton & Boughton;
- Contributions will be required towards the maintenance of the adjacent open space;
- Design should take account of overhead power lines which run across the site and not infringethe statutory safety clearances between overhead lines, the ground and built structures;
- The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development to ensure that there is no detrimental impact in run off into surrounding residential areas or the existing drainage regime;
- Developer funded improvements to ensure sufficient capacity within the public foul sewersystem and wastewater treatment works to meet the needs of the development; and
- The investigation of potential archaeology on the site and any necessary postdeterminationmitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent.

Policy OB/Ho/3 Ollerton & Boughton - Housing Site 3 - Development now completed

Land at the former Ollerton Miners Welfare at Whinney Lane has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing around 70 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- The retention of the existing bowling green and associated facilities either on site as part of the layout of development, or facilitated by developer contribution through provision elsewherewithin Ollerton & Boughton;
- Developer contributions will be required towards the provision of strategic sports infrastructure within Ollerton & Boughton;
- The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development to ensure that there is no detrimental impact in run-off into surrounding residential areas or the existing drainage regime; and
- Developer funded improvements to ensure sufficient capacity within the public foul sewersystem and wastewater treatment works to meet the needs of the development.

Mixed Use Allocations

Policy OB/MU/1 Ollerton & Boughton – Mixed Use Site 1

Land at the rear of Petersmith Drive has been allocated on the Policies Map for mixed use development. The site will accommodate around 225 dwellings, enhanced Strategic Sports Infrastructure and Open Space, the latter of which will be located in the south of the site. Proposals for development of the site will be presented as part of a Master Plan which will:

- Meet the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM 2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations;
- Include public open space within the site or at alternative locations within the area, provided in accordance with Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations shall be designed to reflect the need to provide SANGS to relieve recreational pressure on the Birklands & Billhaugh SAC in line with Policy DM7.
- Set out the broad location for development on the site including a phasing strategy. This should ensure that no flood sensitive development takes place in areas identified as being within Flood Zones 2 and 3;
- Incorporate sensitive design to respect and enhance the setting of the nearby Boughton Pumping Station Conservation Area and Listed Buildings;
- Provision of a landscaping scheme in order to help assimilate the development into the surrounding countryside in accordance with the landscape character; and
- The identification of measures which maximise opportunities to protect and enhance features of biodiversity value and species within and adjoining the site, including the River Maun, and mitigate or compensate for any potential adverse impacts.

In addition, development will be subject to the following;

- Preparation of an appropriate Transport Assessment as part of any planning application(s) to identify any negative impact of the development on the highway network including Ollerton roundabout, and the provision of appropriate mitigating measures;
- The provision of on-site strategic sports facilities as part of any planning application(s) to enhance the existing provision within Ollerton & Boughton;
- Preservation and enhancement of the River Maun and associated footpaths, walkways and cycle facilities through the design and layout of any planning application;
- Developer funded improvements to ensure sufficient capacity within the public foul sewer system and wastewater treatment works to meet the needs of the development;
- The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development to ensure that there is no detrimental impact in run-off into surrounding residential areas, or the existing drainage regime;
- Provision of a drainage strategy as part of any planning application to ensure that the development does not flood during low annual probability rainfall events or exacerbate the flood risk off-site;
- The investigation of the potential impact arising from the legacy of former coal mining activities within Ollerton & Boughton and the implementation of any necessary mitigation measures.
- Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and any necessary post-determination mitigation measures, secured by conditions attached to any planning permission including LIDAR survey, to reflect the medium to very high archaeological potential of the site; and
- Appropriate phasing of residential and strategic sports infrastructure and open space uses.

Policy OB/MU/2 Ollerton & Boughton – Mixed Use Site 2

The land between Kirk Drive, Stepnall Heights and Hallam Road has been allocated on the Policies Map for mixed use development. The site will accommodate around 120 dwellings and enhanced Open Space. It also offers the opportunity to realise the potential of enhancing the housing offer of the two predominantly Council housing estates, Retford Road and Hallam Road, adjacent to the land through wider scale regeneration of the area to create a sustainable identity for the locality.

In addition to general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- The preparation of a comprehensive Master Plan to:
 - Identify an appropriate mix of market and affordable housing to enhance the quality of the housing and sustainability of the area;
 - Identify the retail capacity of the area to enhance the present offer;
 - Set out the broad location for development on the site, including how this will be integrated with the existing residential areas;
 - Set out the phasing of new development; and
 - Ensure community consultation is undertaken
- The continued provision and enhancement of existing open space and community facilities on the site;
- The provision of on-site strategic open space facilities as part of any planning application to enhance the existing provision within Ollerton & Boughton, <u>such public open space</u> <u>shall be designed to reflect the need to provide SANGS to relieve recreational pressure</u> <u>on the Birklands & Billhaugh SAC in line with Policy DM7.</u>
- Design should take account of overhead power lines which run across the site and not infringe the statutory safety clearances between overhead lines, the ground and built structures;
- Development will be required to seek to maintain and enhance the current provision of public footpaths that traverse the site, and which provide linkages between both the adjoining Retford Road and Hallam Road estates along with community uses within and adjoining the site;
- Developer funded improvements to ensure sufficient capacity within the public foul sewer system and wastewater treatment works to meet the needs of the development;
- The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development to ensure that there is no detrimental impact in run-off into surrounding residential areas or the existing drainage regime <u>and ensure that flood risk is not increased on-site or elsewhere</u>. A Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment will be required;
- The investigation of the potential impact arising from the legacy of former coal mining activities within Ollerton and Boughton and the implementation of any necessary mitigation measures;
- Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and any necessary post-determination mitigation measures, secured by condition on any planning consent ; and
- Preparation of an appropriate Transport Assessment as part of any planning application(s) to identify any negative impact of the development on the highway network, including Ollerton roundabout, and the provision of appropriate mitigating measures.

Phasing

Policy OB/Ph/1 Ollerton & Boughton - Phasing Policy

In Ollerton & Boughton the following sites will include phasing within any Master Plan to accompany any planning application:

- OB/Ho/1
- OB/MU/1
- OB/MU/2

Phasing in all cases must be appropriate to the size of the development, reflect the need for associated on site and off-site infrastructure provision and constraints and not be unviable for the developer to implement.

Employment Allocations

Policy OB/E/1 Ollerton & Boughton - Boughton Industrial Estate (North) Policy Area 1

Within the area defined on the Policies Map as OB/E/1 Boughton Industrial Estate North Policy Area, new employment development will be encouraged. Boughton Industrial Estate is a longestablished employment area located on a former army camp to the East of Ollerton & Boughton. Development in this policy area will be considered against relevant <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and Development Management policies.

In promoting new development in the Policy Area, the District Council expects:

- Appropriate boundary treatment and screening of open storage areas through the design and layout of any planning application(s);
- The incorporation of satisfactory landscaping as part of the design and layout of any planning application(s) to minimise the impact of development on the SINC Local Wildlife Site which is located within and adjoining the industrial estate;
- Satisfactory provision of access, car parking and servicing as part of the design and layout of any planning applications;
- Provision of a drainage strategy as part of any planning application(s) to ensure that the development does not flood during low annual probability rainfall events or exacerbate the flood risk off-site;
- The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development to ensure that there is no detrimental impact in run-off into surrounding residential areas or the existing drainage regime.
- No flood sensitive development should take place in areas identified as being within Flood

Zones 2 and 3. A Site-specific Flood Risk Assessment will be required; and

• The investigation of the potential impact arising from the legacy of former coal mining activities within Ollerton & Boughton and the implementation of any necessary mitigation measures.

Policy OB/E/2 Ollerton & Boughton – Boughton Industrial Estate (South) Policy Area 2

Within the area defined on the Policies Map as OB/E/2 Boughton Industrial Estate South Policy Area, new employment development will be encouraged. Boughton Industrial Estate is a long-established employment area located on a former army camp to the East of Ollerton & Boughton. Development in this policy area will be considered against relevant <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and Development Management policies.

In promoting new development in the policy area, the District Council expects:

- Appropriate boundary treatment and screening of open storage areas through the design and layout of any planning application(s);
- The incorporation of satisfactory landscaping as part of the design and layout of any planning application(s) to minimise the impact of development on the <u>SINC</u> <u>Local Wildlife</u> <u>Site</u> which is located within and adjoining the industrial estate;
- Satisfactory provision of access, car parking and servicing as part of the design and layout of any planning application(s);
- Provision of a drainage strategy as part of any planning application(s) to ensure that the development does not flood during low annual probability rainfall events or exacerbate the flood risk off-site;
- The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development to ensure that there is no detrimental impact in run-off into surrounding residential areas or the existing drainage regime;
- No flood sensitive development should take place in areas identified as being within Flood Zones 2 and 3. <u>A Site-specific Flood Risk Assessment will be required;</u>
- The investigation of the potential impact arising from the legacy of former coal mining activities within Ollerton & Boughton and the implementation of any necessary mitigation measures; and
- The investigation of potential archaeology on the site and any necessary postdetermination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent reflecting the medium archaeological potential of the site.

Policy OB/E/3 Ollerton & Boughton – Employment Site 3

Land to the south of Boughton Industrial Estate has been allocated on the Policies Map for employment development.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- The incorporation of suitable access to the adjoining Boughton Industrial Estate South Policy Area as part of the design and layout of any planning application(s);
- <u>That as this allocation is within 400m of Sherwood Forest ppSPA and has the potential</u> to provide functionally linked habitat for woodlark and nightjar and therefore should be <u>subject to the risk-based approach set out in Policy DM7 Biodiversity and Green</u> <u>Infrastructure should be followed.</u>
- The incorporation of satisfactory landscaping as part of the design and layout of any planning application(s) to minimise the impact of development on the <u>SINC</u> <u>Local Wildlife</u> <u>Site</u> which is located within and adjoining the industrial estate;
- No flood sensitive development should take place in areas identified as being within Flood Zones 2 and 3. A Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment will be required;
- Provision of a drainage strategy as part of any planning application to ensure that the development does not flood during low annual probability rainfall events or exacerbate the flood risk off-site;
- The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development to ensure that there is no detrimental impact in run-off into surrounding residential areas or the existing drainage regime; and
- The investigation of the potential impact arising from the legacy of former coal mining activities within Ollerton & Boughton and the implementation of any necessary mitigation measures.

Retail Allocations

Policy OB/DC/1 & OB/LC/1 Ollerton District Centre & Boughton Local Centre

To promote the strength of Ollerton & Boughton as a Service Centre, District and Local Centres have been defined on the Policies Map.

The future management of Ollerton District Centre will be provided for through the development and implementation of a District Centre Strategy. Development of retail and

other town centre uses within <u>and</u> beyond the District and Local Centres will be considered against the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM11 Retail and <u>Main</u> Town Centre Uses.

Policy OB/Re/1 Ollerton & Boughton – Retail Allocation 1

Land at Rufford Avenue has been allocated on the Policies Map for the development of retail and town centre uses.

Development of this site will be considered against the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM11 Retail and <u>Main</u> Town Centre Uses and appropriate contributions to infrastructure provision in the Developer Contributions SPD. Development should be of a size commensurate to the settlements retail definition as a District Centre.

This allocation is within 400m of Sherwood Forest ppSPA and the risk-based approach set out in Policy DM7 Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure should be followed.

Policy OB/Re/2 Ollerton & Boughton – Retail Allocation 2 – Site now completed

Land at Forest Road has been allocated on the Policies Map for the development of retail and towncentre uses.

Development of this site will be considered against the general policy requirements in the Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to DMPolicy 11 Retail and Town Centre Uses and appropriate contributions to infrastructure provision in the Developer Contributions SPD. Development should be of a size commensurate to the settlements retail definition as a District Centre.

Transport Allocations

Policy OB/Tr/1 Ollerton & Boughton – Transport Allocation 1

To allow for the potential reopening of the Dukeries railway line, a general area of search for a new station and car park has been identified on the Policies Map at Sherwood Energy Village in Ollerton.

Development on or around this site will not be permitted where it would prejudice this scheme coming forward.

Infrastructure

5.8 The <u>Amended Core Strategy (see Appendix D as reviewed and updated by the Annual Monitoring Report</u>) and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan set out the various requirements for infrastructure in Ollerton & Boughton. The District Council will work with infrastructure providers and where appropriate, adjoining local authorities to ensure the provision of these and other specific infrastructure required as a direct result of development. This will be achieved through the provisions of Policy DM3 'Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations', the Developer Contributions SPD and the Community Infrastructure Levy.

Open Green Spaces and Green Infrastructure

- 5.9 A number of open spaces sites requiring protection under <u>Policy</u> SP8 of the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy are shown on the Policies Map, <u>however</u>, all open spaces are protected <u>under Policy</u> <u>SP8</u>. The necessity for this protection is explained in the supporting <u>Open Space Assessment</u> <u>& Strategy</u> Green Space Strategy document.
- 5.10 The <u>Open Space Assessment & Strategy</u> Green Spaces Improvement Plans identifie<u>d</u>s the following additional open space requirements for Ollerton & Boughton:

Allotments	Additional provision required in Ollerton & Boughton New Provision required in Ollerton
Amenity Greenspace	Sufficient provision is currently available in in Ollerton & Boughton New Provision required in Boughton
Outdoor Sports Facilities	Green Space Improvement Plan identified a shortfall
Children and Young Persons Provision	Additional provision required in Ollerton & Boughton New Provision required in Boughton
Natural / Semi-Natural Greenspace	Sufficient provision is currently available in Ollerton & Boughton New Provision required in Boughton
Parks & Gardens	Additional provision required in Ollerton & Boughton

Table <u>57 -</u> Ollerton & Boughton Open Space Requirements

5.11 These requirements will need to be delivered as part of the delivery of housing <u>allocations</u>, <u>planning permissions</u> and/or through the District/<u>Town/Parish</u> Council working with <u>their</u> its partners. <u>Development proposals should give consideration to the requirements above, and also the need to provide quality onsite open space on new developments. The availability of <u>open space in and around the locality of the proposal site and the impact of new development on existing open spaces will help inform these requirements. This will ensure that new development has access to good quality open space.</u></u>

- 5.12 <u>Outdoor sport facilities are not analysed as part of the Open Space Assessment & Strategy</u> as a different methodology in line with national guidance (Sport England) is prescribed and is contained in a separate standalone Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS). This document will be updated in due course is currently being updated and due to be published in Winter 2023/24. <u>Nevertheless, As as</u> part of the development of sites OB/MU/1 and OB/MU/2, the District Council will seek to deliver on site strategic sports facilities and strategic open space to enhance the existing provision of such facilities within Ollerton & Boughton.
- 5.13 The Green Infrastructure Issues for Ollerton & Boughton identified by the Green Infrastructure Strategy are focused on the protection and enhancement of existing networks and the creation of new strategic access routes to link the settlement to nearby employment and tourism centres and into the wider Green Infrastructure Network. The Green Infrastructure Strategy suggests that provision should be made for the following routes:
 - Northwest of the settlement linking the proposed County Council Multi-User Route to an existing route South of Budby. With the proposed line of the route taking in the Birklands & Bilhaugh SSSI, SINC Local Wildlife Site and a section of the northern SAC;
 - The proposed County Council Multi-User Route linking with an existing route to the north of the settlement; and
 - Protection and where appropriate enhancement of the existing route to the settlement from Edwinstowe; and.
 - The settlement is on the edge of the proposed heart of the Sherwood Forest Regional Park presenting opportunities to link into the proposed Regional Park and for the settlement to become a gateway to the wider park.

Urban Boundary

- 5.14 The Urban Boundary for Ollerton & Boughton, as shown on the Policies Map, has been amended to include: <u>remains unchanged.</u>
 - Existing housing, shopping, and other urban uses since the previous boundaries were drawn up for the Local Plan;
 - Proposed housing / employment / mixed use allocations; and
 - Any other small infill sites proposed



Edwinstowe

- 5.15 Edwinstowe is a Principal Village Service Centre with a centre containing its own day to day facilities. Edwinstowe is identified in <u>tThe</u> Amended Core Strategy <u>.</u> as a location where provision will be made for new housing to meet local housing need and support for employment to provide local jobs in order to secure the village's role as a sustainable community. allocates the former Thoresby Colliery as a strategic site for housing, employment and a community uses, as part of the regeneration strategy for Edwinstowe.
- 5.16 The Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of allocated sites identified that further housing development in Edwinstowe would most likely impact on the Birklands & Billhaugh Special Area of Conservation (SAC) by increasing recreational pressure on it. It recommends that this could be most appropriately remedied by the provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Green Spaces (SANGS) <u>onsite and</u> within the surrounding area. <u>This approach has been reflected in this DPD.</u>
- 5.17 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy directs 27.5% of the District's housing growth to the Principal Village of Edwinstowe. This equates to a need to provide 283660 dwellings in this settlement between 200613 and 202633. Previous completions and committed developments will all contribute towards the achievement of this target. There is however a residual requirement for the A&DM DPD to identify sites that are capable of delivering 121 new dwellings in Edwinstowe. There is also a requirement to allocate up to 1.56 16.2 hectares of employment land across the Sherwood Area and sufficient land has been completed or has the benefit of planning permission to meet this requirement. This review updates the position of the allocations at April 20223. Whilst some of the allocations are retained unless all of the site is complete.

Housing Allocations

Policy Ed/Ho/1 Edwinstowe - Housing Site 1 – Development now completed

Land to the east of Rufford Road and north of Mansfield Road has been allocated on the PoliciesMap for residential development providing around 72 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the Core Strategy and the DevelopmentManagement Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on the site will be subject to the following:

- Public open space within the site or at alternative locations within the village, provided in accordance with Policy DM3, Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, which shallbe designed to reflect the need to provide SANGS to relieve pressure on the Birklands & Billhaugh SAC;
- Appropriate design which addresses the site's gateway location and manages the transitioninto the main built up area; and
- Developer funded localised sewer capacity improvements as required.

Policy Ed/Ho/2 Edwinstowe - Housing Site 2

Land to the north of Mansfield Road has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing around 50 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on the site will be subject to the following:

- Public open space within the site or at alternative locations within <u>the area</u> the village, provided in accordance with Policy DM3, Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, which shall be designed to reflect the need to provide SANGS to relieve <u>recreational</u> pressure on the Birklands & Billhaugh SAC <u>in line with Policy DM7</u>;
- Appropriate design which addresses the site's gateway location and manages the transition into the main built-up area. In order to protect the setting of the Sherwood Forest Country Park, appropriate buffering in accordance with the landscape character of the area should be included within the northern part of the site;
- Developer funded localised sewer capacity improvements as required; and
- Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post-determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required to reflect the medium archaeological potential of the site.

Retail

Policy Ed/DC/1 Edwinstowe - District Centre

To promote the strength of Edwinstowe as a Principal Village <u>Service Centre</u>, a District Centre has been defined on the Policies Map.

Development of retail and other town centre uses within the District Centre will be considered against the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to DM Policy 11 Retail and <u>Main</u> Town Centre Uses.

Policy Ed/VC/1 Edwinstowe - Sherwood Forest Visitor Centre <u>– Visitor Centre</u> Completed

The District Council will, in line with Sherwood Area Policy 1, work closely with Nottinghamshire County Council and local stakeholders to deliver a new Sherwood Forest Visitor Centre which will deliver both enhanced management of the Special Area of Conservation and an improved visitor experience. The development of a new visitor centre for Sherwood Forest on land to the east of Church Street, as identified on the Policies Map, will be supported in principle.

Assessment of detailed proposals including their impact on the Special Area of Conservation will be made in accordance with the relevant Core and Development Management Policies.

Transport

Policy Ed/St/1 Edwinstowe - Rail Station

To allow for the potential reopening of the Dukeries railway line, land has been allocated on the Policies Map for a station and associated infrastructure.

Development on or adjacent to this site that may prejudice the implementation of this proposal will be resisted.

Open Green Spaces and Green Infrastructure

- 5.18 <u>A number of open spaces requiring protection under Policy SP8 of the Amended Core</u> Strategy are shown on the Policies Map, however, all open spaces are protected under Policy SP8. The necessity for this protection is explained in the supporting Open Space Assessment & Strategy document. The Public Open Space and School Playing Fields and Sports Ground identified on the Policies Map will be protected by Spatial Policy 8 Protecting and Promoting Leisure and Community Facilities. Development proposals that would result in the loss of any such spaces will be assessed against the criteria of Policy SP8.
- 5.19 <u>The Open Space Assessment & Strategy identifies the following additional open space</u> <u>requirements in Edwinstowe:</u>

Table 8 Edwinstowe Open Space Requirements

<u>Allotments</u>	Additional provision required in Edwinstowe
Amenity Greenspace	Quantity requirement currently being met in Edwinstowe

Children and Young Persons Provision	Additional provision required in Edwinstowe
Natural/Semi-Natural Greenspace	Quantity requirement currently being met in Edwinstowe

- 5.20 <u>These requirements will need to be delivered as part of the delivery of housing allocations,</u> <u>planning permissions and/or through the District/Town/Parish Council working with their</u> <u>partners. Development proposals should give consideration to the requirements above, and</u> <u>also the need to provide quality onsite open space on new developments. The availability of</u> <u>open space in and around the locality of the proposal site and the impact of new</u> <u>development on existing open spaces will help inform these requirements. This will ensure</u> <u>that new development has access to good quality open space.</u>
- 5.21 Outdoor sports facilities are not analysed as part of the Open Space Assessment & Strategy as a different methodology in line with national guidance (Sport England) is prescribed and is contained in a separate standalone Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS). This document will be updated in due course is currently being updated and due to be published in Winter 2023/24.

Main Open Areas

Policy Ed/MOA Edwinstowe - Main Open Areas

Main Open Areas represent those areas of predominantly open land within Edwinstowe that play an important part in defining its form and structure.

Within land allocated on the Policies Map as Main Open Areas, planning permission will not normally be granted for built development.

Infrastructure

5.22 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy (<u>see</u> Appendix D, as reviewed and updated by the Annual Monitoring Report) and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan set out the various requirements for infrastructure in Edwinstowe. The District Council will work with infrastructure providers and where appropriate, adjoining local authorities to ensure the provision of these and other specific infrastructure required as a direct result of development. This will be achieved through the provisions of Policy DM3 'Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations', the Developer Contributions SPD and the Community Infrastructure Levy.

Village EnvelopeUrban Boundary

5.23 The village envelope <u>became an urban boundary and has been was</u> extended <u>as part of the</u> <u>Amended Core Strategy process</u> to include the <u>Strategic Site</u> allocated <u>at Thoresby</u> <u>Colliery.</u>housing sites defined above and development that has taken place since the previous boundaries were drawn up for the Local Plan.



© Crown Copyright and database right 2023 Ordnance Survey. Licence 100022288. Scale: 1:10,000 Date: 24/08/2023 Author: emmar/

Bilsthorpe

5.24 Bilsthorpe is a Principal Village within the Sherwood Area. It is identified in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy as a location where the Council will seek to secure new employment opportunities, the regeneration of vacant land and the provision of new housing in order to support the regeneration of the village.

Housing Allocations

5.25 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy directs 2.53% of the District's housing growth to the Principal Village of Bilsthorpe. This equates to a need to provide 354264 dwellings in this settlement between 200613 and 202633. Previous completions and committed developments will all contribute towards the achievement of this target. There is however a residual requirement for the A&DM DPD to identify sites that are capable of delivering 147 new dwellings in Bilsthorpe. Whilst some of the allocations have the benefit of planning permission and may be under construction, the allocations are retained unless all of the site is complete.

Land to the north of Kirklington Road has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing around 20 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on the site will be subject to the following:

- Appropriate design which addresses the sites gateway location and manages the transitioninto the main built-up area; and
- Phasing of development in relation to the cessation of the employment use on the adjacent site and the implementation of the planning permission for its residential development <u>adjacent</u>.

Policy Bi/Ho/2 Bilsthorpe - Housing Site 2

Land to the east of Ho PP and north of Wycar Leys <u>north of Kirklington Road</u> has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing around 55-<u>136</u> dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on the site will be subject to the following:

• Appropriate design which addresses the site's gateway location and manages the transition into the main built up area; and

- Public open space within the site or at alternative locations within the area, provided in accordance with Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations shall be designed to reflect the need to provide SANGS to relieve recreational pressure on the Birklands & Billhaugh SAC in line with Policy DM7; and
- Phasing of development in relation to the cessation of the employment use on the adjacent site and the implementation of the planning permission for its residential development Proposals will need to demonstrate that any identified mineral resource is not needlessly sterilised and where this cannot be demonstrated, prior extraction may be sought where practical.

Mixed Use Allocation

Policy Bi/MU/1 Bilsthorpe - Mixed Use Site 1

Land to the east of Eakring Road has been allocated on the Policies Map for mixed use development providing around 75 dwellings and retail development

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on the site will be subject to the following:

- Appropriate design which addresses the site's gateway location and manages the transition into the main built up area;
- Public open space within the site or at alternative locations within the area, provided in accordance with Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations shall be designed to reflect the need to provide SANGS to relieve recreational pressure on the Birklands & Billhaugh SAC in line with Policy DM7;
- Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post-determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required;
- Appropriate phasing of retail and residential uses.

Employment

Policy Bi/E/1 Bilsthorpe - Employment Site 1

2.69 hectares of land on the southern side of Brailwood Road have been allocated on the Policies Map for employment development.

Development proposals on the site will be required to address the general policy

requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular referenceto Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, <u>Policy DM5(b) regarding flood risk</u>, and make appropriate contributions to infrastructure provision in accordance with the Developer Contributions SPD.

Policy Bi/E/2 Bilsthorpe - Employment Site 2 – Development now completed

0.35 hectares of land on the northern side of Brailwood Road have been allocated on the PoliciesMap for employment development.

Development proposals on the site will be required to address the general policy requirements in the Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, and make appropriate contributions to infrastructure provision in accordance with the Developer Contributions SPD.

Phasing

Policy Bi/Ph/1 Bilsthorpe - Phasing Policy

In Bilsthorpe the following sites will include phasing within any Master Plan to accompany any planning application(s):

- Bi/Ho/1
- Bi/Ho/2
- Bi/Mu/1

Phasing in all cases must be appropriate to the size of the development, reflect on site and infrastructure provision and constraints and not be unviable for the developer to implement.

Retail

Policy Bi/LC/1 Bilsthorpe - Local Centres

To promote the strength of Bilsthorpe as a Principal Village, 2 Local Centres have been defined on the Policies Map.

Development of retail and other town centre uses within the Local Centres will be considered against the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to DM Policy 11 Retail and <u>Main</u> Town Centre Uses.

Open Green Spaces and Green Infrastructure

- 5.26 <u>A number of open spaces requiring protection under Policy SP8 of the Amended Core</u> <u>Strategy are shown on the Policies Map, however, all open spaces are protected under Policy</u> <u>SP8. The necessity for this protection is explained in the supporting Open Space Assessment</u> <u>& Strategy document.</u> <u>The Public Open Space and School Playing Fields identified on the</u> <u>Policies Map will be protected by Spatial Policy 8 – Protecting and Promoting Leisure and</u> <u>Community Facilities. Development proposals that would result in the loss of any such</u> <u>spaces will be assessed against the criteria of Policy SP8. The provision of additional</u> <u>allotments within the settlement will also be sought through developer contributions over</u> <u>the plan period.</u>
- 5.27 <u>The Open Space Assessment & Strategy identifies the following additional open space</u> requirements for Bilsthorpe:

Table 9 - Bilsthorpe Open Space Requirements

Allotments	Additional provision required in Bilsthorpe
Amenity Greenspace	Additional provision required in Bilsthorpe
Children and Young Persons Provision	Additional provision in required in Bilsthorpe
Natural/Semi-Natural Greenspace	Quantity requirement currently being met in Bilsthorpe

- 5.28 These requirements will need to be delivered as part of the delivery of housing allocations, planning permissions and/or through the District/Town/Parish Council working with their partners. Development proposals should give consideration to the requirements above, and also the need to provide quality onsite open space on new developments. The availability of open space in and around the locality of the proposal site and the impact of new development on existing open spaces will help inform these requirements. This will ensure that new development has access to good quality open space.
- 5.29 Outdoor sport facilities are not analysed as part of the Open Space Assessment & Strategy as a different methodology in line with national guidance (Sport England) is prescribed and is contained in a separate standalone Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS). This document will be updated in due course is currently being updated and due to be published in Winter 2023/24.

Infrastructure

5.30 The <u>Amended Core Strategy (see Appendix D, as reviewed and updated by the Annual</u> <u>Monitoring Report</u>) and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan set out the various requirements for infrastructure in Bilsthorpe. The District Council will work with infrastructure providers and where appropriate, adjoining local authorities to ensure the provision of these and other specific infrastructure required as a direct result of development. This will be achieved through the provisions of Policy DM3 'Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations', the Developer Contributions SPD and the Community Infrastructure Levy.

Village Envelope

5.31 The village envelope has been extended amended to include the allocated development under construction at Oldbridge Way, completed development elsewhere in the village sites defined above and development that has taken place since the previous boundaries were drawn up for the Local Plan and to also remove site Bi/Ho/1.



© Crown Copyright and database right 2023 Ordnance Survey. Licence 100022288. Scale: 1:7,000 Date: 24/08/2023 Author: emmar/

6.0 Mansfield Fringe Area

- 6.1 The Mansfield Fringe Area covers the western part of the district and is closely related to the Mansfield Sub-Regional Centre, in terms of jobs, public transport and other facilities. Within the Mansfield Fringe Area, Rainworth is recognised as a Service Centre and has a range of shops and a secondary school which serves part of the Sherwood Area and the southern part of the Mansfield Fringe. Clipstone is an important service centre in the area with a range of local services including shops and a secondary school, which lies just outside the District and Blidworth is a Principal Village within the Mansfield Fringe Area. Whilst Rainworth, Blidworth and Clipstone are all self-sufficient for daily needs, they are closely linked to Mansfield and look to it for all major services.
- 6.2 The main settlements of the Mansfield Fringe Area grew as a result of the rapid exploitation of coal reserves. However since the 1970s the area has seen major industrial change and large scale job losses and the Mansfield Fringe Area has some of the highest <u>deprivation</u> <u>unemployment</u> levels in the District (Clipstone) and relatively high levels of long term <u>unemployment</u> (Rainworth, Blidworth). Allocations for development have been made in Rainworth, Clipstone and Blidworth. <u>The District Council will work collaboratively with</u> <u>Mansfield District Council where appropriate</u>.

Public Open Space

6.3 Beyond the settlements where development is being allocated protection for important land and Public Open Space is still required. Public Open Space and other forms of recreation land (including school playing fields) can be found in settlements across the area, whilst not all are defined on the Policies Map they are all protected by virtue of Spatial Policy 8 of the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy. Loss of such facilities will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated that it is no longer feasible to provide, or that there is sufficient alternative provision elsewhere of similar or better quality.

Rainworth

- 6.4 Rainworth is a Service Centre which has a range of shops and a secondary school that serves part of the Sherwood Area and the southern part of the Mansfield Fringe. Rainworth is also well related to Mansfield Sub-Regional Centre with its jobs and facilities
- 6.5 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy directs 3% of the District's housing growth to the Service Centre of Rainworth. This equates to a need to provide 425264 dwellings in this settlement between 200613 and 202633. Previous completions and committed developments will all contribute towards the achievement of this target. There is however a residual requirement for the A&DM DPD to identify sites that are capable of delivering 247 new dwellings in Rainworth. It also identifies a guideline requirement of between 10.4 and 11 hectares of new employment land in the Mansfield Fringe Area during the plan period. Nevertheless, due to a reduction in the amount of land committed for employment use, the Council's latest monitoring figures indicate that there is a residual requirement for the A&DM DPD to allocate up to 17.54 hectares across the Mansfield Fringe Area. Sufficient land has been completed or has the benefit of planning permission to meet the employment requirements in the Mansfield Fringe Area. Whilst some of the allocations have the benefit of planning permission and may be under construction, the allocations are retained unless all of the site is complete.

Housing Allocations

Policy Ra/Ho/1 Rainworth - Housing Site 1 - Development now completed

Land North of Top Street has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential developmentproviding around 54 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the Core Strategy and the DevelopmentManagement Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on the site will be subject to the following:

- Preparation of an appropriate Transport Assessment as part of any planning application to identify the impact of the development on the highway network and the provision of appropriatemitigating measures;
- The provision of off street car parking for existing residents of Top Street as part of the designand layout of any planning application to address the issue of on street parking in this location;
- The incorporation of footpaths within the layout of development that link to other areas of Rainworth and the adjoining allotments;
- Provision of suitable screening between the residential development and the allotments aspart of the design and layout of any planning application;
- Developer funded improvements to ensure sufficient capacity within the public foul sewersystem and wastewater treatment works to meet the needs of the development;
- The investigation of the potential impact arising from the legacy of former coal mining activities within Rainworth and the implementation of any necessary mitigation measures; and
- The investigation of potential archaeology on the site and any necessary postdeterminationmitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent.

Policy Ra/Ho/2 Rainworth - Housing Site 2

Land to the East of Warsop Lane has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential developmentproviding around 190 dwellings. Consequently this site has been removed from the Nottingham Derby Green Belt.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on the site will be subject to the following:

- The preparation of a comprehensive Master Plan for the whole of the site setting out the broad location for development on the site and the phasing of new development. This should include appropriate design which addresses the sites gateway location and manages the transition into the main built-up area including the provision of strategic buffer landscaping to the south and west of the site to maintain a physical and visual break between Rainworth and Blidworth and to minimise the impact of development, reflect on site and infrastructure provision constraints and not be unviable for the developer to implement.
- Preparation of an appropriate Transport Assessment as part of any planning application to identify the impact of the development on the highway network and the provision of appropriate mitigating measures;
- Main entrance to the site via Warsop Lane. Any secondary access should not be via existing estate roads to the north and east.
- The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development to ensure that there is no detrimental impact in run-off into surrounding residential areas or the existing drainage regime;
- Designed to incorporate new, enhanced strategic open space which shall form an addition to the existing Preston Road facilities to the north of site and be provided commensurate with all phases of the sites development;
- Developer funded improvements to ensure sufficient capacity within the public foul sewer system and wastewater treatment works to meet the needs of the development;
- The investigation of the potential impact arising from the legacy of former coal mining activities within Rainworth and the implementation of any necessary mitigation measures; and
- The investigation of potential archaeology on the site and any necessary postdetermination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent.

Mixed Use Allocations

Policy Ra/MU/1 Rainworth - Mixed Use Site 1

Land at Kirklington Road has been allocated on the Policies Map for mixed use development. The site will accommodate around 6 dwellings and retail and town centre uses.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on the site will be subject to the following:
- No built development taking place on the part of the site covered by the SINC which shall beretained as a landscape buffer;
- Preparation of an appropriate Transport Assessment as part of any planning application to identify the impact of the development on the highway network and the provision of appropriate mitigating measures;
- Entrance being via Colliery Lane which will require access to Third Party land;
- The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development to ensure that there is no detrimental impact in run-off into surrounding residential areas or the existing drainage regime;
- Provision of a drainage strategy as part of any planning application to ensure that the development does not flood during low annual probability rainfall events or exacerbate the flood risk off-site;
- No flood sensitive development should take place in areas identified as being within Flood Zone 2;
- Developer funded improvements to ensure sufficient capacity within the public foul sewer system and <u>wastewater treatment</u> works to meet the needs of the development;
- The investigation of the potential impact arising from the legacy of former coal mining activities within Rainworth and the implementation of any necessary mitigation measures; and
- Appropriate phasing of residential, retail and town centre uses.

The Allocation site is within the 8.9 km zone of influence of the Birklands & Billhaugh SAC, development proposal should reflect the requirement to relieve recreational pressure on the Birklands & Billhaugh SAC as set out in Policy DM7 Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure.

This allocation is within 400m of Sherwood Forest ppSPA and the risk-based approach set out in Policy DM7 should be followed.

Employment Allocations

Policy Ra/E/1 Rainworth - Employment Site 1

Land West of Colliery Lane has been allocated on the Policies Map for Employment Development. The site is 5.5ha in size and $\frac{B1}{B2}/B8/E(g)$ is appropriate.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- The provision of suitable vehicular access from the A617 Rainworth bypass as part of the design and layout of any planning application;
- No flood sensitive development should take place in areas identified as being within Flood Zones 2 and 3. A Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment will be required;
- The provision of suitable pedestrian access from the site to the village taking account of known flood risk constraints as part of the design and layout of any planning application;
- Provision of a drainage strategy as part of any planning application to ensure that the development does not flood during low annual probability rainfall events or exacerbate the flood risk off-site;
- The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development to ensure that there is no detrimental impact in run-off into surrounding residential areas or the existing drainage regime;
- Developer funded improvements to ensure sufficient capacity within the public foul sewer system and wastewater treatment works to meet the needs of the development;
- <u>That as this allocation is within 400m of Sherwood Forest ppSPA, the risk based approach</u> <u>set out in Policy DM7 Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure should be followed.</u>
- The incorporation of satisfactory buffer landscaping to minimise the impact of development on <u>Local Wildlife Sites</u> SINC's which are located both within adjoining the site; and
- The investigation of the potential impact arising from the legacy of former coal mining activities within Rainworth and the implementation of any necessary mitigation measures.

Retail

Policy Ra/<u>**DLC</u>**/1 Rainworth – District <u>Local</u> Centre Boundary</u>

To promote the strength of Rainworth as a Service Centre and support its regeneration, a District Local Centre has been defined on the Policies Map.

Development of retail and other town centre uses within the District Centre will be considered against general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to DM Policy 11 Retail and <u>Main</u> Town Centre Uses.

Infrastructure

6.6 The <u>Amended Core Strategy (see Appendix D, as reviewed and updated by the Annual</u> <u>Monitoring Report</u>) and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan set out the various requirements for infrastructure in Rainworth. The District Council will work with infrastructure providers and where appropriate, adjoining local authorities to ensure the provision of these and other specific infrastructure required as a direct result of development. This will be achieved through the provisions of Policy DM3 'Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations', the Developer Contributions SPD and the Community Infrastructure Levy.

Open Green Spaces and Green Infrastructure

- 6.7 A number of open spaces in Rainworth requiring protection under <u>Policy</u> SP8 of the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy are shown on the Policies Map, <u>however</u>, <u>all open spaces are</u> <u>protected under Policy SP8</u>. The necessity for this protection is explained in the supporting <u>Open Space Assessment & Strategy Green Spaces Strategy</u> document.
- 6.8 The <u>Open Space Assessment & Strategy Green Spaces Improvement Plans</u> identifies the following additional open space requirements for Rainworth:

Allotments	Additional provision required in Rainworth Need
	to identify for future use
Amenity Greenspace	Quantity requirement currently being met in
	Rainworth
Children and Young Persons Provision	Additional provision required in Rainworth New
	provision recommended in long term
Natural/Semi-Natural Greenspace	Additional provision required in Rainworth

Table 610 Rainworth Open Space Requirements

- 6.9 These requirements will <u>need to</u> be delivered <u>as part of the delivery of housing allocations</u>, <u>planning permissions and/or</u> through the District/<u>Town/Parish</u> Council working with <u>their</u> its partners and / or as part of the delivery of housing allocations. <u>Development proposals</u> <u>should give consideration to the requirements above, and also the need to provide quality</u> <u>onsite open space on new developments</u>. The availability of open space in and around the <u>locality of the proposal site</u> and the impact of new development on existing open spaces will help inform these requirements. This will ensure that new development has access to good quality open space.
- 6.10 Outdoor sport facilities are not analysed as part of the Open Space Assessment & Strategy as a different methodology in line with national guidance (Sport England) is prescribed and is contained in a separate standalone Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS). This document will be updated in due course is currently being updated and due to be published in Winter 2023/24.
- 6.11 The Green Infrastructure issues for Rainworth identified by the Green Infrastructure Strategy are focused on the protection and enhancement of existing networks and the creation of new strategic access routes to link the settlement to nearby employment and tourism centres and to the wider Green Infrastructure Network. The Green Infrastructure Strategy suggests that provision should be made for the following routes:

- The new Multi-User Routes connecting the settlement to Clipstone and Edwinstowe to the North, Mansfield to the West and Farnsfield and Southwell to the East (where there is the opportunity to utilise the derelict railway east of the settlement to connect with the Southwell Trail);
- Introduction of a new route south of the settlement linking it to Blidworth and the north of Nottingham; and
- Connect the accessible woodland, containing the Sustrans route, East of the settlement to the Sherwood Pines Forest Park in the north to form a corridor of semi natural habits from Sherwood to Burntstump Country Park north of Nottingham.

It is also recognised that there are opportunities to link the proposed Sherwood Forest Regional Park and for settlements to become gateways to the wider park.

Urban Boundary

- 6.12 The Urban Boundary for Rainworth <u>remains unchanged.</u>, as shown on the Policies Map, has been amended to include:
 - Existing housing, shopping and other urban areas built since the previous boundaries were drawn up for the Local Plan;
 - Proposed housing / employment / mixed use allocations; and
 - Any other small infill sites proposed.



Clipstone

- 6.13 Clipstone is a Service Centre with a range of local services including shops and a secondary school, which lies just outside the District, and which serve the community and a wider area. The centre of Clipstone also contains a major regeneration site, Clipstone Colliery, and the settlement is identified as an area that would benefit from regeneration.
- 6.14 The Core Strategy directs 67.5% of the District's housing growth to the Service Centre of Clipstone. This equates to a need to provide 850660 dwellings in this settlement between 200613 and 202633. Previous completions and committed developments will all contribute towards the achievement of this target. There is however a residual requirement for the A&DM DPD to identify sites that are capable of delivering 104 new dwellings in Clipstone. There is a requirement to allocate up to 17.54 10.4 hectares of employment land across the Mansfield Fringe Area, of which approximately 12 hectares will be accommodated in Clipstone.

Mixed Use Allocations

Policy Cl/MU/1 Clipstone – Mixed Use Site 1

Land at the former Clipstone Colliery has been allocated on the Policies Map for mixed use development. The site currently accommodates the Grade II listed headstocks and powerhouse to which national planning controls continue to apply in terms of their conservation. An options appraisal is currently under preparation to assess the future of this listed building. Assuming Including the retention of the headstocks and powerhouse, the site will accommodate around 120 dwellings, 12 hectares of employment provision, retail and enhanced Public Open Space. The retail element will be of a size and scale which helps facilitate the wider delivery of the scheme and may include a small supermarket and other complementary facilities to help to meet the needs of the site and the wider settlement.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- A Master Plan, forming part of any planning application(s) setting out the broad locations for the different types of development and their phasing, taking account of infrastructure provision, constraints and the need to ensure that the delivery of the range of uses is not prejudiced;
- Responding to the conclusions of the options appraisal for the future of the listed former colliery headstocks and powerhouse;
- The implementation of suitable measures to address legacy issues such as openings within the site which relate to its former use as a colliery;
- No residential flood sensitive development shall take place in areas identified as being within Flood Zones 2 & 3;

- The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development to ensure that there is no detrimental impact in run-off into surrounding residential areas or the existing drainage regime <u>and ensure that flood risk is not increased on-site or elsewhere</u>;
- Developer funded improvements to ensure sufficient capacity within the public foul sewer system and wastewater treatment works to meet the needs of the development;
- The incorporation of buffer landscaping as part of the design and layout of any planning application to minimise the impact of development on the adjoining SINC Local Wildlife Sites (which are both within and adjacent to the site) and Vicar Water Country Park;
- <u>That as this allocation is within 400m of Sherwood Forest ppSPA, it has the potential to provide functionally linked habitat for woodlark and nightjar and therefore should be subject to the risk based approach set out in Policy DM7 Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure should be followed;</u> and
- Green Infrastructure provision through the partial restoration of the site and connections to the Sherwood Forest Pines Park, Vicar Water Country Park and Sustrans Route 6 through the design and layout of any planning application. Green Infrastructure and public open space shall be designed to reflect the need to provide SANGS to relieve recreational pressure on the Birklands & Billhaugh SAC in line with Policy DM7.

Retail

Policy Cl/LC/1 Clipstone – Local Centre Boundary

To promote the strength of Clipstone as a Service Centre and support its regeneration, a Local Centre has been defined on the Policies Map.

Development of retail and other town centre uses within the Local Centre will be considered against general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to DM Policy 11 Retail and <u>Main</u> Town Centre Uses.

Infrastructure

6.15 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy (<u>see</u> Appendix D, as reviewed and updated by the Annual Monitoring Report) and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan set out the various requirements for infrastructure in Clipstone. The District Council will work with infrastructure providers and where appropriate, adjoining local authorities to ensure the provision of these and other specific infrastructure required as a direct result of development. This will be achieved through the provisions of Policy DM3 'Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations', the Developer Contributions <u>& Planning Obligations</u> SPD and the Community Infrastructure Levy.

Open Green Spaces and Green Infrastructure

6.16 A number of open spaces sites in Clipstone requiring protection under <u>Policy</u> SP8 of the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy are shown on the Policies Map, <u>however</u>, all open spaces are <u>protected under Policy SP8</u>. The necessity for this protection is explained in the supporting <u>Open Space Assessment & Strategy Green Space Strategy</u> document.

Based on the assessment of open space requirements in the Green Spaces Improvement Plans, it is considered that there are no significant requirements to identify new open space in Clipstone. The Open Space Assessment & Strategy identifies the following additional open space requirements for Clipstone:

Table 11 - Clipstone Open Space Requirements

Allotments	Quantity requirements currently being met in <u>Clipstone</u>
Amenity Greenspace	Quantity requirements currently being met in <u>Clipstone</u>
Children and Young Persons Provision	Additional provision required in Clipstone
Natural/Semi-Natural Greenspace	Quantity requirements currently being met in <u>Clipstone</u>

- 6.17 These requirements will need to be delivered as part of the delivery of housing allocations, planning permissions and/or through the District/Town/Parish Council working with their partners. Development proposals should give consideration to the requirements above, and also the need to provide quality onsite open space on new developments. The availability of open space in and around the locality of the proposal site and the impact of new development on existing open spaces will help inform these requirements. This will ensure that new development has access to good quality open space.
- 6.18 Outdoor sport facilities are not analysed as part of the Open Space Assessment & Strategy as a different methodology in line with national guidance (Sport England) is prescribed and is contained in a separate standalone Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS). This document will be updated in due course is currently being updated and due to be published in Winter 2023/24.
- 6.19 The Green Infrastructure issues identified for Clipstone by the Green Infrastructure Strategy are focused on the protection and enhancement of existing networks and the creation of new strategicaccess routes to link the settlement to nearby employment and tourism centres and into the wider Green Infrastructure Network. The Green Infrastructure Strategy suggests that the focus should be on the connection of the settlement to the Maun Valley and Sherwood Forest Pines Park and also recommends that provision should be made for the following routes:
 - <u>Link between the proposed County Council Multi-User Route and Maun Valley to the</u> <u>North of the Settlement;</u>

• <u>Between the section of the proposed County Council Multi-User Route to the South of</u> <u>the settlement and the existing route close to Forest Town connecting Vicar Water</u> <u>Country Park and the Mansfield Colliery Railway SINC.</u>

In addition, Clipstone is located on the edge of Sherwood Forest Regional Park and for the settlementto become a gateway into the wider park.

Urban Boundary

- 6.20 The Urban Boundary for Clipstone, <u>remains unchanged</u>. as shown on the Policies Map, has been amended to include:
 - Existing housing, shopping and other urban uses built since the previous boundaries weredrawn up for the Local Plan;
 - The proposed housing / employment / mixed use allocation; and
 - Any other small infill sites proposed



Blidworth

6.21 Blidworth is a Principal Village within the Mansfield Fringe Area. It is identified in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy as a settlement that would benefit from regeneration. As with other settlements in the Mansfield Fringe Area, whilst self-sufficient for daily needs, Blidworth is closely linked to Mansfield and looks to it for all major services.

Spatial Policy 4A of the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy, Extent of the Green Belt, requires small scale reviews of the Nottingham – Derby Green Belt in Blidworth, Lowdham and Rainworth in order to meet housingrequirements. It also sets out the criteria which will be used in undertaking these reviews.

Housing Allocations

6.22 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy directs 2.5% of the District's housing growth to the Principal Village of Blidworth. This equates to a need to provide 354176 dwellings in this settlement between 200613 and 202633. Previous completions and committed developments will all contribute towards the achievement of this target. There is however a residual requirement for the A&DM DPD to identify sites that are capable of delivering 299 33 32 new dwellings in Blidworth. This review updates the position of the allocations at April 20223. Whilst some of the allocations have the benefit of planning permission and may be under construction, the allocations are retained unless all of the site is complete.

Policy Bl/Ho/1 Blidworth - Housing Site 1

Land at Dale Lane has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing around 55 dwellings. Consequently this site is no longer part of the Nottingham Derby Green Belt.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development to ensure that there is no detrimental impact in run-off into surrounding residential areas or the existing drainage regime.
- That as this allocation is within 400m of Sherwood Forest ppSPA, and the risk based approach set out in Policy DM7 Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure should be followed.
- Appropriate design which addresses the site's gateway location and manages the transition into the main built-up area. To support this approach landscape buffering will be required along the eastern edge of the allocation; and
- Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application and post-determination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent are likely to be required.

Policy Bl/Ho/2 Blidworth - Housing Site 2 - Development now completed

Land at Belle Vue Lane has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providingaround 10 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- Appropriate screening from the adjacent Blidworth Industrial Park as part of the design andlayout of any planning application; and
- The investigation of potential archaeology on the site and any necessary postdeterminationmitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent.

Policy Bl/Ho/3 Blidworth - Housing Site 3

Land south of New Lane has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential development providing up to a maximum of $\frac{100 \text{ } 81}{100 \text{ } 81}$ dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

- Preparation of a Transport Assessment as part of any planning application to identify the impact of the development on the highway network. This assessment should specifically include the impact on New Lane and the New Lane and Mansfield Road Junction and the provision of appropriate mitigating measures;
- The preparation of a Master Plan, forming part of any planning application(s) setting the broadlocation of new development on the site, and the phasing of new development and the details of an appropriate landscaping scheme which seeks to retain and enhance boundary treatments, with particular emphasis on the southern boundary with the Blidworth Conservation Area. Phasing in all cases must be appropriate to the size of the development, reflect on site and infrastructure provision constraints and not be unviable for the developer to implement;
- The positive management of surface water through the design and layout of development to ensure that there is no detrimental impact in run-off into surrounding residential areas or the existing drainage regime;
- The investigation of the potential impact arising from the legacy of former coal mining activities within Blidworth and the implementation of any necessary mitigation measures; and
- The investigation of potential archaeology on the site and any necessary postdetermination mitigation measures secured by condition on any planning consent.

Policy Bl/Ho/4 Blidworth - Housing Site 4 – De-allocated

Land at Dale Lane Allotments has been allocated on the Policies Map for residential developmentproviding around 45 dwellings.

In addition to the general policy requirements in the Core Strategy and the Development ManagementPolicies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations, development on this site will be subject to the following:

• This site will not be available for development until the replacement allotment provision is made for Blidworth.

As a result of undertaking the small scale review of the Green Belt, in accordance with the criteria set out in Spatial Policy 4A, it is not possible to accommodate the amount of housing development as required by the Core Strategy and allocations have been made for 210 dwellings. The requirements for growth will be met elsewhere in the District as set out in the Introduction to this DPD.

Employment

6.23 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy sets out the amount of employment land to be provided in Newark and Sherwood and how this should be distributed across the District. It identifies a guideline requirement of between 10 and 11 <u>10.4</u> hectares of new employment land in the Mansfield Fringe Area during the plan period. Nevertheless, due to a reduction in the amount of land committed for employment use, the Council's latest monitoring figures indicate that there is a residual requirement for the A&DM DPD to allocate up to 17.54 hectares across the Mansfield Fringe Area, of which 1 hectare will be in Blidworth. <u>Sufficient land has been completed or</u> has the benefit of planning permission to meet the employment requirements in the <u>Mansfield Fringe Area</u>.

Policy Bl/E/1 Blidworth - Employment Site 1

Land on Blidworth Industrial Park has been allocated on the Policies Map for employment development. The allocation is in two parcels a total of 0.33 1 hectare in size.

Development Proposals will be assessed against the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to Policy DM2 Allocated Sites, and Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations and Policy DM5(b) Design regarding flood risk.

Policy Bl/LC/1 Blidworth Local Centre

To promote the strength of Blidworth as a Principal Village and support its regeneration, a Local Centre has been defined on the Policies Map.

Development of retail and other town centre uses within the Local Centre will be considered against the general policy requirements in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7, with particular reference to DM Policy 11 Retail and <u>Main</u> Town Centre Uses.

Infrastructure

6.24 The <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy (<u>see</u> Appendix D, <u>as reviewed and updated by the Annual</u> <u>Monitoring Report</u>) and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan set out the various requirements for infrastructure in Blidworth. The District Council will work with infrastructure providers and where appropriate, adjoining localauthorities to ensure the provision of these and other specific infrastructure required as a direct result of development. This will be achieved through the provisions of Policy DM3 'Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations', the Developer Contributions <u>& Planning Obligations</u> SPD and the Community Infrastructure Levy.

Open Green Spaces and Green Infrastructure

- 6.25 A number of open spaces sites in Blidworth requiring protection under <u>Policy</u> SP8 of the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy are shown on the Policies Map, <u>however</u>, all open spaces are <u>protected under Policy SP8</u>. This includes a number of open space sites which are located within the Nottingham Derby Green Belt. The necessity for this protection is explained in the supporting <u>Open Space Assessment & Strategy</u> Green Space Strategy document. A number of other areas of open space sites are located within the Nottingham Derby Green Belt, and whilst not annotated as protected by virtue of the policy and the Green Belt are fully protected.
- 6.26 The <u>Open Space Assessment & Strategy</u> Green Spaces Improvement Plans <u>identifiesd</u> the following additional open space requirements for Blidworth:

Allotments	Quantity requirements currently being met in
	<u>Blidworth</u>
Amenity Greenspace	Quantity requirements currently being met in
	<u>Blidworth</u>
Children and Young Persons Provision	Additional provision required in Blidworth New
	provision required
Natural/Semi-Natural Greenspace	Quantity requirements currently being met in
	<u>Blidworth</u>

Table 12 - Blidworth Open Space Requirements

- 6.27 These requirements will <u>need to</u> be delivered <u>as part of the delivery of housing allocations</u>, <u>planning permissions and/or</u> through the District/Town/Parish Council working with <u>their</u> its partners and / or as part of the delivery of housing allocations. Furthermore as part of the delivery of housing allocations. Furthermore as part of the development of Bl/Ho/4 re provision of allotments within the village will be required. Development proposals should give consideration to the requirements above, and also the need to provide quality onsite open space on new developments. The availability of open space in and around the locality of the proposal site and the impact of new development on existing open spaces will help inform these requirements. This will ensure that new development has access to good quality open space.
- NP <u>Outdoor sport facilities are not analysed as part of the Open Space Assessment & Strategy</u> as a different methodology in line with national guidance (Sport England) is prescribed and is contained in a separate standalone Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS). This document is currently being updated and due to be published in Winter 2023/24.
- 6.28 The Green Infrastructure issues identified for Blidworth by the Green Infrastructure Strategy are focussed on the protection and enhancement of existing networks and the creation of new strategic access routes to link the settlement to nearby employment and tourism centres and into the wider Green Infrastructure Network. The Green Infrastructure Strategy suggests that provision should be made for the following routes:
 - 1. Creation of a new route linking the settlement with the proposed Nottinghamshire County Council Multi-User route at Rainworth to provide for connections to Mansfield.
 - 2. Connect the accessible woodland, containing the Sustrans route, East of the settlement to the Sherwood Pines Forest Park in the north to form a corridor of seminatural habitats from Sherwood to the Burntstump Country Park north of Nottingham.

There are also opportunities to link into the proposed Sherwood Forest Regional Park and for settlements to become gateways to the wider park.

Village Envelope

6.29 The village envelope for Blidworth-has been extended to include housing allocation Bl/Ho/1 defined above. As a consequence of this housing allocation Bl/Ho/1 is no longer included within the Nottingham – Derby Green Belt remains unchanged.



7.0 Development Management Policies

Introduction

7.1 The following Development Management Policies have been designed to complement the Spatial, Core and Area Policies of the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy to provide a suite of polices with which to assess all development proposals on both allocated and unallocated sites. The principle of development will be established by reference to the policies of the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and detailed proposals will be assessed by reference to the relevant Development Management Policies. All policies are mutually inclusive and development proposals will need to satisfy all those that are relevant. Where there is a need for reference to other policy or guidance, this is made clear within the justification.

Policy Area: Agenda for Managing Growth

Policy DM1 Development within Settlements Central to Delivering the Spatial Strategy

Within the Urban Boundaries of the Sub-Regional Centre and Service Centres and the Village Envelopes of the Principal Villages, as defined on the Policies Map, proposals will be supported for housing, employment, community, retail, cultural, leisure and tourism development appropriate to the size and location of the settlement, its status in the settlement hierarchy and in accordance with the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and other relevant Development Plan Documents.

Justification

7.2 Spatial policies 2 and 3 of the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy establish the settlement hierarchy for the district and the proportional distribution of growth within this. This policy facilitates its application to individual development proposals and will be used in conjunction with other relevant polices in their assessment. Urban Boundaries and Village Envelopes are facilitated by Spatial Policy 1 of the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy and defined on the Policies Map.

Policy DM2 Development on Allocated Sites

Within sites allocated in the <u>Amended</u> Allocations & Development Management Development Plan Document (<u>A</u>A&DM DPD), proposals will be supported for the intended use that comply with the relevant Core and Development Management Policies, the site-specific issues set out in the <u>A</u>A&DM DPD and make appropriate contributions to infrastructure provision in accordance with the <u>Council's latest</u>, most up to date evidence <u>Developer Contributions &</u> <u>Planning Obligations SPD</u>.

It is anticipated that allocated sites will be developed comprehensively with an accompanying site masterplan to reflect phasing and infrastructure provision. Where comprehensive development proposals cannot be prepared, proposals should be developed to ensure that

they do not prejudice the proper overall delivery of the whole allocation. Development proposals which prejudice proper overall delivery will be refused.

In addition to national and local submission requirements, proposals on allocated sites should be accompanied by transport, flood risk and other appropriate assessments sufficient to address the site-specific issues identified in the <u>A</u>A&DM DPD.

Development proposals within the <u>Newark</u> Strategic Sites <u>at Newark and Edwinstowe</u> will be assessed against Area Policies NAP 2A, 2B, & 2C, <u>ShAP4</u> and the other considerations set out above.

Justification

7.3 The <u>A</u>A&DM DPD allocates non-strategic sites for development in order to meet the level and distribution of planned growth set out in the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy. This policy enables and sets out the method of assessment for individual development proposals on those sites. <u>The policy also sets out the approach to the partial development of an allocation to ensure</u> <u>that the comprehensive development of the scheme is not prejudiced</u>. As development takes place over the plan period, consideration will be given to alternative forms of development on allocated sites where it can be shown that there is no longer a need for the intended use and the proposed use does not compromise the aims of the spatial strategy.

Policy DM3 Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations

Identified infrastructure needs will be met through a combination of Community Infrastructure Levy, planning conditions and obligations and, where appropriate, funding assistance from the Council.

The Council will work with Nottinghamshire County Council, neighbouring Local Authorities and infrastructure partners to ensure that development is supported by the timely, and where appropriate phased, provision of necessary physical, social and green/blue infrastructure and where appropriate its maintenance.

Delivery of the planned growth set out in the Amended Core Strategy requires provision of appropriate infrastructure to ensure the development of sustainable communities. Development that does not adequately address its impact will not be regarded as sustainable development.

Planning applications will be expected to demonstrate consideration of identified site-based infrastructure needs and make clear how these needs will be met, guided by the Council's latest, most up to date evidence Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD. The SPD provides the methodology for the delivery of appropriate infrastructure and the calculation of financial contributions.

Where on-going maintenance and management of infrastructure is required, a management plan will be required to ensure the quality of the provision remains in the long term. This will be agreed through a S106 agreement or any other suitable mechanism.

The delivery of planned growth set out in the Core Strategy is dependent upon the availability of infrastructure to support it. The required infrastructure will be provided through a combination of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), Planning Obligations, Developer Contributions and where appropriate funding assistance from the Council. Planning applications will be expected to include appropriate infrastructure provision.

A Planning Obligations / Developer Contributions SPD will provide the methodology for the deliveryof the appropriate infrastructure. The SPD will also set out the methods by which financial contributions will be calculated.

- 7.4 CIL is a charge which is levied on a range of development within the District. CIL charges will be based upon the size, type and location of the development proposed. The money raised will be used to pay for strategic infrastructure required to support development within the District<u>and where justified in Neighbouring Districts</u>.
- 7.5 Planning Obligations for appropriate infrastructure to meet the needs of development will take into account<u>Amended</u> Core Strategy Policy for Affordable Housing, the Infrastructure Delivery Plan<u>and</u> the <u>Open Space Assessment & Strategy and supporting evidence</u>, <u>including adopted Supplementary Planning Documents</u> Green Spaces Strategy.
- 7.6 In facilitating the delivery of new development it will be necessary to ensure that new development is not made unviable because of infrastructure and planning obligation requirements. Central to this approach will be the Council, Developers and Infrastructure Providers working together to support the delivery of new development. The requirements to support new development will be monitored over time. The diagram below illustrates the three stage approach that the District Council will establish:
 - Establish detailed infrastructure needs
 - Establish viability issues
 - Negotiate a solution
- 7.7 The District Council will need to work closely with developers once the Infrastructure requirements are identified and it becomes apparent that a 'funding gap' exists. The District Council will expect to operate an open book system with the developer to ensure that a full understanding of viability issues can be identified. In exceptional circumstances, where the developer contends the developer contributions sought, including that for affordable housing, would make a proposal unviable the Council will require an open book viability assessment in to demonstrate this to the satisfaction of the Council.

Figure 2 Viability and Infrastructure Provision



Policy Area: Sustainable Development and Climate Change

Policy DM4 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Generation

In order to achieve the commitment to carbon reduction set out in Core Policy 10, planning permission will be granted for renewable and low carbon energy generation development, as both standalone projects and part of other development, its associated infrastructure (including battery storage) and the retro-fitting of existing development, where its benefits are not outweighed by detrimental impact from the operation and maintenance of the development and through the installation process upon:

- 1. The landscape character or urban form of the district or the purposes of including land within the Green Belt arising from the individual or cumulative impact of proposals;
- 2. Southwell Views as defined in Policy So/PV or the setting of the Thurgarton Hundred Workhouse, as defined in Policy So/Wh;
- 3. Heritage Assets and or their settings;
- 4. Amenity, including noise pollution, shadow flicker and electro-magnetic interference;
- 5. Highway safety;
- 6. The ecology of the local or wider area; or
- 7. Aviation interests of local or national importance.

Applications to develop new wind energy schemes involving turbines of sufficient size to require planning permission will only be considered acceptable:

• In areas identified set away from sensitive receptors and identified as suitable for wind energy development in the Development Plan;

- Where it is demonstrated that the local community has been consulted and are supportive; and
- Where the planning impacts identified by the affected local community have been fully addressed.

Justification

- 7.8 Mitigating and adapting to climate change will be a significant and on-going requirement of the planning system over our the plan period. In addition to the contributions that can be made through the design and layout of development, securing new sources of renewable and low carbon energy production will make an important contribution to achieving this.
- 7.9 Core Policy 10 of the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy sets out targets for carbon reduction and promotes the development of renewable and low carbon energy and heat generation projects and this policy is required to set out the criteria by which individual planning applications will be assessed.
- 7.10 No areas in Newark and Sherwood have been identified as suitable for wind energy developments involving turbines of sufficient size to require planning permission. The District Council does not intend to identify such areas, but local communities are free to do so as part of the production of a neighbourhood plan. The Newark & Sherwood Landscape Capacity Study for Wind Energy Development can inform the identification of areas suitable for wind energy developments involving turbines of sufficient size to require planning permission. This can be seen at:

https://www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/windenergyspd/

- 7.11 Proposals should be accompanied by an assessment of all relevant criteria, and an explanation of those that are not relevant. Assessment of visual impact should be made by reference to the Landscape Character Assessment SPD.
- 7.12 Heritage Assets include designated and non-designated assets along with those that are identified through the development process. Proposals should take account of any impacts generated during the preparation and installation process and those arising thereafter.

Policy DM5 Design

In accordance with the requirements of Core Policy 9, all proposals for new development shall beassessed against the following criteria:

1. Access

Provision should be made for safe and inclusive access to new development. Where practicable, this should make use of Green Infrastructure and as many alternative modes of transport as possible.

2. Parking

Parking provision for vehicles and cycles should be based on the scale and specific location of thedevelopment. Development resulting in the loss of parking provision will require justification.

3. Amenity

The layout of development within sites and separation distances from neighbouring development should be sufficient to ensure that neither suffers from an unacceptable reduction in amenity including overbearing impacts, loss of light and privacy.

Development proposals should have regard to their impact on the amenity or operation of surroundingland uses and where necessary mitigate for any detrimental impact.

Proposals resulting in the loss of amenity space will require justification.

The presence of existing development which has the potential for a detrimental impact on new development should also be taken into account and mitigated for in proposals. New developmentthat cannot be afforded an adequate standard of amenity or creates an unacceptable standard of amenity will be resisted.

4. Local Distinctiveness and Character

The rich local distinctiveness of the District's landscape and character of built form should be reflected in the scale, form, mass, layout, design, materials and detailing of proposals for new development.

In accordance with Core Policy 13, all development proposals will be considered against the assessments contained in the Landscape Character Assessment Supplementary Planning Document.

Proposals creating backland development will only be approved where they would be inkeeping with the general character and density of existing development in the area, and would not set a precedent for similar forms of development, the cumulative effect of which would be to harm the established character and appearance of the area.

Inappropriate backland and other uncharacteristic forms of development will be resisted.

Where local distinctiveness derives from the presence of heritage assets, proposals will also needto satisfy Policy DM9.

5. Trees, Woodlands, Biodiversity & Green Infrastructure

In accordance with Core Policy 12, natural features of importance within or adjacent to developmentsites should, wherever possible, be protected and enhanced. Wherever possible, this should be through integration and connectivity of the Green Infrastructure to deliver multi functional benefits.

6. Crime & Disorder

The potential for the creation or exacerbation of crime, disorder or antisocial behaviour should be taken into account in formulating development proposals. Appropriate mitigation through the layoutand design of the proposal and/or off-site measures should be included as part of development proposals.

7. Ecology

Where it is apparent that a site may provide a habitat for protected species, development proposalsshould be supported by an up to date ecological assessment, including a habitat survey and a survey for species listed in the Nottinghamshire Biodiversity Action Plan. Significantly harmful ecological impacts should be avoided through the design, layout and detailing of the development, with mitigation, and as a last resort, compensation (including off site measures), provided where significant impacts cannot be avoided.

8. Unstable Land

Development proposals within the current and historic coal mining areas of the district should take account of ground conditions, land stability and mine gas, and where necessary include mitigationmeasures to ensure they can be safely implemented.

9. Flood Risk and Water Management

The Council will aim to steer new development away from areas at highest risk of flooding. Development proposals within Environment Agency Flood Zones 2 and 3 and areas with critical drainage problems will only be considered where it constitutes appropriate development and it canbe demonstrated, by application of the Sequential Test, that there are no reasonably available sites in lower risk Flood Zones.

Where development is necessary within areas at risk of flooding it will also need to satisfy the Exception Test by demonstrating it would be safe for the intended users without increasing flood risk elsewhere.

In accordance with the aims of Core Policy 9, development proposals should wherever possible include measures to pro-actively manage surface water including the use of appropriate surface treatments in highway design and Sustainable Drainage Systems.

10. Advertisements

Proposals requiring advertisement consent will be assessed in relation to their impact on public safety, the appearance of the building on which they are sited or the visual amenity of the surrounding area.

<u>Design</u>

7.13 The Government is placing an increased emphasis on the importance of design quality within the planning system. The National Design Guide reinforces this increasing emphasis,

highlighting that the design quality of places is as much about how streets and spaces (the public realm) are designed and function as the design and appearance of individual buildings.

- Creating well designed places is an integral part of the planning and development process 7.14 ensuring that growth improves and enhances the physical, social, cultural and economic qualities of our District, whilst also protecting our distinctive heritage and landscape assets. The NPPF places great emphasis on delivering beauty through the use of Design Codes and guidance. These can be prepared at an area-wide, neighbourhood or site-specific scale. Design Codes can be used to provide greater certainty and control over design quality in the long term. The NPPF says that local authorities should consider their use where they could help deliver high-quality outcomes. Design Codes can either form part of the development framework or comprise a condition to the granting of outline planning permission, requiring submission of a code before submission of any reserved matters. The Council will prepare / support the preparation of Design Codes / design guidance where it is considered that this will add value and work with neighbourhood groups and developers to support them in developing any neighbourhood plan policies or design codes. Adopted Design Codes will provide further details and guidance on the practical application of Policy DM5(b) for certain areas and sites.
- 7.15 Well-designed places contribute towards the quality of our built and natural environments. Poorly designed places represent missed opportunities to create better places for people and nature; whilst also frustrating our ability to engage communities and other stakeholders in the process of growth and change. Development that only satisfies short term goals, such as those associated with a return on private investment will fail to deliver wider social, cultural and environmental benefits that help to build and reinforce communities.
- 7.16 Building for a Healthy Life is a design quality indicator for new residential development that is endorsed by Homes England, Home Builders Federation and NHS England. It is designed to be used at the start of the design process and as a way to structure pre-application discussions and as a community engagement tool. The Council expects all residential developments to perform well against Building for a Healthy Life i.e.
 - As many 'greens' as possible are achieved.
 - <u>'reds' are avoided.</u>
- 7.17 Applicants at the pre-application stage should address any 'reds' before progressing to formal planning. Where schemes score 'reds' at the formal application stage, the Council will provide advice on amending the proposal. If an applicant cannot demonstrate that they have done enough to address improvements in line with review findings, then the scheme will not be supported. Schemes with one or more 'red' will not be acceptable and will be refused planning permission unless there are significant overriding reasons. The applicant must demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Council that they have explored all options to mitigate for this. Where there are no viable opportunities to address the matter then the scheme may be supported providing it performs well in all other regards.
- 7.18 New development must respond positively to wider social challenges relating to our depleting natural resources, climate change, declining native species and habitats, traffic congestion, air quality and public health.

- 7.19 Creating well designed places is reliant on design skills, robust design processes and the District Council clearly expressing its aspirations for design quality. Our policy approach to design is three-fold:
 - i. <u>Design skills.</u>
 - ii. Design thinking and processes.
 - iii. Design principles.
- 7.20 The District Council expects applicants to ensure that their design teams are well skilled, creative and passionate about creating great places whilst also being well informed in best practice and innovation.
- 7.21 The Development Plan contains a series of design policies. Proposed householder development is covered by Policy DM6.

Policy DM5(a) <u>The Design Process</u>

The District Council will expect the following design process to be adopted for all proposed development (with the exception of householder development). Such development proposals shall be informed by, and respond to, a robust site and contextual appraisal that will involve identifying constraints and opportunities and satisfy the requirements of the National Design Guide and any locally adopted Design Codes where relevant to the proposal.

New residential development will also need to perform positively against Building for a Healthy Life (or any successor version of the tool).

The Design Process

Design Stage 1:Understanding the site and its context; identifying and responding to
opportunities and constraints.

Design Stage 2: Creating a vision for the development.

Design Stage 3: Exploring ideas and options.

Design Stage 4: Developing detailed designs.

Development will be supported where the application material demonstrates that the site and its context, both positive and negative, has been understood and respected; with opportunities and constraints identified, considered, and responded to appropriately. Applications should provide evidence of each stage from the outset (where appropriate) and whilst there is flexibility for schemes to evolve as part of this process, it is important that design and layout is not retrofitted.

For all developments (with the exception of householder developments and those otherwise identified by the Council), opportunities and constraints will be encouraged to be validated through robust and meaningful engagement with the local planning authority (pre-application discussion).

Developers are strongly encouraged to engage with local communities and other stakeholders at any early stage of the process, enabling them the opportunity to shape development proposals.

The information required in support of applications is set out in the Council's Planning Application Local Validation Checklist.

Justification

- 7.22 Creating well-designed buildings and places is reliant on a robust design process being followed. Applicants will be required to demonstrate a clear progression through each of these design stages, providing clear evidence and justification to support design decision making and design proposals. For instance, the District Council will expect to see evidence that applicants have understood and responded sensitively and appropriately to the site and its wider context; for example physical, social, natural and built environment features.
- 7.23 For all developments (with the exception of householder developments and those otherwise identified by the Council), applicants can expect the District Council to use these four stages to structure pre-application discussions. The extent of the District Council's focus on each of these four stages will be proportional to the scale, form, type and sensitivity of development proposed, and take account of factors such as the proximity of any Listed Buildings, nondesignated Heritage Assets and/or Conservation Areas or landscape context.
- 7.24 Applicants are strongly encouraged to engage local communities and other stakeholders at each stage of the design process for proposed major or otherwise sensitive developments. For instance, for major developments it is recommended that applicants undertake community and stakeholder engagement at Design Stage 1 and 2, testing and validating their findings prior to progressing to Design Stage 3. At Design Stage 3 further engagement work prior to progressing to Design Stage 4 is recommended. This level of community and stakeholder engagement is in addition to the usual Planning Application notification and consultation process. Early and proactive engagement with local communities and stakeholders ensures that meaningful discussions take place at the appropriate stages in the design process when there is more scope for communities and stakeholders to shape development proposals.

Policy DM5(b) Design

In accordance with the requirements of Core Policy 9 of the Amended Core Strategy, having addressed the design principles set out in the National Design Guide and any local Design Codes, all proposals for new development shall be assessed against the following criteria:

In accordance with the requirements of Core Policy 9 of the Amended Core Strategy, <u>having</u> addressed the design principles set out in the National Design Guide and any local Design <u>Codes</u>, all proposals for new development shall be assessed against the following criteria:

1 <u>Access</u>

Provision should be made for safe and inclusive access to new development. Integration of sustainable and active modes of travel is encouraged and, where practicable, developments should include dedicated walking and cycling corridors, connecting to existing defined routes in the surrounding area, making use of multifunctional Green Infrastructure.

2 Parking

Parking provision for vehicles and cycles should be based on the scale and specific location of the development.

Parking for vehicles and cycles in new residential development should be appropriate in terms of amount, design and layout, in accordance with the adopted Residential Cycle and Car Parking Design Guide SPD, Development resulting in the loss of parking provision will require justification.

<u>Proposals should give careful consideration to the location of vehicle and cycle parking</u> <u>in relation to public transport provision in order to maximise opportunities for multi-</u><u>modal travel.</u>

3 Amenity

The layout of development within sites and separation distances from neighbouring development should be sufficient to ensure that neither suffers from an unacceptable reduction in amenity including overbearing impacts, loss of light and privacy.

All proposals for new housing developments should demonstrate that they provide adequate internal and external space in order to ensure an appropriate living environment for future occupiers.

Development proposals should have regard to their impact on the amenity or operation of surrounding land uses and where necessary mitigate for any detrimental impact.

Proposals resulting in the loss of amenity space will require justification.

The presence of existing development which has the potential for a detrimental impact on new development should also be taken into account and mitigated for in proposals. New development that cannot be afforded an adequate standard of amenity or creates an unacceptable standard of amenity will be resisted.

4 Local Distinctiveness and Character

The rich local distinctiveness of the District's landscape and character of built form should be reflected in the scale, form, mass, layout, design, materials and detailing of proposals for new development.

In accordance with Core Policy 13 of the Amended Core Strategy, all development proposals will be considered against the assessments contained in the Landscape Character Assessment Supplementary Planning Document. Proposals creating backland development will only be approved where they would be in-keeping with the general character and density of existing development in the area, and would not set a precedent for similar forms of development, the cumulative effect of which would be to harm the established character and appearance of the area. Inappropriate backland and other uncharacteristic forms of development will be resisted.

Where local distinctiveness derives from the presence of heritage assets, proposals will also need to satisfy Policy DM9.

5 Public Realm

New development should create new or strengthen existing street and public space networks, where appropriate assisting in the delivery of the Council's Open Space Assessment & Strategy.

New development shall contribute positively towards creating a well-defined, well-used, safe and attractive public realm, including tree lined streets where possible. The interface between buildings and the public realm is of critical importance and should have strong boundary treatments or well resolved threshold spaces with opportunities for natural surveillance required.

The quality of the public realm will be negatively affected where threshold design (and in particular, the storage of recycling and waste containers) has been poorly considered. The District Council will seek to ensure that the quality of the public realm is safeguarded through carefully considered solutions relating to:

- <u>boundary demarcations</u>
- <u>changes in level</u>
- <u>utility boxes and flues</u>
- recycling and waste storage, and
- <u>car parking.</u>

Development proposals which affect, or add to, the public realm should create a welldefined, easily navigable and accessible network of streets and spaces and ensure that convenient access is provided for all users whilst prioritising the needs of pedestrians, cyclists, public transport users, and people with a range of disabilities, and emergency and service vehicles.

6 Trees, Woodland, Biodiversity and Green and Blue Infrastructure

In accordance with Core Policy 12 of the Amended Core Strategy, all natural features within or adjacent to development sites should not be unnecessarily adversely impacted and development should first seek to respect existing features before the Council will consider removal of such features. The starting point should be through integration and connectivity of Green Infrastructure to deliver multi-functional benefits and should be incorporated into a landscaping scheme that mitigates any loss and / or the effects of the development on the local landscape.

A holistic approach shall be adopted with respect to the design and integration of green and blue infrastructure into new development, creating opportunities for habitat creation, water management and attractive and memorable places.

7 Ecology

Where it is apparent that a site may provide a habitat for protected species, development proposals should be supported by an up-to-date ecological assessment, including a Habitat Survey and a survey for species listed in the Nottinghamshire Biodiversity Action Plan. Significantly harmful ecological impacts should be avoided through the design, layout and detailing of the development with mitigation, and as a last resort, compensation (including off-site measures), provided where significant impacts cannot be avoided.

<u>New Development should deliver an evidenced net gain in biodiversity appropriately</u> <u>integrated into design and layout in accordance with Policy DM7.</u>

8 Crime & Disorder

The potential for creation or exacerbation of crime, disorder or antisocial behaviour should be taken into account in formulating development proposals. Appropriate mitigation through the layout and design of the proposal and / or off-site measures should be included as part of development proposals.

9 Unstable Land

Development proposals within the current and historic coal mining areas of the District should take account of ground conditions, land stability and mine gas, and where necessary include mitigation measures to ensure they can be safely implemented.

10 Flood Risk and Water Management

The Council will, in line with Policy DM5(c)aim to steer new development away from areas at highest risk of flooding. Development proposals within Environment Agency Flood Zones 2 and 3 and areas with critical drainage problems will only be considered where it constitutes appropriate development and it can be demonstrated, by application of the Sequential Test, that there are no reasonably available site in lower risk Flood Zones.

Where development is necessary within areas at risk of flooding it will also need to satisfy the Exception Test by demonstrating it would be safe for the intended users without increasing flood risk elsewhere and where possible, pursue opportunities to reduce flood risk overall.

All application for new development shall demonstrate that all surface water discharges have been carried out in accordance with the principles laid out within the drainage hierarchy, in such that a discharge to the public sewerage systems are avoided, where possible.

All major developments shall ensure that Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) for the management of surface water run-off are put in place unless demonstrated to be inappropriate.

All schemes for the inclusions of SuDS should demonstrate they have considered all four aspects of good SuDS design, Quantity, Quality, Amenity and Biodiversity, and the SuDS and development will fit into the existing landscape.

The completed SuDS schemes should be accompanied by a maintenance schedule detailing maintenance boundaries, responsible parties and arrangements to ensure that the SuDS are maintained in perpetuity.

Where possible, all non-major development should look to incorporate these same SuDS principles into their designs.

11 Health and Wellbeing

Development that supports improvements to health and wellbeing will be supported. This should ensure that new development:

- Are age friendly, inclusive, safe and attractive, and easily accessible on foot or by bicycle. Where appropriate this should integrate dementia friendly design principles;
- Have strong sense of place which encourages social interaction;
- <u>Are designed to promote active travel and other physical activity through the</u> <u>arrangement of buildings and uses, access to open space and landscaping;</u>
- Through the arrangement of buildings and uses, promote access to open space and landscaping, and the provision of facilities to support walking.

12 Waste & Recycling

Waste and recycling storage and collection must be carefully considered to be both functional and appropriately integrated into the design of all buildings. There should be sufficient space / access for the storage of all bins to be away from the front elevation of the property so as not to have a negative visual impact on street amenity.

13 Advertisements

Proposals requiring advertisement consent will be assessed in relation to their impact on public safety, the appearance of the building on which they are sited or the visual amenity of the surrounding area.

14 Design SPD & Design Codes

Further guidance will be set out within a SPD to be prepared by the Council in accordance with the NPPF and the National Model Design Guide Code requirements. Local Design Codes, masterplans and design briefs will be prepared to provide a detailed framework for the assessment of development proposals within particular areas and sites within District.

Justification

Access

- 7.25 For proposals that are supported in principle by Core, Spatial or other Development Management policies there is also a need to make site specific and detailed assessment. As many issues will be common to many different types of development proposals, and to avoid undue repetition within individual policies, it is intended that the relevant criteria of this policy are used in conjunction with other policies to provide for a full method of assessment. It is also intended that this policy be used as a basis for the assessment of proposals that do not comfortably fall to be assessed against any other policies.
- 7.26 The Council will seek to secure safe means of access to all new development by applying current highway <u>and cycle</u> design standards. On new build development in particular, inclusive access should be a consideration at design stage and wherever possible within schemes of conversion and adaptation. In the interests of reducing reliance on the private car <u>and promoting modal shift</u>, all new development should be accessible by foot and cycle, <u>making connections to existing infrastructure</u>. Larger scale development should also demonstrate consideration for opportunities to create new links to the public transport <u>network and integration of other means of sustainable and active travel</u>. as a minimum and larger scale development should also give consideration to creation of links to the public transport transport network.

Parking

- 7.27 The Council will seek to be flexible and pragmatic towards parking provision in connection with new development. <u>Residential parking standards and design principles are set out in the Council's Residential Cycle and Car Parking and Design Guide SPD (2021) and, for non-residential developments, they are set out in the Highway Authority's Highway Design Guide (2020). The levels of provision required varies across the District to reflect the more rural nature of some settlements, and assists in maintaining vitality and viability in smaller settlements where alternative modes of transport may not be so readily available.</u>
- 7.28 The promotion of cycling as a travel opportunity is part of the drive to promote alternatives to the private car and encourage more sustainable means of travel. Therefore, the needs of cyclists should be fully taken into account in the development process through improvements to the provision, safety, convenience and general environment for cycling. To help promote cycle use, the amount of good quality cycle parking needs to be increased. It is important therefore that secure cycle parking is provided as an integral part of new development.
- 7.29 In sustainable locations where development is not likely to exacerbate existing problems, the Council will not insist on on-site parking, particularly at the expense of good urban design. Where development is proposed in areas of known parking problems and it is likely to exacerbate these at the expense of highway safety, the Council will seek to secure sufficient off-street parking to provide for the needs of the development. Where proposals involve the loss of off-street parking they should be accompanied by an assessment and justification of the impact. Where the loss is not at the expense of highway safety elsewhere and does not undermine the commercial viability of the area it serves, it will not be resisted.

Amenity

- 7.30 Given the range of sites and development proposals within them that this policy will be used to assess, it is not intended to adopt prescriptive standards of amenity but rather establish a framework to form the basis of assessment. However, insufficient space in residential properties can have adverse impacts on the health and wellbeing of occupants. In order to ensure that all new housing serves the practical and social needs of occupiers, all new development should provide adequate internal and external space. During the plan period, a Supplementary Planning Document may be adopted in respect of residential development.
- 7.31 Most types of residential development will require some form of private amenity space, and this should be proportionate and appropriate to the development it is intended to serve. For example, houses capable of family occupation should have private garden areas whereas for apartment developments it may be acceptable to have communal amenity areas. For schemes of conversion, particularly in town centres, where public amenity space is readily accessible, there may be no requirement for private amenity space. Where proposals involve the sub-division of existing dwellings within established residential areas to form multiple residential units, particular care should be taken to ensure that adequate private amenity space is provided for each unit. This should be designed so as to avoid adverse impacts on the amenities of neighbouring residents and the character of the surrounding area.
- 7.32 Where proposals involve multiple residential units they should be designed so as to avoid direct overlooking and overbearing impacts on each other. Where new residential development is proposed adjacent to existing dwellings, it should be designed so as to avoid either the existing or proposed development being subjected to the same impacts. In both these instances, the separation distances required to achieve an adequate standard of amenity will be determined by the individual site characteristics including levels and intervening boundary treatments.
- 7.33 Where development with the potential for adverse environmental impacts such as noise, odour and vibration are proposed close to more sensitive development or uses, they should be accompanied by an assessment of the impact and any proposals for any necessary mitigation. Conversely, where a more sensitive development is proposed near to an established use with the potential for adverse environmental impacts, the proposed development should be designed to minimise the impact on eventual occupiers to an acceptable level.

Local Distinctiveness

- 7.34 The diversity of landscape and built form within the District displays much local distinctiveness which the Council is keen to see reflected in new development. Development proposals should take reference from the Landscape Character Assessment SPD, locally distinctive layouts, design, detailing and methods of construction as a means of integrating itself into the surrounding area.
- 7.35 Where sites contain buildings of architectural or historical merit, the Council will favour their conversion over re-development. When such buildings lie within settlements where new development would be in accordance with the Spatial Strategy, there will not normally be a

requirement for the same structural justification and investigation of alternative uses as required for buildings in the countryside, but the detailed scheme of conversion will be subject to the same assessment, as set out in the Supplementary Planning Document.

7.36 There is an opportunity for greater understanding, protection and enhancement of the distinctive characteristics within the District through the identification of locally significant historic buildings, structures and designed landscapes, Historic England's Historic Landscape Characterisation may provide a useful, but not exhaustive, basis for this process.

Public Realm

- 7.37 The public realm includes spaces that are within and between buildings which are publicly accessible for use by everyone. Public Realm is important because it can help to deliver far reaching social, economic and environmental benefits including:
 - Enhancing identity and civic pride;
 - <u>Attracting more visitors;</u>
 - Increasing expenditure;
 - <u>Helping retailers (in village and town centres);</u>
 - Creating safe places;
 - Facilitating a sense of community and / or social cohesion;
 - <u>Aiding legibility;</u>
 - Providing interesting vistas; and
 - Breaking up the built form.
- 7.38 The most successful places exhibit functional and attractive hard and soft landscape elements, with well orientated and detailed routes and include facilities such as seats and play equipment. Well-designed spaces will be inclusive, catering to the needs of all groups in society, including children, or those with limited mobility. Public art and sculpture can play an important role in making interesting and exciting places that people enjoy using.

Trees, Woodlands, Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure

7.39 Features of natural importance such as trees and hedges significantly contribute to the landscape character of the District and can also be used to help integrate new development into it. Where a site contains or is adjacent to such features, proposals should take account of their presence and wherever possible incorporate or enhance them as part of the scheme of development in order to improve the connectivity of the Green Infrastructure. Where it is proposed to remove features, justification will be required, and re-planting should form part of development proposals. An assessment of open space, through the Open Space Strategy and Assessment (2022) has been undertaken to ascertain the amount, quality and accessibility of different categories of open space in the District. This has recommended local standards of provision which set out where new open space is need and where existing open space needs to be protected (See Appendix D).

Ecology

- 7.40 Both National and European legislation require the potential impact on protected species and their habitats to be taken into account in the planning process. Where it is apparent that a site may contain or provide a habitat for protected species, this should form the starting point for the design process which should be informed by accurate and up to date survey information. Wherever possible, the development should be designed to enhance the Green Infrastructure by providing continuity of habitat, or as a last resort, should include on or offsite mitigation measures. The Habitats Regulations Assessment has identified areas where the development of allocated sites may affect sites of European importance for nature conservation.
- 7.41 Except where exempt, development proposals should provide a net gain of biodiversity as required by the Environment Act and secondary legislation, in accordance with Policy DM7. Biodiversity net gain is integral to relevant proposals and should be considered from the design stage. Measures must be agreed before proposals can be considered acceptable. Onsite biodiversity net gain is preferable, and where off-site measures are necessary, they should contribute to the Nature Recovery Network. Currently Nottinghamshire Local Authorities are developing a joint approach to managing the implementation of Net Gain in the County.

Crime and Disorder

7.42 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires planning policies and decisions to aim to achieve safe and accessible places so that crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion. For proposals that have the potential to create or exacerbate crime or anti-social behaviour, in particular those generating public assembly and relating to the night-time economy, an assessment of the potential impacts will be required. Where this identifies the potential for any adverse impacts, these should be addressed as part of the proposal. This may include design measures forming part of the proposal such as boundary treatments or off-site measures such as contributions towards CCTV.

Unstable Land

7.43 The District has a long history of coal mining which has resulted in areas of unstable land and the potential for mine gas ingress. The consequence of development on this land needs to be taken into account in the decision-making process. Development proposals within areas of instability should be accompanied by proposals for remediation or mitigation upon which the District Council will consult with The Coal Authority.

Flood Risk and Water Management

7.44 Allocated sites within the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy were assessed against the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 1 (SFRA L1) and sites within the <u>A</u>A&DM DPD have been assessed against both this and the SFRA L2. Development proposals on unallocated sites will also need to pass the Sequential Test and development proposals on both allocated and unallocated sites within areas at risk of flooding will need to pass the Exception Test.

- 7.45 For definitions, and the application of the tests, reference will be made to the Technical Guidance to the National Planning Policy Framework.
- 7.46 In the interests of minimising both new and existing developments vulnerability to flood risk arising from climate change, proposals for new developments where the scale and form of development is appropriate, should wherever possible utilise Sustainable Drainage Systems (SUDs) to manage surface water run-off and ensure that runoff rates are maintained at their pre-development levels or a reduction overall. Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) should be designed in accordance with current industry best practice, the SuDS Manual, CIRIA (C753), to ensure that the systems deliver both the surface water quantity and the wider benefits, without significantly increasing costs. Good SuDS design can be key for creating a strong sense of place and pride in the community for where they live, work and visit, making the surface water management features as much a part of the development as the buildings and roads. SUDS should be used wherever possible to mitigate against vulnerability to flooding.

Health and Wellbeing

- 7.47 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) stresses the importance of health and wellbeing and the role that the planning system should play in improving this. It explains that to achieve sustainable development, the planning system should meet three overarching objectives, one of which is a social objective, to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities. The NPPF encourages local planning authorities to work with communities to gain a shared vision of the environment and facilities they wish to see and to deliver planning policies that facilitate social interaction and healthy inclusive communities. Planning for and protecting existing services and open space are also important parts of creating healthy communities, as recognised by the NPPF.
- 7.48 The way places are designed affects the way residents and users behave. Active Design (2015) published by Sport England in conjunction with Public Health England highlights the way design can be used to encourage greater levels of activity amongst residents and users of development. It sets out ten principles that can be applied when designing and masterplanning development proposals in order to support health lifestyles by facilitating participation in sport and physical activity, including encouraging walking and cycling for short journeys and introducing space for sport and recreation within development proposals.

Waste and Recycling

7.49 Bins should be stored in visually unobtrusive locations with storage areas to the side or rear of the property normally being sought in preference to storage in the front garden.

Advertisements

7.50 Only issues of public safety and visual amenity, taking account of cumulative impact, will be relevant in assessing proposals for advertisement consent. Public safety will normally relate to the impact on highway safety and visual amenity will be assessed by reference to Criterion <u>3: Amenity and Criterion 4</u>: Local Distinctiveness.

Design Supplementary Planning Document and Design Codes

7.51 The Council will prepare a Supplementary Planning Document which will include more detail on all aspects of design including each of the principles outlined above. Design Codes allow the Local Planning Authority, and other key stakeholders to set out in detail the design requirements for new development. The Council, working in partnership with Historic England, is developing a design code for Newark Town Centre as part of wider master planning work. Design Codes are an important way that communities can express how new development should be delivered and these will be developed in other locations across the district during the plan period.

Policy DM5(c) Sequential Test

In-line with Core Policy 10 of the Amended Core Strategy, the Council will follow a sequential approach to development and flood risk, seeking to steer new development away from those areas at highest risk. Development will not be permitted if there are reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed development in areas at lower risk of flooding.

The area of search within which to undertake the Test will normally be District-wide, unless it is appropriate for this to be further refined having had regard to relevant policy objectives within the Development Plan and/or any valid functional requirements of the proposed use. With specific regard to housing development, the presence of a settlement-level housing needs assessment will not normally justify restricting application of the test to that location, except in the circumstances outlined below.

In order to help maintain the viability and vitality of rural villages below the Principal Village level of the Settlement Hierarchy greater flexibility will be provided, where the presence of large areas in Flood Zones 2 and 3 constrains the availability of suitable land and the proposed development is necessary to sustain the existing community. To demonstrate that housing development is necessary to sustain an existing community, proposals will be expected to be supported by:

- An up-to-date and appropriately constituted Housing Needs Survey, specific to that community and identifying a form of need which the proposal would contribute towards meeting; and/or
- <u>Provision of a robust case that the proposal would make a meaningful contribution</u> towards the sustaining of services and facilities in that community.

Where a 'made' Neighbourhood Plan provides support for housing development within a defined settlement boundary, or for rural affordable housing adjacent to that boundary under Core Policy 2, then this will provide justification for restriction of the Test to the Neighbourhood Area.

Where the undertaking of the Test is necessary then applicants are encouraged to positively engage with the District Council at an early stage in order to agree appropriate parameters.
Justification

- 7.52 The District is particularly vulnerable to flood risk, due to there being a number of significant rivers in the area- including the River Trent. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the 'Sequential Test' which must be followed where possible to locate development within areas at lowest risk of flooding (from all sources). The Sequential Test aims to steer new development to Flood Zone 1 areas with a low probability of river or sea flooding. Where there are no reasonably available sites in Flood Zone 1, Councils are directed by the national policy to take into account the flood risk vulnerability of land uses and consider reasonably available sites in Flood Zone 2 areas with a medium probability of river or sea flooding. Only where there are no reasonably available sites in Flood Zones 1 or 2 should the suitability of sites in Flood Zone 3 areas with a high probability of river or sea flooding be considered, taking into account the flood risk vulnerability of land uses.
- 7.53 However, it is recognised that there are a small number of rural settlements in the District, where the presence of land within Flood Zones 2 and 3 may constrain the ability to accommodate development that is necessary to sustain the community. Where this is demonstrated to be the case then Policy DM5(c) provides greater flexibility over how the Sequential Test will be applied locally.
- 7.54 In terms of housing development it will be necessary for proposals to be supported by, and positively respond to the findings of, an up-to-date and appropriately constituted Housing Needs Survey. To ensure that a proposal will contribute towards sustaining an existing community, then this assessment of need must be specific to the community within which development is proposed. Alternatively, proposals will also be supported where a meaningful contribution would be made to the sustaining of local services and facilities within the existing community. Some proposals will however, by virtue of the scale proposed or that which can be appropriately accommodated in the location, fall short of demonstrating that meaningful contribution. Where a 'made' Neighbourhood Plan has established a settlement boundary and support is provided for housing development within its extent, or for rural affordable housing adjacent to it, then this vision for the local area will justify a restriction to the geographic area the Test is to be applied within.
- 7.55 This local approach towards the Sequential Test reflects a desire to sustain rural communities, whilst also avoiding the unnecessary exposure of new development to flood risk. To ensure that this balance between priorities is achieved, the cases presented by applicants to restrict the geographic basis on which the Test is undertaken will be expected to be robust.

Policy DM5(d) Water Efficiency Measures in New Dwellings

<u>Proposals for new dwellings should meet the Building Regulation optional higher water</u> <u>efficiency standard of 110 litres per person per day, or relevant successor standard, as set out</u> <u>through the Building Regulations.</u>

7.54 National planning policy allows Local Planning Authorities to require higher water efficiency standards in areas of serious water stress. Both the Severn Trent Water and Anglian Water

areas are identified as suffering from serious water stress and therefore Policy DM5(d) requires new dwellings should meet the optional higher water efficiency standard to help address this issue.

Policy DM6 Householder Development

Planning permission will be granted for the alteration and extension of dwellings, erection and conversion of curtilage buildings, including the formation of annexes and means of enclosure providing that:

- 1. Provision for safe and inclusive access and parking provision can be achieved and there is no adverse impact on the highway network as a result of the proposal;
- 2. There is no adverse impact on the amenities of neighbouring users including loss of privacy, light and overbearing impact;
- 3. The layout of development within the site and separation distances from neighbouring development are sufficient to ensure that neither suffers from an unacceptable reduction in amenity by virtue of overlooking and loss of privacy or overbearing impacts.
- 4. The host dwelling retains a reasonable amount of amenity space relative to its size;
- 5. The proposal respects the design, materials and detailing of the host dwelling, and;
- 6. The proposal respects the character of the surrounding area including its local distinctiveness, the significance and setting of any heritage assets, landscape character and the open character of the surrounding countryside.

The methods by which these criteria will be assessed will be <u>Further guidance is</u> set out in the Householder Development Supplementary Planning Document.

Justification

- 7.55 Many proposals for householder development can be carried out with the benefit of permitted development rights, but for proposals that require express planning permission this policy sets out the criteria that will be used to assess applications.
- 7.56 The Council will seek to ensure that access and parking arrangements to dwellings are as a minimum maintained and wherever possible improved through householder development. Applicants should, in particular, take opportunities to improve inclusive access to existing dwellings as part of proposals.
- 7.57 Where dwellings lie in close proximity to one another, or other sensitive development, the impact on the amenity of occupiers will be an important consideration. Development should be designed to avoid overbearing impacts and loss of privacy. Particular attention should be paid to proposals close to shared boundaries which by virtue of bulk and positioning of windows could have an adverse impact.

- 7.58 The design, materials and detailing of new development are important factors in its integration into its surrounding area. A degree of change is inevitable and proposals that are subservient in scale, use complementary construction materials and where appropriate, detailing, can be accommodated without detriment to either the host dwelling or the surrounding area. Where dwellings have evolved over time with additions of varying design and materials and in areas where there is no distinctive overall character, further extensions that form honest additions through the use of contrasting, but complementary designs and materials can also be acceptable. Where a site lies within or adjacent to an area of defined character, the preservation or enhancement of this should form the starting point of the design process.
- 7.59 In assessing proposals for householder development, the Council will have regard to the cumulative impact of any previous development.

Policy DM7 Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure

New development, in line with the requirements of Core Policy 12 <u>of the Amended Core</u> <u>Strategy</u>, should protect, promote and enhance <u>biodiversity and the ecological network of</u> <u>habitats</u>, species and sites of international, national and local importance green infrastructure to deliver multi functional benefits and contribute to the ecological network both as part of on site development proposals and through off site provision.

Considering the impact of Development Proposals on the Ecological Network

In considering the impact of development proposals on the various different elements of the ecological network of sites and habitats the following approaches will be followed:

a) Special Areas of Conservation and Special Protection Areas

Planning permission will not be granted for development proposals on, or affecting <u>European sites including</u>, Special Areas of Conservation or Special Protection Areas unless it is directly <u>connected with or necessary</u> related to the management of the site for nature conservation and public access and does not significantly harm the integrity of the site.

b) Birklands & Billhaugh Special Area of Conservation

As set out in Core Policy 12 public Public open space provided in connection within <u>new</u> residential development (including allocations) in settlements within a 5 8.9km radius of Birklands & Billhaugh Special Area of Conservation, (provided in accordance with the Planning Obligations & Developer Contributions SPD) shall be designed to reflect the need to provide SANGS in perpetuity to relieve pressure on the SAC. Where SANGS are proposed, their quantity and quality shall be developed and agreed in conjunction with the District Council and Natural England. In circumstances where site characteristics mean on site SANGS is not possible, bespoke off-site solutions will be considered provided they satisfy the District Council and Natural England that they are contributing to relieving recreational pressure on the SAC.

c) Risk Based Approach to the Sherwood Forest possible potential Special Protection Area

Development proposals within 400 metres of those locations which Natural England have identified as supporting breeding woodlark and nightjar – known as a possible potential Special Protection Area or ppSPA – will adopt a risk-based approach as set out in the Natural England Advice Note to Local Planning Authorities. In particular consideration should be given to the effects of light, noise and pet predation resulting from the proposed development.

d) Sites of Special Scientific Interest

For development proposals on, or affecting, Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs), planning permission will not be granted unless the justification for the development clearly outweighs the nature conservation value of the site.

e) Other Nature Conservation Sites

On sites of regional or local importance, <u>including Local Wildlife Sites</u>, previously developed land of biodiversity value, sites supporting priority habitats or contributing to ecological networks, or sites supporting priority species, planning permission will only be granted where it can be demonstrated that the need for the development outweighs the need to safeguard the nature conservation value of the site.

Loss or harm to ancient woodland and to ancient, veteran, protected or significant trees will not normally be acceptable. Proposals resulting in such loss or harm should only be permitted where these impacts are clearly outweighed by the public benefit of the development.

f) <u>Development Proposals</u>

All development proposals affecting the above sites in sections A to E of this policy should be supported by an up-to date ecological assessment, involving a habitat survey and a survey for protected species and priority species listed in the UKBAP. On SSSI's and sites of regional or local importance, for proposals where the presumption against development can be overcome, significantly harmful ecological impacts should be avoided through the design, layout and detailing of the development, with mitigation, and as a last resort, compensation (including off-site measures), provided where they cannot be avoided.

Enhancing Biodiversity

Development proposals in all areas of the District should seek to enhance biodiversity. Proposals should take into account the latest information on biodiversity including Nottinghamshire Biodiversity Opportunity Mapping, and the forthcoming Local Nature Recovery Strategy. Except for exempt development proposals, the enhancement should be a net gain of at least 10% (or if different, the relevant percentage set out in the Environment Act) as measured by the applicable DEFRA metric or any successor document. These gains must be guaranteed for a period of at least 30 years. On 9th November 2023 a two-year transition period will end; after which biodiversity net gain of the relevant percentage becomes a legal requirement on developments where it is applicable.

Delivering Green Infrastructure

New development proposals should protect, promote and enhance green infrastructure to deliver multi-functional benefits and contribute to the ecological network both as part of onsite development proposals and through off site provision. <u>This should be informed by the</u> <u>Council's Green Infrastructure Strategy, Open Space Assessment & Strategy and Natural</u> <u>England's (emerging) Green Infrastructure Framework.</u>

Justification

- 7.60 This policy is required to facilitate the application of the strategic aims for biodiversity and green infrastructure established by Core Policy 12 to individual development proposals and to meet the NPPF's requirement to have criteria-based policy with which to assess proposals for any development on or affecting protected wildlife or biodiversity sites. <u>Green infrastructure should be understood to include blue infrastructure.</u>
- 7.61 The Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA), which accompanies this DPD, has identified a zone of 8.9km around the Birklands & Billhaugh Special Area of Conservation (SAC) where new residential development would likely impact on it by increasing recreational pressure. This is greater than the previous zone of 5km which had been the policy in the Amended Core Strategy. Therefore, residential development proposals which are required to provide public open space within the 8.9km zone should seek to provide Suitable Alternative Natural Green Spaces (SANGS) onsite to relieve recreational pressure on the SAC. Where appropriate, the District Council will work with neighbouring competent authorities within the Zone of Influence, Where it is not possible to develop SANGs on site, applicants should work with the Local Planning Authority and Natural England to identify appropriate offsite proposals to relieve recreational pressure on the SAC within the surrounding area. This approach has been reflected in the allocations in this DPD and should also apply to any other proposals which come forward in the zone of influence which is illustrated on the Policies Map. The HRA also recommends that within 400m of habitat which support populations of woodlark and nightjar and have the potential to be identified in the future as a Special Protection Area – known as the possible potential Special Protection Area - that a risk-based approach in line with Natural England advice should be followed. This guidance is available at: https://www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/planreview-evidence/
- 7.62 The Environment Act 2021 sets a new framework for protecting the environment and seeking to increase biodiversity. This includes proposals to develop a national Nature Recovery Network, Local Nature Recovery Strategies and to secure Biodiversity Net Gain. As the approach to nature recovery evolves development proposals will need to take into account the latest information to help appropriately support local nature recovery. The principles of Biodiversity Net Gain are defined in the Environment Act and require a minimum 10% net gain on relevant new development. At this time more detailed secondary legislation is being produced and this will need to be addressed through any relevant development proposals. It is anticipated that the first preference is for the Net Gain to be on site, if this cannot be achieved off site contributions will be considered in line with the arrangements that secondary legislation will put in place. Currently Nottinghamshire Local

Authorities are developing a joint approach to managing the implementation of Net Gain in the County.

Policy Area: Natural and Built Environment

Policy DM8 Development in the Open Countryside

In accordance with the requirements of Spatial Policy 3<u>of the Amended Core Strategy</u>, development away from the main built up areas of villages <u>or settlements</u>, in the open countryside, will be strictly controlled and limited to the following types of development;

1 Agricultural and Forestry Development Requiring Planning Permission

Proposals will need to explain the need for the development, it's siting and scale in relation to the use it is intended to serve.

2. New and Replacement Rural Workers Dwellings, the Extension of Existing <u>Rural</u> <u>Workers</u> Dwellings, and the Removal of Occupancy Conditions Attached to Existing Dwellings.

Proposals for new dwellings will be required to demonstrate an essential functional and financial need for a rural worker to live permanently at, or near, in relation to the relevant rural operation being served. The scale of new and replacement dwellings and extensions to those existing should be commensurate with the needs, and the ability of the operation they serve to fund them. Where a new or replacement dwelling is justified, its siting will be influenced by its functional role and the visual impact on the surrounding countryside should also be taken into account. Other than for the most minor of proposals, applications to extend dwellings subject to occupancy conditions will be assessed in the same way.

Extensions to existing rural workers dwellings will only be permitted where the extension does not undermine the retention of any occupancy condition.

Where existing dwellings are subject to conditions restricting occupancy, applications to remove such conditions will not be permitted unless it can be clearly demonstrated that:

- a) <u>The essential need which originally required the dwelling to be permitted no</u> <u>longer applies in relation to the land holding of the original source of employment;</u> <u>and</u>
- b) <u>The long term needs in the locality no longer warrants the dwelling's reservation</u> for that purpose with reasonable attempts having been made to dispose of the dwelling for the occupation as a rural worker's dwelling.

Occupancy conditions will only be removed were it can be demonstrated that they no longer servea useful purpose.

3. New and Replacement Dwellings

Planning permission will <u>not be granted for isolated new dwellings unless</u> only be granted for new dwellings where they are of exceptional <u>outstanding</u> quality or innovative nature of design, reflect<u>ing</u> the highest standards of architecture. <u>Proposals will also need to</u> significantly enhance their immediate setting and be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the local area.

Notwithstanding the above, planning permission will be granted for replacement dwellings were it can be demonstrated that the existing dwelling is in lawful residential use and is not of architectural or historical merit. In the interests of minimising visual impact on the countryside and maintaining a balanced rural housing stock, replacement dwellings should <u>enhance their immediate setting and</u> normally be of a similar size, scale and siting to that being replaced. <u>The appropriate subdivision of existing residential</u> dwellings in lawful use, to create additional new dwellings will also be supported.

Proposals for residential development which is demonstrated to represent the optimal viable use of a heritage asset, or which would constitute appropriate enabling development in order to secure the future of a heritage asset, will be positively viewed.

4. Replacement of Non-Residential Buildings

Where they are related to established uses or proposed uses enabled by other criteria of this policy, planning permission will be granted for the replacement of non-residential buildings. Proposals will need to demonstrate that the buildings to be replaced originated from a permanent design and construction, are not of architectural or historical merit, have not been abandoned and are not suitable for conversion to other uses. The replacement building should be located within the curtilage of the site it is intended to serve.

5. Conversion of existing buildings

In the interests of sustainability, consideration should be given to the conversion of existing buildings before proposing replacement development. Proposals should investigate and assess alternative uses for buildings in accordance with the aims of the Spatial Strategy and present a case for the most beneficial use. <u>Redevelopment proposals</u>, which significantly expand the existing form of the building, will not be considered under this element of the policy, but will instead be assessed as new development in open countryside under other relevant provisions of this policy.

Planning permission will only be <u>supported granted</u> for <u>the</u> conversion to <u>new</u> residential uses where it can be demonstrated that the <u>of buildings of</u> architectural or historical merit of the buildings <u>where it</u> warrants their preservation, and they can be converted without significant re-building, alteration or extension. <u>Further guidance over how</u> <u>proposals for the conversion of traditional rural buildings will be considered is provided</u> in the Conversion of Traditional Rural Buildings Supplementary Planning Document.

Proposals for the re-use of barns and other associated agricultural buildings will be required to submit a protected species survey and proposed mitigation alongside the planning application (i.e., a pre-determination protected species survey).

Proposals for residential development will also need to demonstrate that the enhancement of their immediate setting has been provided for.

6. Rural Diversification

Proposals to diversify the economic activity of <u>agricultural and</u> rural businesses will be supported where it can be shown that they can contribute to the local economy. Proposals should be complimentary and proportionate to the existing business in their nature and scale and be accommodated in existing buildings wherever possible.

Proposals for development which helps sustain existing agricultural and other rural enterprises such as small-scale farm shops selling local produce will be supported. To represent appropriate rural diversification, Farm Shops will be expected to source a reasonable proportion of their produce from the farm and / or local area. This would be secured by way of condition.

<u>Planning applications should be supported by a statement that demonstrates the</u> <u>proposed development forms part of an appropriate rural diversification scheme which</u> <u>will contribute to making the existing business viable.</u>

7. Equestrian Uses

New commercial equestrian uses and the expansion of existing uses that contribute to the local economy will be supported where it can be demonstrated that the particular rural location is required. Proposals for new development should investigate the re-use of existing buildings and sites within and adjacent to settlements. In assessing such proposals, the Council will have regard to their cumulative impact. Proposals for dwellings in connection with equestrian uses will be assessed in accordance with criterion 2.

Proposals for domestic equestrian uses and associated buildings will be assessed against the criteria of Policy DM5(b).

8. Employment uses

Small scale <u>Employment development should be small in scale unless a larger scale can</u> <u>be justified and</u> will only be supported where it can demonstrate the need for a particular rural location and a contribution to providing or sustaining rural employment to meet local needs in accordance with the aims of Core Policy 6 <u>of the Amended Core Strategy</u>. Proposals for the proportionate expansionof existing businesses will be supported where they can demonstrate an ongoing contribution to local employment. Such proposals will not require justification through a sequential test.

Proposals to expand existing businesses or construct buildings for new businesses in the open countryside are more likely to be appropriate in areas such as industrial estates where the principle of such development is established. Where it is demonstrated that it is necessary, expansion into adjacent areas could be considered appropriate if the impacts are judged to be acceptable. The proportionality of such developments should be assessed individually and cumulatively and impacts on both the immediate vicinity and the wider setting should be considered. It should be demonstrated that location on

existing employment allocations or on employment land within urban boundaries or village envelopes is not more appropriate.

9. Community and Leisure Facilities

Community and recreational uses requiring land in the countryside will be supported on sites in close proximity to settlements. In accordance with Spatial Policy 8 of the <u>Amended Core Strategy</u>, proposals will be required to demonstrate they meet the needs of communities and in particular any deficiencies in current provision. Associated built development should be restrained to the minimum necessary to sustain the use.

10. Roadside Services

Proposals for roadside services in the countryside will not normally be supported unless a justified need for the particular location can be demonstrated. The scale of development should be restrained to the minimum necessary to serve the need and be designed to avoid an adverse impact on the surrounding landscape.

11. Visitor Based Tourism Development and Tourist Accommodation

In accordance with the aims of Core Policy 7 of the Amended Core Strategy, the benefits of sustainable tourism and visitor-based development (including tourist accommodation) are recognised and proposals which help to realise the tourism potential of the District, support the meeting of identified tourism needs, complement and enhance existing attractions or that address shortfalls in existing provision will be positively viewed. Core Policy 7 details the approach which will be taken towards the determination of proposals for tourism development in the open countryside. attractions and facilities that can demonstrate the need for a rural location in order to meet identified need, constitute appropriate rural diversification or can support local employment, community services and infrastructure will be supported. Proposals for new tourist attractions and the expansion of existing attractions that are based upon site specificheritage or natural environment characteristics will also be supported.

12. Tourist Accommodation

Tourist accommodation will be supported where it is necessary to meet identified tourism needs, itconstitutes appropriate rural diversification, including the conversion of existing buildings, and can support local employment, community services and infrastructure. Accommodation that is related and proportionate to existing tourist attractions will also be supported.

All proposals will need to satisfy other relevant Development Management Policies, take account of any potential visual impact they create and in particular address the requirements of LandscapeCharacter, in accordance with Core Policy 13.

Proposals resulting in the loss of the most versatile areas of agricultural land, will be required to demonstrate a sequential approach to site selection and demonstrate environmental or communitybenefits that outweigh the land loss.

Justification

7.63 Meeting the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy's targets for growth will inevitably place continued pressure on the countryside and the landscapes, traditional forms of development and biodiversity which it contains. Appropriate development can preserve the countryside as a natural resource whilst contributing to the prosperity of the District but inappropriate development can conversely have an irrevocably harmful effect. It is therefore important to set out a positive framework to assess development proposals that are necessary in the countryside and contribute to and provide opportunities for sustainable growth.

Agricultural and Forestry Development Requiring Planning Permission

7.64 Many proposals for agricultural development will be dealt with under the prior approval procedure but those that are not will consequently often be large or intensive and therefore have the potential for visual or environmental impact. Whilst it is accepted that a degree of impact is inevitable, in order to minimise this, the scale of proposals should be limited to that necessary to sustain the operation it is intended to serve. To allow the Council to balance the agricultural need against visual impact, applications should be accompanied by an explanation of the operational requirements for the development. Development should be sited and designed to complement existing development wherever possible and minimise its impact on the surrounding countryside.

New and Replacement Rural Workers Dwellings, the Extension of Existing Dwellings, and the Removal of Occupancy Conditions Attached to Existing Dwellings

- 7.65 The District contains a significant rural housing stock, some of which is restricted to occupation by rural workers through planning conditions. The reduction in market value of dwellings subjected to such conditions makes them more accessible to traditional lower paid rural workers.
- 7.66 Where dwellings are essential for the functioning of a new rural business or the expansion of an existing business, the availability of existing accommodation should firstly be explored. Where it can be shown that existing accommodation is not available or suitable it will be necessary for the applicant to demonstrate that a permanent dwelling is necessary for the proper functioning of the operation it is intended to serve and that the business alone is able to support its financial cost.
- 7.67 For dwellings to serve new businesses, or new activities within established businesses, proposals will need to demonstrate:
 - i. Clear evidence of a firm intention and ability to develop the enterprise concerned. This could include significant investment in new buildings or permanently sited equipment;
 - ii. A functional need is demonstrated by showing a dwelling is essential for the proper functioning of the enterprise for one or more workers to be readily available at most times. This may arise from the need to be on site day and night in case animals or agricultural processes require essential care at short notice or to deal quickly with emergencies that could otherwise cause serious loss of crops or products;

- iii. Clear evidence that the proposed enterprise has been planned on a sound financial basis; and
- iv. The functional need described at ii) could not be fulfilled by another existing dwelling on the unit, or any other existing accommodation in the area which is suitable and available for occupation by the workers concerned.
- 7.68 The Council will expect applications to be accompanied by the preceding 3 years audited accounts and sufficient information to address the other tests.
- 7.69 Where the exercise of permitted development rights on agricultural <u>rural workers</u> dwellings could lead to visual harm, the Council will consider removing these by condition. <u>Similarly,</u> <u>any proposed extension to will not be acceptable were it undermines the retention of the</u> <u>occupancy condition.</u>
- 7.70 In order to sustain the rural economy, it is important that there is sufficient housing to meet the needs of key workers and dwellings with occupancy conditions play an important part in ensuring this due to their lower market value. Even when the initial need for a dwelling has passed, it may still fulfil a need in relation to other operations in the surrounding area and this must be fully explored before the Council will consider removing occupancy conditions. Applications should be accompanied by evidence of marketing the dwelling at an appropriate price for a period appropriate to market conditions at the time. Rural workers dwellings are often situated in unsustainable locations where market housing would be contrary to planning policy and so their unrestricted occupation will only be allowed when the Council is satisfied that the restriction no longer serves a useful purpose.

New and Replacement dwellings

7.71 Whilst the NPPF (20243, paragraph 80) advocates that LPAs avoid new isolated dwellings in the open countryside, that do not relate to rural workers dwellings and the conversion of appropriate buildings, in special circumstances it also allows for dwellings of exceptional quality or innovative design to be considered. The policy sets out criteria for such consideration. When considering proposals for replacement dwellings, the Council will firstly need to be satisfied that the building is capable of being in lawful residential use and not of significant architectural or historical merit. In order to minimise the visual impact on the countryside, replacement dwellings should be of similar size, scale and siting to their predecessor. The Council recognise that the level of accommodation offered by some older dwellings does not reflect current living standards. Small increases in size to accommodate, for example an indoor bathroom will be acceptable. Proposals for significantly different siting will only be supported where they result in a substantial visual improvement to landscape character. Where the exercise of permitted development rights on replacement dwellings could lead to visual harm, the Council will consider removing these by condition. Smaller, market affordable dwellings contribute to the mix of rural housing stock and the Council does not wish to see this mix eroded through the whole sale replacement of small with large dwellings. The demolition of the existing dwelling concurrent with the substantial completion of its replacement will also be required by condition.

Replacement of Non-Residential Buildings

- 7.72 Where permanent buildings serve a beneficial purpose in relation to a non-residential use, the Council recognise that their replacement can lead to operational and environmental improvements. If buildings do not have any architectural or historical merit, either individually or as part of a group and cannot reasonably be converted, the Council will support their replacement.
- 7.73 In order to minimise the visual impact on the countryside, replacement buildings should be of similar size and siting to their predecessor. Proposals for buildings of substantially greater size or difference in siting will only be supported where operational or environmental improvements outweigh any visual impact. This policy is not intended to formalise or give permanency to buildings of a clearly temporary nature.

Conversion of Existing Buildings

- 7.74 The countryside contains many buildings that are no longer needed or suitable for their original purpose and a significant number of these have already been converted to other uses. Such buildings are mostly in unsustainable locations and consequently the Council will carefully consider new uses to ensure that they are the most appropriate to reflect the aims of the Spatial Strategy. Other than where they are very close to settlements, the conversion to dwellings is likely to be a very unsustainable use and consequently the The Council will only support the principle of <u>conversion to dwellings</u> this where the architectural or historical merit of the building(s) outweighs their unsustainable location. It will need to be demonstrated through the submission of a structural survey that the building is capable of being converted without substantial alteration or re-building. If approval is granted, the amount of re-building permitted will normally be restricted by condition to that required by the structural survey. If the need for further re-building is identified during the construction process, this may trigger the requirement for a new planning application. Submission of a protected species survey and any proposed mitigation will also be required as part of any application.
- 7.75 In developing schemes of conversion, applicants should consider and investigate alternative uses to arrive at those that best meet the aims of the Spatial Strategy and are compatible with the design of the building. As the most suitable use will depend on the nature of the buildings and their location within the District, case by case justification will be required. Further details are set out in the Conversion of Traditional Rural Building SPD.

Rural Diversification

7.76 Changes in the economy and agricultural practices have demanded rural businesses be more responsive in order to survive. Diversifying into complementary areas of business can help rural business remain viable, keep buildings in beneficial use and contribute to the overall rural economy. Development proposals that contribute to these aims will be supported. To minimise the visual impact on the countryside, existing buildings should be re-used wherever possible. New buildings should be sited and designed to reflect their location. In assessing applications, the Council will be firm in distinguishing between proposals for genuine diversification and those for independent businesses that may be more sustainably located elsewhere.

Equestrian Uses

- 7.77 The Council recognises the contribution that both business and recreational equestrian uses make to the District's rural economy and wish to encourage its continuance through supporting appropriate development.
- 7.78 In the interests of sustainability, proposals for new recreational uses should be located as close as possible to the population they are intending to serve. The re-use of existing buildings and edge of settlement locations should firstly be explored and will be particularly supported. New build development in the countryside will only be supported where no more sustainable sites are available or there is a justification specific to the particular proposal.

Employment Uses

- 7.79 Other than for small scale proposals, new businesses should investigate the availability of existing sites, and new build development in the countryside will only be supported where no alternative sites are available or there is a justification specific to the particular proposal.
- 7.80 Expansion of viable business and recreational uses will be supported subject to site specific assessment. It should be recognised that the expansion of any given site is likely to be limited at some point by its impacts on the countryside.
- 7.81 Small rural businesses have traditionally supported each other and the rural economy through providing products and services, and consequently employment, closely related to their location. In recognising the contribution that such businesses make to achieving sustainable development through delivering the aims of the Spatial Strategy, the Council will support the expansion of existing businesses and establishment of appropriate new businesses. Proposals to expand viable businesses will be supported where they can demonstrate an ongoing contribution to sustaining rural employment. This policy is not intended to allow the unlimited expansion of existing businesses. The visual or operational impacts may at some point outweigh the benefits of expansion.
- 7.82 Proposals for new businesses should be able to demonstrate both a need for a particular rural location and a contribution to sustaining rural employment. In the interests of minimising visual impact, new buildings should be restrained to the minimum necessary to sustain the business.

Community and Leisure Facilities

7.83 The large areas of land required for community and leisure facilities are rarely obtainable within <u>the built extent of settlements</u> village envelopes or urban boundaries and consequently the Council will support proposals to provide such facilities in response to identified need. Proposals should identify and quantify the need they intend to address and be designed to meet this with the minimum level of development necessary.

Roadside Services

7.84 The relatively short distances between those settlements within the District containing services and existing roadside service means that there is limited need for new development. Where a need in a particular location can be justified, the Council will support proposals that are designed to minimise their impact on the countryside.

Visitor Based Tourist Development and Tourist Accommodation

7.85 The District has a well-established rural tourist economy, a large part of which is based around the natural resources and heritage of the north western area. The Council is keen to ensure that this economy is sustained and allowed to grow through appropriate expansion. Proposals will be required to justify a countryside location by reference to an identified need in accordance with Core Policy 7.

Policy DM9 Protecting and Enhancing the Historic Environment

In accordance with the requirements of Core Policy 14 <u>of the Amended Core Strategy</u>, all development proposals concerning heritage assets will be expected to <u>conserve them in a</u> <u>manner appropriate to their significance</u> secure their continued protection or enhancement, contribute to the wider vitality, viability and regeneration of the areas in which they are located <u>(including its contribution to economic vitality</u>), reinforce a strong sense of place <u>and</u> <u>be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of existing and future generations</u>.

1. Listed Buildings

Proposals for the change of use of listed buildings and development affecting or within the curtilage of listed buildings requiring planning permission will be required to demonstrate that the proposal is compatible with the fabric and setting of the building. Impact on the special architectural or historical interest of the building <u>Any harm to, or loss of, the special architecture or historical significance of the building will require clear and convincing justification set out in full in the heritage impact assessment will require justification in accordance with the aims of Core Policy14.</u>

2. Conservation Areas

Development proposals should take account of the distinctive character and setting of individual conservation areas including open spaces and natural features and reflect this in their layout, design, form, scale, mass, use of materials and detailing. Impact on the character and appearance Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of Conservation Areas (including character and appearance) will require clear and convincing justification set out in full in the heritage impact assessment in accordance with the aims of Core Policy 14.

3. Historic Landscapes

Development proposals should respect the varied historic landscapes of the district (including registered parks and gardens and Stoke Field registered battlefield) through their setting and design. Appropriate development that accords with the <u>Amended</u> Core

Strategy, other Development Plan Documents and facilitates a sustainable future for Laxton will be supported. <u>Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of historic landscapes</u> will require clear and convincing justification set out in full in the heritage impact assessment in accordance with the aims of Core Policy 14.

4. Archaeology

Development proposals should take account of their effect on sites and their settings with the potential for archaeological interest. Where <u>development</u> proposals <u>include</u>, or <u>have the potential to include</u>, heritage assets with archaeological interest, an appropriate archaeological impact / desk-based assessment will be required and where <u>necessary</u>, accompanied by a field evaluation which may include both non-intrusive and <u>intrusive archaeological investigation</u>. are likely to affect known important sites, sites of significant archaeological potential, or those that become known through the <u>developmentprocess</u>, will be required to submit an appropriate desk based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation. This will then be used to inform <u>the need for further evaluation or</u> a range of archaeological mitigation measures, if required, for preservation by record and more occasionally preservation in situ. Planning permission will not normally be granted for development proposals which would lead to the substantial harm (or total loss of significance of) destroy or detrimentally affectScheduled Ancient Monuments <u>or other sites of demonstrable national significance such as Farndon and River Devon Ice Age Landscape</u>.

Within Newark's Historic Core, as defined on the Policies Map, archaeological evaluation will usually be required prior to the determination of planning applications.

5. All Heritage Assets

This criterion concerns all heritage assets, including non-designated assets which meet the Council's criteria. All development proposals affecting heritage assets and their settings, including new operational development and alterations to existing buildings, where they form or affect heritage assets should utilise appropriate siting, design, detailing, materials and methods of construction. Particular attention should be paid to reflecting locally distinctive styles of development and these should respect traditional methods and natural materials wherever possible. Where development proposals requiring planning permission involve demolition, the resulting impact on heritage assets will be assessed under this policy. All planning applications for development proposals which affect heritage assets should include a description of the significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their setting. Where there is evidence of deliberate neglect of, or damage to, a heritage asset, the deteriorated state will not be taken into account in any planning decision.

6. Shopfronts

Shopfronts of high architectural or historical value should be retained and preserved wherever possible. Proposals for new shopfronts should respect the character, scale, proportion and detailing of the host building. Detailed assessment of proposals will be made in accordance with a Shopfronts and Advertisements Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document.

Justification

7.86 The District contains many designated and non-designated heritage assets that combine to form a rich and distinctive historic environment. Core Policy 14 <u>of the Amended Core</u> <u>Strategy</u> sets out the strategic aims for protecting, preserving and enhancing these and this policy will be used to achieve those aims through the assessment of individual proposals.

Listed Buildings

- 7.87 Development proposals that require only listed building or conservation area consent will be determined in accordance with national legislation, but those that require planning permission will also be assessed against this policy.
- 7.88 A heritage impact assessment will be required to justify any harm to, or loss of the special architecture or historical significance of the Listed Building. In the case of listed buildings, the The suitability of proposed alternative uses will be assessed by reference to the degree of alteration required to facilitate the use; the lesser the degree of alteration, the more acceptable the use is likely to be. Where it can be demonstrated that the only viable use requires alteration, this should be restrained to the minimum necessary and designed so as to preserve the fabric and setting of the building as completely as possible.

Conservation Areas

7.89 The District's many Conservation Areas display a wide variety of distinctive characters which will continue to be defined through conservation area appraisals over the plan period. To ensure that this is maintained and enhanced, development proposals should take account of and reflect the relevant elements of character <u>and any harm to, or loss of significance to the Conservation Area should be addressed in a heritage impact assessment.</u>

Historic Landscapes

- 7.90 The District contains a number of historic landscapes including Registered Historic Parks and Gardens, the Historic Battlefield at Stoke Field, the Sherwood Forest Heritage Area and the Historic Landscape around Laxton. Development proposals that are within and outside these areas have the potential to impact on their character and consequently should be designed to respect the individual characteristics of the particular area and thereby minimise the impact upon it. Any harm to, or loss of significance to an historic landscape resulting from development proposals should be addressed in a heritage impact assessment.
- 7.91 The open field system in and around Laxton is unique within the country and requires special consideration. Planning permission will not be granted for development proposals that adversely affect this heritage asset by virtue of character or operation. <u>Proposals for build development in and around Laxton will be considered against Policy ShA/L/1 Laxton</u>.

Archaeology

7.92 There are records of many archaeological remains throughout the District and it is likely that many more remain unrecorded. These are most likely to be discovered through development and consequently need to be taken into account in the development process.

In areas such as Newark's Historic Core where there is a high likelihood of remains, these should be investigated and taken into account as part of the design process. It is accepted that remains sometimes only come to light as part of the development process and where this happens the Council will determine the application in light of their presence.

- 7.93 <u>Significant archaeological locations at Newark and Southwell have individual policies which</u> set out how the particular site circumstances that should be considered:
 - NUA/AR/1 Archaeology Farndon & River Devon Ice Age Landscape
 - NUA/AR/2 Archaeology Newark Civil War
 - <u>So/AR/1 Archaeology Southwell Roman Villa</u>

All Heritage Assets

7.94 Many of the Districts heritage assets are undesignated but warrant no less consideration as such. The Council will expect all proposals affecting heritage assets to be designed to a high standard, taking into account the relevant individual characteristics and should include a description of the significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their setting. Some assets are only revealed through the development process and where this is the case proposals may need to be amended to take account of their presence.

Shopfronts

7.95 Shop fronts of high architectural or historical value exist across the District in a variety of settings sometimes individually and sometimes as part of a group. Where they do not form part of a listed building or lie outside a conservation area, they will often form an undesignated heritage asset. In recognition of the contribution that they make to forming the character of the District, the Council is keen to see them retained and incorporated into new development wherever possible. New shop fronts can also make a positive contribution to the character of an area and where these are proposed they should be designed to complement the host building. The presence of poorly designed shopfronts in the vicinity will not be accepted as justification for a lesser standard of design. The introduction of well-designed shopfronts can often act as a catalyst for the same within a street or area.

Policy DM10 Pollution and Hazardous Materials

Development proposals involving hazardous materials or the potential for pollution should take account of and address their potential impacts in terms of health, the natural environment and general amenity on:

- 1. Neighbouring land uses;
- 2. The wider population;
- 3. Ground and surface water, water courses and water quality;
- 4. Air quality; and

5. Biodiversity

Proposals for potential point source polluters and other activities that have potential to lead to increased deposition of nitrogen should, as part of any planning application, consider the potential for effects on European sites and the scope for avoiding or mitigating these.

A conceptual site model should be prepared with an investigation report for the potential development site. A site investigation to confirm the conceptual site model should then be undertaken and dependent upon findings of such a remediation/mitigation plan with subsequent validation should then be agreed with the planning authority.

Any impact should be balanced against the economic and wider social need for the development. Proposals should include necessary mitigation as part of the development or through off site measures where necessary. Harmful development which cannot be made acceptable will be resisted.

Development proposals near hazardous substance installations, as defined on the Policies Map, or near development with the potential for significant pollution should take account of and address the potential risk arising from them. Any risk should be balanced against the economic and wider social need for the development. Development that would be put at an unacceptable risk from its proximity to such installations will be resisted.

Development proposals should identify opportunities to improve air quality or mitigate impacts, such as through traffic and travel management, green infrastructure provision and enhancement. Account should be taken of the Air Quality Strategy for Nottingham and Nottinghamshire 2020-2030. Issues around air quality will be discussed in greater detail in Newark & Sherwood District Council's forthcoming Air Quality SPD. Once this document is adopted, relevant development proposals will be assessed against it or any successor document.

Where a site is known, or highly likely to have been contaminated by a previous use, investigation of this and proposals for any necessary mitigation should form part of the proposal for re-development. Where contamination comes to light as part of the development process, the proposal will be determined in light of this.

Development proposals within and with the potential to impact on the Groundwater Source Protection Zone, as defined on the Policies Map, should address the potential risk through mitigation as part of the development or through off site measures where necessary. Proposals that present an unacceptable risk to the Groundwater Source Protection Zone will be resisted.

All proposals will be required to address the Landscape Character of the District, in accordance with Core Policy 13 <u>of the Amended Core Strategy</u> and satisfy the criteria of other relevant Development Plan Documents.

Justification

- 7.96 The National Planning Policy Framework requires that planning policies ensure that new development is appropriate for its location in order to prevent unacceptable risks from pollution.
- 7.97 This policy is intended to provide a means of assessment for all types of development proposals requiring planning permission where pollution or hazardous substances are a consideration.

Policy Area: Economic Growth

Policy DM11 Retail and <u>Main</u> Town Centre Uses

Within defined Centres, proposals for new development or changes of use which require planning permission, should prioritise uses which will contribute towards the vitality and viability of the Centre ahead of the consideration of other uses. For the purposes of implementation, this will involve the prioritisation of uses defined through National Policy as 'Main Town Centre Uses' and those falling within the E use-class, and following this, other uses (such as residential development in appropriate locations) which would contribute towards this objective.

In addition to the above, the design and layout of in-Centre schemes should, wherever possible, seek:

- <u>Secure active frontages;</u>
- <u>To realise opportunities to improve pedestrian permeability, for all users, within the</u> <u>Centre; and</u>
- Where a mix of uses is proposed to give careful consideration to their distribution in order to ensure that vitality and viability is optimised.

In accordance with the Retail Hierarchy set out in Core Policy 8 of the Amended Core Strategy, retail development and other <u>Main</u> towncentre uses of a scale concurrent with the population growth of the District will be assessed as follows:

1. Newark

New and enhanced retail development and other <u>Main</u> town centre <u>and other</u> uses that support the vitality and viability consolidate <u>or enhance the</u> composition of the town centre <u>and appropriately enhance it composition</u> will be supported within the Town Centre Boundary, as defined on the Policies Map.

Proposals for non-retail uses at street level within the Primary Shopping Frontages, as defined on the Policies Map, will not be supported unless they can demonstrate a positive contribution to the vitality and viability of the town centre.

The Council will support a greater diversity of town centre uses that contribute to the overall vitality and viability of the town centre within the Secondary Shopping Frontages,

as defined on the PoliciesMap, providing that there is no overall dominant use other than retail (A1). Within the lower part of Stodman Street and along Castle Gate, the Council will not resist a dominance of restaurant and cafe (A3) uses.

To promote the continued vitality and viability of the Town Centre, support will be provided for schemes which will assist with the implementation of the Newark-on-Trent Town Investment Plan and subsequent Town Centre Strategy Newark Town Centre Masterplan.

2. District Centres of Edwinstowe, Rainworth, Ollerton and Southwell

New and enhanced retail development and other <u>Main Town Centre uses that are</u> consistent with the size and <u>role function</u> of the centre, and maintain and enhance its role will be supported within the District Centres <u>of Edwinstowe</u>, <u>Ollerton and Southwell</u>, as defined on the Policies Map. Proposals for non-retail uses within Primary Shopping Frontages, where defined on the Policies Map, will be resisted unless they can demonstrate a positive contribution to the vitality and viability of the District Centres.

3. Local Centres

Within the Local Centres of Balderton (North and South), Bilsthorpe (North and South), Blidworth, Boughton, Clipstone, Collingham, Farnsfield, Fernwood Village Centre, Lowdham and Rainworth as defined on the Polices Map, and the new Local Centres at Land South of Newark (NAP 2A), Land east of Newark (NAP 2B), Land at Fernwood (NAP 2C) and Sutton-on-Trent (ST/LC/1) – new and enhanced retail development and other non-retail Main Town Centre uses, consistent with the size and role of the centre, will be supported.

of Balderton, Bilsthorpe, Blidworth, Boughton, Clipstone, Collingham, Farnsfield, Lowdham, Sutton on Trent, Land South of Newark (as set out in Policy NAP 2A) Land East of Newark (as set out in Policy NAP 2B) and Land at Fernwood (as set out in Policy NAP 2C).

Within existing Local Centres, as defined on the Policies Map, new and enhanced convenience retail development that serves the community in which it is located and is consistent with its size and function will be supported.

Within the new Local Centres arising from the implementation of Area Policies of the <u>Amended</u>Core Strategy,convenience retail development of an appropriate scale to meet local need that consolidates and enhances the existing hierarchy of existing centres will be supported.

4. Edge and Out of Centre Locations

Retail

Retail development in all out-of-centre locations will be strictly controlled. Retail proposals creatingmore than 2500 sqm of floor space outside of town, district and local centre locations will require justification through a sequential test and robust assessment of the impact on nearby centres and the following:

In line with Core Policy 8 'Retail & Town Centres', retail development in edge and outof-centre locations will be controlled through application of the Sequential Test, with proposals requiring justification through a proportionate application of the Test – which has prioritised centre and then edge-of-centre locations ahead of considering out-ofcentre sites. Where there is no commercial or functional necessity for different elements of a scheme to be located alongside one another and there could be the potential for them to be delivered separately or in a different form, then the scope for disaggregation should be considered.

Edge and out-of-centre retail proposals should be acceptable in terms of their impact on the vitality and viability of centres, existing, committed and planned investment and on in-centre trade as well as, where applicable, trade in the wider area. Therefore, proposals exceeding the thresholds in Amended Core Strategy Core Policy 8 should be accompanied by a robust assessment of impact which addresses, but is not limited to, the following considerations:

- <u>Current and forecast expenditure capacity (including online expenditure)</u>. With the capacity to support additional convenience and comparison retail floorspace being forecast to be driven by increases in residual expenditure as a result of population growth. This capacity is anticipated to arise towards the end of the Plan period, with the delivery of housing growth being a particularly importance influence;
- The impact on the range and quality of the comparison and convenience retail offer; and
- The impact of the proposal on allocated sites outside town centres being developed in accordance with the Development Plan.

Assessments should take account of current and future expenditure capacity and the appropriatenessof their scale.

<u>In addition</u>, for proposals that may impact on Newark Town Centre, the following should also be taken into account:

- The function of the town centre as a market town and the viability of the market;
- The effect of development on independent retailers having regard to their role within the town centre; and
- The impact of development on the town centre in catering for tourism.

All proposals will be required to satisfy the criteria of other relevant Development Plan Documents.

Small scale retail proposals below the thresholds in Core Policy 8 which are located within the Main Built-up Area, but beyond the centre boundary of the Sub-Regional Centre, Service Centre's and Principal Villages will be supported providing that they fulfil a 'local needs' function (by virtue of the scale and type of retail floorspace proposed). Such proposals will not be required to demonstrate satisfaction of the Sequential Test, and where below the local thresholds in Core Policy 8, the Impact Test.

Non-retail Main Town Centre Uses

Proposals for non-retail Main Town Centre Uses in edge and out-of-centre locations will be subject to the sequential approach outlined in Core Policy 8. Justification will be required through the undertaking of a proportionate Sequential Test, which has prioritised centre and then edge-of-centre locations ahead of considering out-of-centre sites. Where there is no commercial or functional necessity for different elements of a scheme to be located alongside one another, and there could be the potential for them to be delivered separately or in a different form, then the scope for disaggregation should be considered.

Leisure and office development outside of Centres exceeding 2,500sqm and not in accordance with the Development Plan, must be acceptable in terms of impact on the vitality and viability of centres, on existing, committed and planned investment and where appropriate on in-centre trade and trade in the wider area. Such proposals should therefore be accompanied by a robust assessment of impact.

5. Rural Areas

New or enhanced retail development of a scale proportionate to its location that increases rural sustainability, supports local agriculture or farm diversification in accordance with the aims of CorePolicy 11 will be supported. Such proposals will not require justification through a sequential test.

Within villages beyond the principal village level of the Settlement Hierarchy, small scale retail proposals, where they fulfil a 'local needs' function (by virtue of the scale and type of retail floorspace proposed), and enhance the sustainability of the settlement will be supported, in line with Spatial Policy 3 'Rural Areas' and Core Policy 11 'Rural Accessibility'. Where there is no existing provision in the settlement, then such proposals will not be required to demonstrate satisfaction of the Sequential Test, and where below the local thresholds in the Core Policy 8, the Impact Test.

Small-scale rural diversification schemes which include appropriate forms of retail provision, small-scale rural offices and / or the other small-scale rural development will not be required to demonstrate satisfaction of the Sequential Test. Retail floorspace within such schemes falling below the local thresholds in Core Policy 8 will also be exempt from the Impact Test. Rural diversification schemes should be consistent with the approach set out in Policy DM8 'Development in the Open Countryside'.

Justification

7.98 Retail development is important to the District in both encouraging economic development and promoting sustainability. Within the Sub-Regional Centre and District Centres, appropriate retail opportunities can encourage inward investment and thereby maintain and enhance their vitality and viability. Proportionate scale retail development within Local Centres can reduce the need to travel for convenience goods and in Rural Areas, appropriate development such as farm shops can both help strengthen the rural economy and provide for local needs.

7.99 In Newark, the Town Centre Boundary defines the main area of economic activity and consequently justification is not required for appropriate uses. The retention of Primary Shopping Frontages within Newark and the Local centres are key to maintaining their vitality and viability and consequently. The District Council and its partners are pursuing a range of activities to enhance the sustainability and vitality of Newark town centre. The Newark Town Investment Plan includes proposals to regenerate key buildings and grow footfall. Further proposals will be included in the Newark Town Centre Strategy Masterplan. Proposals which support the implementation of these strategies will be supported.

The Council recognises that, particularly during times of economic downturn, Secondary Shopping Frontages are unlikely to command full retail occupancy and indeed the allowance of a greater diversity of uses can contribute to the vitality and viability of the town centre by promoting linked shopping trips. Provided that no single non-retail use becomes dominant to the detriment of the town centre, the Council will support such diversity. Only where it can be demonstrated that neither retail nor other town centre uses are commercially viable within Secondary Shopping Frontages, will the Council look favourably on proposals for residential use at ground floor level. Parts of Stodman Street and Castle Gate have become informally dominated by food and drink uses and in recognising the contribution that this makes to the vitality of the town centre, the Council will not seek to resist proposals for the continuance of this.

- 7.100 Retail development within Local Centres should provide for the day to day needs of residents and in doing so reduce the need to travel. As the planned growth within the Local Development Framework takes place, there will be a need for both the expansion of existing, and new shops within these settlements. For new shops in existing centres, and where they form part of the new local centres identified within the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy, the Council will have regard to the impact of both the nature and scale of the proposal on existing retail development and the hierarchy of which it forms part.
- 7.101 Inappropriate retail development in <u>edge of and</u> out of centre locations can cause significant harm to both the vitality and viability of individual centres and the retail hierarchy of the district. Consequently, the Council will require proposals to be accompanied by an assessment of the impact. Where this demonstrates there would be a significant adverse impact on the vitality and viability of the town centre or existing, committed or planned investment in it, the proposal will be resisted. <u>Similarly non-retail main town centre uses in edge of and out of centre locations need to be carefully considered and the policy sets out the various considerations for the different types of such uses.</u>
- 7.102 Within the rural areas of the District, the Council will take a proportionate approach to retail proposals in villages which seek to fulfil 'local need' and help support the sustainability of local communities. Rural diversification schemes will also be considered proportionately with small scale schemes not required to carry out the sequential approach. In the case of retail elements of such schemes they must meet the requirements of Core Policy 8 and Policy DM8. there will be shops in locations and of scales that, whilst not compliant with current planning policy, none the less provide for local need and contribute to local employment. Where it can be demonstrated that proposals for the expansion of such businesses are of

benefit to the local community, they will be supported. Proposals for new retail development that can similarly demonstrate benefits will also be supported.

Policy DM12 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

A positive approach to considering development proposals will be taken that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. Where appropriate, the Council will work pro-actively with applicants jointly to seek solutions which mean that proposals can be approved wherever possible, and to secure development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions within the district.

The Development Plan is the statutory starting point for decision making. Planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development Plan for Newark and Sherwood (including, where relevant, policies in Neighbourhood Development Plans) will be approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. <u>The Development Plan also includes the Nottinghamshire Minerals Local Plan which identifies Minerals Safeguarding Areas. Within these areas consideration of the impact of the proposed development on minerals resources may be required in line with the provisions of that Plan. The Minerals Safeguarding Areas are shown on the Policies Map.</u>

Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of date at the time of making the decision, then permission will be granted unless material considerations indicateotherwise – taking into account whether:

- Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the National Planning Policy Framework taken as a whole. Where adverse impacts do not outweigh benefits consideration should be given to mitigation where harm would otherwise occur; or
- Specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be restricted.

Policy DM13 Regeneration Programmes and Schemes

Newark Urban Area

The Council will work proactively to deliver the aims and objectives of the <u>Newark Town Centre</u> <u>Masterplan and accompanying Design Code</u>, <u>Newark-on-Trent Town Investment Plan (TIP)</u>, <u>Newark Conservation Area Character Appraisal and Newark High Street Heritage Action Zone</u> (HSHAZ), their successor documents and related strategies. Development proposals which will assist in achieving this outcome will therefore be supported. This will include the bringing forward of appropriate regeneration schemes on sites in and around the Newark Urban Area. Any development proposals that, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, undermine the delivery of identified outcomes will be resisted.

The wider Newark & Sherwood District

The Council will pursue available opportunities to deliver regeneration programmes and schemes in locations across the District. Development proposals which arise as a result of recognised regeneration programmes and strategies will therefore be positively considered.

- 7.103 The District Council is committed to developing strong, proactive working relationships with public, private and voluntary sector partners operating within Newark & Sherwood. These partnerships, bringing together a wide range of knowledge and skills, enable joined-up thinking and collaborative work that can assist in pursuing funding and investment, and can accelerate the delivery of transformational regeneration projects and infrastructure across the whole District, helping to address economic differences and drive the prosperity that is envisioned as part of the Government's 'levelling up' agenda.
- 7.104 In Newark Urban Area the District Council is pursuing a range of regeneration activities as part of its Town Investment Fund and other programmes. The District Council is currently has commissioneding a Town Centre Strategy the development of a Newark Town Centre Masterplan (including a design code) to draw together the various strands of these programmes. NAP1 Newark Urban Area, NUA/TC/1 Newark Urban Area - Newark Town Centre and DM13 provide the policy framework for these programmes and facilitate their implementation.
- 7.105 The Shared Prosperity Fund and the Levelling Up Fund for the Sherwood Area provide opportunities to help regenerate locations across the District helping to meet the aims of the Area Policies in the Amended Core Strategy.

8.0 Homes for all

- 8.1 This chapter sets out the Council's policies in relation to Affordable Housing, Housing Mix Type and Density and the Council's policies and allocations to meet Gypsy, Roma, Traveller housing need.
- 8.2 A number of policies within the Amended Core Strategy required updating to reflect changes to housing policy made by the Government. As a new Housing Needs Assessment had been undertaken by the Council since the adoption of the Amended Core Strategy it was decided that the updated need position should also be reflected in updated policies. The following chapter sets out the updated situation and the new and amended policies that reflect the current circumstances.
- 8.3 Adopting the Amended Allocations & Development Management DPD will affect the status of the Housing Core Policies in the Amended Core Strategy in the following way:

Amended Core Strategy	Amended Allocations & Development Management DPD
Core Policy 1 Affordable Housing Provision	Completely replaced by a new Core Policy 1 in this document
Core Policy 2 Rural Affordable Housing	Retained in full from the Amended Core Strategy
Core Policy 3 Housing Mix, Type, Density	Completely replaced by a new Core Policy 3 in
	this document
Core Policy 4 Gypsies & Travellers Provision	The policies and allocations in this chapter are in
	conformity with this Policy.
Core Policy 5 Criteria for Considering Sites for	Retained in full from the Amended Core Strategy
Gypsies & Travellers and Travelling	
Showpeople	

8.4 There is also an additional policy that has been introduced Core Policy 2A Entry-Level Exception Housing to provide local context for this national policy.

Affordable Housing

- 8.5 Affordable Housing is defined in the NPPF as housing "for sale or rent, for those whose needs are not met by the market." Social and Affordable rented housing in the district is normally provided by the District Council or from a Register Provider (Housing Association). Affordable Home Ownership Products (also known as intermediate housing) refers to housing which is available to buy or to part buy/part rent at below the market price. There are a number of ways this can be achieved.
- 8.6 Most of the affordable housing that is built in the District is secured through schemes pursued by Registered Providers and the Council's own house building programme, however a significant element comes from requiring developers to provide affordable dwellings as part of new development. This chapter sets out the parameters for securing Affordable Housing from new development which will be supported by an updated Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document.

- 8.7 The Newark & Sherwood Housing Needs Assessment 2020 provides a detailed assessment of future housing need in the District, using primary and secondary data to make a series of conclusion:
 - <u>Significant requirement for additional affordable housing across all parts of the District</u> with a need for 243 affordable homes per annum.
 - <u>There is a need to improve the delivery of affordable housing to address identified need.</u> <u>The current 30% target remains ambitious although in recent years the level of affordable delivery has improved. Affordable home ownership options for key workers should also be considered given the affordability challenges across the district.</u>
 - An overall tenure split of 70% market housing and 30% affordable housing is reasonable based on the evidence, with an affordable tenure split of 60% social/affordable rented housing and 40% affordable home ownership options as defined in the NPPF. The affordable tenure split is based on the tenure preferences of households in affordable need and what they could afford and supports current policy and confirms that the split evidenced in the previous 2014 housing needs survey remains appropriate.
 - New development needs to reflect the needs of an ageing population whilst continuing to develop housing for younger age groups and a range of income groups to support economic growth ambitions. The overall focus needs to be on delivering 2 and 3– bedroom dwellings and a marked increase in the delivery of bungalows is needed.
 - The majority of older people want to remain in their own home with help and support when needed. There is therefore a need to improve support services available to older people across all tenures. Additionally there is a need to increase the specialist older persons housing provision, for instance extra care and retirement housing.
 - There is a need to regularly review the needs of different groups and the impact of physical disability and mental health on housing need. There is a specific need to deliver 1% of new dwellings to M4(3) wheelchair accessible standard and a minimum of 23% of new homes to M4(2) accessible and adaptable standard.
- 8.8 The NPPF requires that requirements made of developers through Development Plans are tested for viability and therefore the Council commissioned a Whole Plan & CIL Viability Assessment which has investigated the potential for new residential development to deliver affordable housing. The Assessment concluded in broad terms that delivering 30% of affordable housing across the District is viable with recognition that delivery will be tailored to reflect local market circumstances and individual site circumstances.
- 8.9 The District Council has set out a threshold in line with the NPPF for qualifying sites for affordable housing, namely; all housing proposals of 10 units or more or those that have a site area of 0.5 hectares or more. This is alongside tenure requirements which match local need evidence and national requirements. National policy requires the following:
 - that overall at least 10% of new homes should be affordable home ownership product; and
 - whatever your local target for affordable home ownership product 25% must be First Homes.

- 8.10 The Council's policy exceeds the 10% overall target and clearly sets out that the 25% First Homes should be achieved. The Glossary in Appendix A sets out a full definition of the various Affordable Housing products referred to in Core Policy 1. It is important to note that whilst Affordable Rent and Social Rent continue to be the products that deliver rented Affordable Housing, there are now a variety of different home ownership products including:
 - <u>Shared Ownership</u>
 - Discount Market for Sale
 - <u>Rent to buy</u>
 - First Homes.
- 8.11 The aim of these products is to enable people to get on to the home ownership ladder by providing a range options for buying at a discount and in many cases in stages. The District Council will seek to ensure that when proposing products as part of new developments they are properly "affordable" products within the definitions in the NPPF and legislation and that they reflect identified need.

Core Policy 1 - Affordable Housing Provision

For all qualifying new housing development proposals, the District Council will require the provision of Affordable Housing, as defined in national planning policy, which is provided to eligible households whose needs are not met by the market.

<u>A</u> <u>Thresholds</u>

The qualifying thresholds for Affordable Housing provision are:

All housing proposals of 10 units or more or those that have a site area of 0.5 hectares or more.

<u>B</u> <u>Tenure Requirements</u>

On qualifying schemes the District Council will seek to secure 30% Affordable Housing, which includes the national requirement to secure 10% of new dwellings as affordable home ownership product as set out in part D of this policy.

The District Council will seek to secure a tenure mix of Affordable Housing to reflect local housing need and viability on individual sites. Overall the tenure requirement in the District should reflect the following mix:

- <u>60% social rented/affordable rented;</u>
- 40% affordable home ownership product.

The affordable home ownership product element of the contribution will comprise of the overall national 25% First Homes with the remaindinger <u>15%</u> made up of other affordable home ownership products based on an up-to-date assessment of local need. First Homes should secure a minimum discount of 30% against market value.

<u>C</u><u>Viability & Site Specific Implementation</u>

In seeking affordable housing the District Council will consider:

- <u>The nature of the housing need in the local housing market;</u>
- If the development will result in the bringing back into use of a vacant building in circumstances where the vacant building credit would apply;
- The cost of developing the site; and
- The impact of this on the viability of any proposed scheme.

In circumstances where the viability of the scheme is in question, the developer will be required to demonstrate, to the satisfaction of the District Council, that this is the case. Viability will be assessed in accordance with Policy DM3 – Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations.

The District Council's preferred approach would normally expect affordable housing provision to occur on site. However it is recognised that in some circumstances off site provision or contributions may be more appropriate, because of the characteristics of the scheme proposed or because it may help to deliver affordable housing provision more efficiently elsewhere in the locality. The District Council will require a financial contribution of equivalent value to that which would have been secured by on site contribution.

D Implementing the 10% Affordable Home ownership product target

National policy requires that at least 10% of dwellings on qualifying sites be affordable home ownership products. This should be provided unless;

- It is identified that it would significantly prejudice the ability to meet the identified affordable housing needs of specific groups. This should be established using local housing need research; or
- <u>It meets one of the exceptions set out in national policy.</u>

National policy does not allow an exemption on grounds of viability for the provision of the 10% affordable home ownership products.



- 8.12 The District Council believes that setting a 30% target for new housing development to be Affordable will help secure the highest level of such housing that is viable. In order to ensure that local market and individual site circumstances are taken into account, the Council will carefully consider local housing need on each site requiring affordable housing and its viability. Mix of tenure will need to be reviewed on an area and site basis, based on the latest need information to allow the District Council and developers to best meet local need.
- 8.13 To encourage the re-use of brownfield land were vacant buildings are being re-used or redeveloped the NPPF states "any affordable housing contribution due should be reduced by a proportionate amount equivalent to the existing gross floor space of the existing buildings". The credit does not apply to abandoned buildings and the Council will use the national guidance on the issue as a basis for decision making on individual schemes.
- 8.14 Core Policy 2 Rural Affordable Housing as adopted in the Amended Core Strategy continues to be the policy that should be used to determine proposals for rural affordable exceptions sites. The Policy is recreated below so that all of the Affordable Housing Policies can easily be read together. No changes to the adopted policy are proposed.

Core Policy 2 – Rural Affordable Housing

The District Council will pro-actively seek to secure the provision of affordable housing on rural affordable housing `exceptions sites.' Such sites should be in or adjacent to villages and meet the requirements set out in Spatial Policy 3 Rural Areas relating to Scale, Need, Impact and Character of Development. Within the Green Belt Settlements development must be in line with Spatial Policy 4 Green Belt.

The need for such housing must be demonstrated by an appropriately constituted Housing Needs Survey.

Entry Level Exceptions Sites

8.15 National planning policy sets out that local planning authorities should support the development of entry-level exception sites which are suitable for first time buyers (or those looking to rent their first home), unless the need for such homes is already being met within the authority's area. Given that such schemes are exceptional in nature proposals should demonstrate how they help to meet the District's specific needs around tenure, mix and type for entry level housing. Similarly any scheme should respond to the particular housing need characteristics in the locality of the proposal demonstrated by the provision of appropriate evidence. The NPPF then goes on to set out a number of requirements including location and scale. The Council's policy places the national requirements within the local planning policy context.

Core Policy 2A - Entry-Level Exception Housing

Entry-level exception sites as set out in national planning policy will be supported in locations adjacent to the Urban Boundary/Village Envelopes of the Newark Urban Area, Service Centres and Principal Villages where it can be demonstrated that they are addressing a shortfall of the type of entry-level product being promoted in the proposal.

Such proposals should also reflect the type of entry level product that is required in the locality of the proposal. They should not be larger than one hectare in size or exceed 5% of the size of the existing settlement and be in line with DM5b Design and the Sustainable Design SPD.

Entry-level exceptions sites are not acceptable in the Green Belt, on Main Open Areas, Open Breaks, Local Green Space, or areas at risk of flooding, or on designated nature conservation sites or that impact on the special character of heritage assets contrary to the provisions of Core Policy 14 Historic Environment.

Mix, Type and Density of New Housing Development

- 8.16 The District Council is keen to ensure high standards of development in the building of new homes. Development should be informed by the character and materials around it and address the impact of the development and its use on the environment. The NPPF allows Councils to set a range of densities for new housing development. In allocating the Strategic Sites the Council has set a density range for housing development of 30 50 dwellings per ha, with the higher densities located in and around the local centres.
- 8.17 New housing must also address the long term house type needs of the District. <u>The Housing Needs Assessment 2020</u> indicates that there is an increase in the elderly population and that the District's housing will need to be adaptable to meet the needs of elderly and disabled residents. <u>This includes identifying the need to introduce national discretionary accessibility standard based on an assessment of secondary data sources and the primary survey work undertaken as part of the assessment. This means that on qualifying sites, 23 percent of new dwelling will need to reflect the M4(2) accessibility and adaptable standard, and 1 percent M4(3) wheelchair accessible standard. The M4(3) standard will be within the affordable</u>

housing provision as the Council needs to have ongoing involvement in the nomination rights to these properties. Where self-contained C2 units are proposed for older persons occupation, these form part of the housing requirement as identified in the Amended Core Strategy.

8.18 The Assessment also indicates that need is focused towards 2 and 3 bedroom properties. In general terms, the indicated split in the study is that circa 50% of all new market and intermediate dwellings should be 3 bedroom dwellings and 50% of affordable rent properties should be of 2 bedrooms. The full district wide results are set out in Table X below but an appropriate mix will depend on the local circumstances and information on local need in the particular part of the district where development is proposed. Local need information has also informed the development of Neighbourhood Plans and provides important context for decision making.

Dwelling type/number of	Tenure			_
bedrooms	<u>Market</u>	<u>Affordable</u> <u>Rented</u>	Intermediate	<u>Total</u>
<u>1 or 2 -bedroom house</u>	<u>5.1</u>	<u>19.1</u>	<u>6.0</u>	<u>7.7</u>
<u>3-bedroom houses</u>	<u>40.5</u>	<u>23.5</u>	<u>36.6</u>	<u>36.9</u>
4 or more-bedroom house	<u>10.9</u>	<u>15.5</u>	<u>36.6</u>	<u>14.8</u>
<u>1-bedroom flat</u>	<u>6.9</u>	<u>5.9</u>	<u>0.0</u>	<u>5.9</u>
2 or 3-bedroom flat	<u>2.8</u>	<u>0.1</u>	<u>0.2</u>	<u>2.0</u>
<u>1-bedroom bungalow</u>	<u>-0.6</u>	<u>9.9</u>	<u>1.3</u>	<u>1.5</u>
2-bedroom bungalow	22.2	<u>21.0</u>	<u>8.3</u>	<u>20.2</u>
3 or more-bedroom bungalow	<u>11.2</u>	<u>2.7</u>	<u>11.0</u>	<u>9.6</u>
<u>Other</u>	<u>1.1</u>	<u>2.3</u>	<u>0.0</u>	<u>1.4</u>
<u>Total</u>	<u>100.0</u>	<u>100.0</u>	<u>100.0</u>	<u>100.0</u>
Dwelling type	<u>Market</u>	Affordable Rented	Intermediate	<u>Total</u>
<u>House</u>	<u>56.4</u>	<u>58.0</u>	<u>79.2</u>	<u>59.4</u>
<u>Flat</u>	<u>9.7</u>	<u>6.0</u>	<u>0.2</u>	<u>7.9</u>
<u>Bungalow</u>	<u>32.8</u>	<u>33.6</u>	20.6	<u>31.3</u>
<u>Other</u>	<u>1.1</u>	<u>2.3</u>	<u>0.0</u>	<u>1.4</u>
<u>Total</u>	<u>100.0</u>	<u>100.0</u>	<u>100.0</u>	<u>100.0</u>

Table 13 Recommended development priorities by type, size and tenure in percentages*

Number of bedrooms	Market	<u>Affordable</u> <u>Rented</u>	Intermediate	<u>Total</u>
1	<u>7.1</u>	<u>17.5</u>	<u>1.8</u>	<u>8.3</u>
2	<u>30.2</u>	<u>40.8</u>	<u>14.0</u>	<u>30.2</u>
<u>3</u>	<u>51.9</u>	<u>26.2</u>	<u>47.6</u>	<u>46.7</u>
4	<u>10.9</u>	<u>15.5</u>	<u>36.6</u>	<u>14.8</u>
<u>Total</u>	<u>100.0</u>	<u>100.0</u>	<u>100.0</u>	<u>100.0</u>

*Please note columns may not sum due to rounding

- 8.19 The Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Act requires the District Council to plan for the needs of those on the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Register. Newark & Sherwood has a long history of small scale development in its towns and villages which help meet this element of the house building market and this is endorsed by the Council's policies; in particular Spatial Policy 3 facilitates the small scale development which supports this approach.
- 8.20 The other elements of this chapter are new or heavily changed policies from the Amended Core Strategy, however Core Policy 3 is not. It is broadly the same as the policy in the Amended Core Strategy and whilst the convention is that it should all be underlined we have shown the policy below with underlining and crossings out to indicate what is new and what remains the same as the adopted policy

Core Policy 3 - Housing Mix, Type and Density

The District Council will expect good quality housing design in line with the provisions of Core Policy 9 Sustainable Design. Development densities in all housing developments should normally be no lower than an average 30 dwellings per hectare net. Development densities below this will need to be justified, taking into account individual site circumstances.

Average densities of between 30 - 50 dwellings per hectare are set in NAP2 (A/B/C) for the three Strategic Sites allocated in the Core Strategy around Newark Urban Area. Similarly, density requirements are set out in ShAP 4 for the Thoresby Colliery Strategic Site. Densities of 30 dwellings per hectare, or more, will be set for other locations and allocations in the Allocations & Development Management DPD.

The District Council will seek to secure new housing development which adequately addresses the housing need of the District, namely:

- Emphasis on 2 and 3 bedroom family housing of 3 bedrooms or more.
- Smaller houses of 2 bedrooms or less.

- <u>Greater provision of bungalows on appropriate large sites</u>
- <u>Support for specialist housing such as extra care and retirement housing</u> Housing for the elderly and disabled population.

The District Council will seek to secure an appropriate mix of housing types to reflect local housing need. Such a <u>On individual applications the</u> mix will be dependent on the local circumstances of the site, the viability of the development and any localised housing need information including the sub area analysis in the most up to date Housing Needs Assessment.

Particular emphasis will be placed on securing smaller houses of two bedrooms or less and those for housing for elderly and disabled population considering the impact of physical disability and mental health when addressing housing needs.

On sites of 10 dwellings or more provision of 23% of new homes to M4(2) accessible and adaptable standard will normally be required. On sites of 50 dwellings or more 1% of new dwellings will normally be required to meet M4(3) wheelchair accessible standard and should be provided as part of the affordable housing delivered on site.

The provision of M4(2) and M4(3) will be required unless site specific factors such as vulnerability to flooding, site topography, and other circumstances which may make a specific site less suitable for M4(2) and M4(3) compliant dwellings, particularly where step free access cannot be achieved or is not viable. Where step free access is not viable, neither M4(2) or M4(3) should be applied.

The District Council will seek to secure an appropriate mix of housing types to reflect local housing need. Such a mix will be dependent on the local circumstances of the site, the viability of the development and any localised housing need information.

The District Council will support proposals for self-build and custom build housing that help meet the needs of those on the Self Build and Custom Housebuilding Register, provided they are compliant with other relevant development plan policies.

Gypsy, Roma and Travellers

- 8.21 Gypsy, Roma and Travellers (GRT) form a longstanding part of the District's population, contributing towards the character of Newark & Sherwood with distinct and vibrant communities found across the District. The largest focus of existing sites can be found at Tolney Lane in Newark and around Ollerton/Wellow in the Sherwood Area of the District. There are however also smaller sites away from these areas in other parts of Newark & Sherwood. The Council recognises the importance of meeting the housing needs of all sections of the District's population, and has accordingly planned positively so that this may occur.
- 8.22 Following Core Policy 4 of the Amended Core Strategy, a new Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) has been produced, which covers the period 2013-33. This provides a robust understanding of the future accommodation needs of GRT from all backgrounds over the plan period. Building on this, a range of sites have then been identified

and allocated, to ensure that appropriate land is made available. The policies and allocations set out in this section are regarded as strategic for the purposes of Neighbourhood Planning (see Appendix E).

Pitch Requirements

- 8.23 The GTAA (2019) fulfils the requirement for the Authority to make its own assessment of need for the purposes of planning, as per the Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS). National policy and guidance were followed in the production of the assessment, and it provides a robust and credible evidence base. Following the PPTS this assessment of need enables the setting of pitch targets for gypsy and travellers who meet the planning definition (as defined through Annex 1 to the PPTS) of a traveller or travelling showperson. These targets address the likely permanent and transit site accommodation needs of travellers in the area. The GTAA represents a fresh assessment of need, with a baseline of August 2019. Supply and demand for the period before this has been netted to zero and the GTAA starts with this new baseline. The outcomes of the assessment supersede those from any previous assessments of need.
- 8.24 Information collected as part of the site interviews for the GTAA has allowed for <u>the planning</u> <u>definition to be applied to households, and has resulted in</u> the identification of 3 different <u>categories of need.</u>
 - <u>Households that meet the current planning definition (in Annex 1 to Planning Policy for</u> <u>Traveller Sites) 118 pitches;</u>
 - <u>Undetermined households (not interviewed as part of the GTAA) who may meet the definition 21 pitches; and</u>
 - Households that have ceased to travel <u>30 pitches</u>.
- 8.25 Only the need from those households who met the planning definition and from those of the undetermined households who subsequently demonstrate that they meet it are formally considered as need arising from the GTAA. The needs of households who have ceased to travel form part of the wider housing need of the District.
- 8.26 The GTAA has, District wide, identified a need between 2013 33 for **118 pitches** to meet the needs of planning definition households, **21 pitches** for undetermined households and **30 pitches** for households who did not meet the planning definition. This would equate overall to **169 pitches** across the three categories of need. In line with the PPTS it is however the planning definition need which provides the local pitch targets, and the basis for the five year land supply requirement. Together these categories provide a comprehensive understanding of GRT accommodation needs. The overall level of need equates to **169 pitches**, and this figure provides the local pitch target as well as the basis for the five year land supply requirement. To enable application of the five year land supply test the GTAA has broken the planning definition <u>GRT need down into the following</u> five year tranches.

<u>Years</u>	<u>0-5</u> (2019-24)	<u>6-10</u> (2024-29)	<u>11-14</u> (2029-33)	<u>15</u> (2033-34)	<u>Total</u>
<u>Planning</u> <u>Definition</u> <u>Pitches Requirements</u>	<u>77</u>	<u>20</u>	<u>18</u>	<u>3</u>	<u>118</u>
Overall Pitch Requirements*	<u>103</u>	<u>32</u>	<u>28</u>	<u>6</u>	<u>169</u>

*inclusive of the Planning Definition requirements

- 8.27 Inward-migration (households requiring accommodation who move into the District from outside) and outward-migration (households moving away from the District) were both addressed as part of the GTAA, with no firm evidence of households wishing to move into Newark & Sherwood District being found. Therefore, net migration to the sum of zero was assumed for the purposes of the assessment – meaning that the pitch requirements are driven by locally identifiable need.
- 8.28 No requirements for travelling showpeople or for transit pitches were identified through the <u>GTAA.</u>
- 8.29 It is important that the understanding of the accommodation requirements for the District's GRT communities is kept up-to-date, as dynamic change can occur over a short period of time. The District Council is therefore committed to carrying out the regular review of pitch requirements.

Policy GRT/1 - Pitch Requirements

<u>The locally identified pitch requirement for planning definition Gypsy Roma</u> traveller households equates to **118** <u>169</u> pitches between 2013 and 2033. This figure represents the local new pitch target for Newark & Sherwood District., and will provide the basis for the five year land supply requirement. Proposals to address this need will be expected to be supported by sufficient information to allow their contribution to be assessed.

Where households within the undetermined category of need, as identified through the 2019 Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment, can demonstrate that they meet the planning definition of traveller in national planning policy, then this will be treated as an additional component of the planning definition need.

Windfall proposals to address the needs of non-planning definition Traveller households on Traveller pitches will be assessed against the criteria in Core Policy 5 of the Amended Core <u>Strategy.</u>

<u>Proposed new pitches will be taken to contribute supply where they address the needs of a</u> <u>Traveller household. For the purposes of implementation such households are defined as:</u>

Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such persons who on grounds only of their own or their family's or dependents' educational or health
needs or old age have ceased to travel temporarily or permanently, but excluding members of an organised group of travelling showpeople or circus people travelling together as such.

<u>Proposals will be expected to be supported by sufficient information to determine whether this</u> <u>definition has been met. Where Traveller pitches are approved, then their occupation will be</u> <u>limited by planning condition to those (and the dependents thereof) meeting this definition.</u>

No requirements for travelling showpeople or for transit pitches have been identified between 2013 and 2033.

The review of current pitch requirements and a new assessment of need will be carried out commenced within 5 years of the publication of the current Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment.

Pitch Delivery

- 8.30 In order that the locally identified accommodation requirements of the District's GRT communities can be met a range of land has been identified and allocated for this purpose. This reflects the requirements within the PPTS around identification of a supply of specific deliverable sites, which as a minimum are sufficient to provide 5 years' worth of supply against the local target and identifies broad locations for years' 6 to 10. This would equate to 97 135 pitches in total (77 103 pitches to cover years 0 to 5, and 20 32 for years 6 to 10), and as set out in the following sections the Council has exceeded this minimum requirement. Specific deliverable land capable of, as a minimum, supporting 15943 pitches in total and covering the 118 pitch planning definition need has been identified. Through supporting this level of pitch provision the Council's approach has also directly addressed some of the nonplanning definition need. Beyond this a further two broad locations for future pitch provision have been defined on the Policies Map.
- 8.31 The approach followed implements Core Policy 4 of the Amended Core Strategy, with future pitch provision being provided in line with the Council's Spatial Strategy. The focus of the Council's efforts has been to secure additional provision in and around the Newark Urban Area. This approach has resulted in the future pitch provision being made through the Development Plan broadly reflecting the existing pattern of GRT settlement across the District i.e. being split between the Newark and Ollerton/Wellow areas. Supported by a separate detailed Pitch Delivery Strategy, nNew pitches will be delivered through a combination of additional provision on appropriate existing sites, allowing the needs of occupants identified through the GTAA to be met, the bringing back into use of existing sites which have fallen out of Gypsy Roma Traveller occupation and finally new site allocations, (including the District Council's delivery and management of the former Belvoir Ironworks as a public site).
- 8.32 The indicative site capacity figures pitches identified in Policy GRT2 have had regard to the capacity of existing sites to accommodate further pitches, further detail is provided in the separate Pitch Delivery Strategy-'GRT supporting paper'.

Policy GRT2 - Additional Provision on Existing Sites

<u>Proposals on t</u><u>T</u>he following existing Gypsy Roma Traveller sites, as defined on the Policies Map, which would deliver have been allocated for additional Gypsy Roma Traveller pitches. Proposals for new permanent pitches, consistent with the definition provided in Policy GRT 1, and address the locally identified accommodation needs for the site from the 2019 Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment—will be supported, subject to the detail of schemes being acceptable. The schedule below details the number of pitches allocated for each site.

<u>Site</u>	Pitch Allocation	
<u>Newark</u>		
NUA/GRT/1 - Park View, Tolney Lane	<u>13 pitches</u>	
NUA/GRT/2 – Sandhill Sconce, Tolney Lane	<u>11 pitches</u>	
NUA/GRT/3 – The Paddocks, Tolney Lane	<u>3 pitches</u>	
NUA/GRT/4 – Hirram's Paddock, Tolney Lane	<u>7 pitches</u>	
NUA/GRT/5- Taylor's Paddock, Tolney Lane	<u>1 pitch</u>	
NUA/GRT/6 – Price's Paddock, Tolney Lane	<u>1 pitch</u>	
<u>NUA/GRT/7 – Land at Shannon Falls, Tolney Lane</u>	<u>21 pitches</u>	
Ollerton		
OB/GRT/1 – Shannon Caravan Site, Wellow Road	<u>9 pitches</u>	
OB/GRT/2- The Paddock, Wellow Road	<u>3 pitches</u>	
OB/GRT/3 – The Stables, Wellow Road	<u>4 pitches</u>	
<u>OB/GRT/4 – Dunromin, Wellow Road</u>	<u>4 pitches</u>	
<u>OB/GRT/5 – Greenwood, Wellow Road</u>	<u>1 pitch</u>	
	78 pitches	

Site layouts should recognise on-site capacity constraints with new pitches; being capable of meeting the needs of occupants, supporting an acceptable level of residential amenity for occupants and neighbouring sites and be capable of providing for a safe standard of occupation.

Where these sites have areas at flood risk (all forms) then a robust Flood Risk Assessment should be undertaken so that site layouts, where possible, accommodate pitches within those areas at least flood risk. Demonstration is also required that wider sustainability benefits to the community will be delivered and that the site itself will be made safe from flood risk for its lifetime, that flood risk will not be increased elsewhere and where possible, flood risk will be reduced overall. and that flood risk is not increased elsewhere will also be required.

Taking account of the above, an efficient use of land should be provided for. Where proposals would compromise the ability for identified pitch numbers to be delivered in full then robust justification will be required.

In the case of OB/GRT/2 and 4 Land adjoining the Shannon (OB/GRT 1) and adjoining land is has been identified as a broad location which could contribute toward assist with meeting future traveller needs. within the 10 and 15 year tranches. The adjoining land is shown on the Policies Map under the reference OB/GRT/BL/1.

	-	
Site	Accommodation Needs	Indicative Site Capacity
NUA/GRT/1 - Park View, Tolney Lane, Newark	8-pitches to meet planning definition need and 5-pitches to meet non-planning definition needs	13 pitches (full need)
<u>NUA/GRT/2 Bowers</u> Caravan Site, Tolney Lane, <u>Newark</u>	3 pitches to meet undetermined need	3 pitches (full need)
NUA/GRT/3 Hose Farm, Tolney Lane, Newark	3 pitches to meet planning definition need, 2 pitches to meet undetermined need and 4 pitches to meet non-planning definition needs	<u>9-pitches (full-need)</u>
NUA/GRT/4 – Land opposite Ropewalk Farm (Farm View), Tolney Lane, Newark	1 pitch to meet planning definition need and 2 pitches to meet undetermined need	3 pitches (full need)
NUA/GRT/5 Sandhill Sconce, Tolney Lane, Newark	13 pitches to meet planning definition need, 4 pitches to meet undetermined need and 3 pitches to meet non-planning definition needs	11 pitches (partial need)
NUA/GRT/6 – The Paddocks, Tolney Lane, Newark	3 pitches to meet planning definition need	3 pitches (full need)
NUA/GRT/7 Hirram's Paddock, Tolney Lane, Newark	5 pitches to meet planning definition need, 1 pitch to meet undetermined need and 1 pitch to meet non-planning definition needs	7 pitches (full need)
NUA/GRT/8- Taylor's Paddock, Tolney Lane, Newark	<u>1 pitch to meet planning</u> <u>definition need</u>	1 pitch (full need)
<u>NUA/GRT/9 Price's Paddock,</u> <u>Tolney Lane, Newark</u>	1 pitch to meet undetermined need	1-pitch (full-need)
OB/GRT/1 Shannon Caravan Site, Wellow Road, Ollerton	5-pitches to meet planning definition need and 4-pitches to meet non-planning definition needs	9 pitches (full need)
OB/GRT/2- The Paddock, Wellow Road, Ollerton	<u>6 pitches to meet planning</u> definition need	3 pitches (partial need)

OB/GRT/3 – The Stables, Wellow Road, Ollerton	<u>4 pitches to meet planning</u> definition need	<u>4 pitches (full need)</u>
OB/GRT/4 Dunromin, Wellow Road, Ollerton	<u>8 pitches to meet planning</u> definition need	5-pitches (partial need)
OB/GRT/5 Greenwood, Wellow Road, Ollerton	1 pitch to meet undetermined need	1 pitch (full need)
		73 pitches

Proposals which would compromise the ability for a sites accommodation needs to be met will be resisted, unless robust demonstration is provided as to why this is no longer necessary. In the case of sites NUA/GRT/5, OB/GRT/2 and OB/GRT/4 where the need associated with the site can likely only partially be met, then proposals should place an emphasis on ensuring that planning definition Traveller needs within the first five year tranche (outlined below) can be addressed.

Planning Definition (Years 0-5)
5-pitches
3 pitches
5 pitches

Policy GRT3 - Sites to be Brought Back into Gypsy Roma Traveller Use

<u>Proposals on the following sites, as defined on the Policies Map, which would bring the sites</u> back into use for planning definition <u>Gypsy Roma</u> Traveller householdsand address locally identified accommodation needs, as outlined in Policy <u>GRT1</u>, will be supported subject to the detail of schemes being acceptable. <u>Schemes should provide for new permanent pitches</u>, consistent with the definition provided in Policy <u>GRT 1</u>.

<u>This includes the requirements that</u>; <u>These new pitches should meet the needs of occupants</u>, <u>support an acceptable level of residential amenity for occupants and neighbouring sites and be capable of providing for safe standard of occupation</u>.

A robust Flood Risk Assessment should be undertaken so that site layouts, where possible, accommodate pitches within those areas at least flood risk (all forms). Demonstration is also required that wider sustainability benefits to the community will be delivered and that the site itself will be made safe from flood risk for its lifetime, and that flood risk is will not be increased elsewhere and, where possible flood risk will be reduced overall. will also be required.

Schemes should seek to, as a minimum, accommodate the number of pitches detailed allocated below and in doing so provide for an efficient use of land. Proposals falling below these levels which would compromise their ability to be delivered in full will need to be robustly justified.

Pitches Allocation
<u>10</u>
<u>9</u>
<u>19</u>

Proposals that would compromise the ability for the locally identified needs of planning definition households to be met will be resisted, unless robust demonstration is provided as to why this is no longer necessary.

Policy GRT4 - Site Allocations

The following sites, as defined on the Policies Map, have been allocated for Gypsy Roma Traveller accommodation. They are protected for this purpose to ensure that locally identified planning definition Gypsy Roma traveller needs, outlined in Policy GRT1, can be met. Proposals for new permanent pitches, consistent with the definition provided in Policy GRT 1, and which would deliver the sites in line with the general and site specific criteria below will be supported, subject to the detail of schemes being acceptable.

Site	<u>Pitches</u>
NUA/GRT/ <u>10</u> 12 – Land at Chestnut Lodge Barnby Road, Barnby-in-the-Willows	<u>19 20</u>
NUA/GRT/11 13 – Former Belvoir Ironworks, Bowbridge Lane, Newark	<u>15-27</u>
NUA/GRT/ <u>12</u> 14 – The Old Stable Yard, Land North of Winthorpe Road, Newark	<u>14</u>
NUA/GRT/ <u>13</u> – Land at Appleby Lodge, Barnby Road, Newark	<u>8</u> <u></u> ≢
<u>OB/GRT/6 – Land East of Newark Road, Ollerton</u>	<u>6</u>
	<u>62-74 51-63</u>

<u>Part A</u>

General Criteria

Schemes should seek, as a minimum, to accommodate the number of allocated pitches and in doing so provide for an efficient use of land. Proposals which would compromise their ability to be delivered in full will need to be robustly justified, detailed above. Proposals falling below these levels will need to be robustly justified. Where schemes would compromise the ability for the locally identified needs of planning definition households to be met then they will be resisted, unless robust demonstration is provided as to why this is no longer necessary.

Site layouts should recognise on-site capacity constraints with; new pitches being capable of meeting the needs of occupants; supporting an acceptable level of residential amenity for occupants and neighbouring uses; and be capable of providing for a safe standard of occupation.

Positive management of surface water will need to ensure that the site itself is safe in flood risk terms and risk is not increased elsewhere.

<u>Part B</u>

Site Specific Criteria

NUAGRT/10 12 - Land at Chestnut Lodge

The site is allocated for around <u>19</u> 20 pitches, a new dwelling in order to assist with the management and operation of the new pitches and creation of an additional new vehicular access to serve the pitches. In addition to the content outlined in Part A of this policy, new proposals will also be required to positively address the following:

- The appropriate siting of the new pitches and dwelling within the overall site, to ensure that they are acceptable in landscape and visual terms, with the impact on the open countryside being appropriately managed;
- Provision of the new vehicular access will need to be appropriate in highways terms, providing for a safe standard of access and having regard to the location and operation of other existing points of vehicular access in the immediate area; and
- The siting of the new pitches and dwelling should be kept outside of the easements to the underground gas pipelines, which pass through the site. This covers an area of 6 metres, each side of the pipelines.

NUA/GRT/<u>11</u> 13 – Former Belvoir Ironworks

The site is allocated for around between 15-27 pitches and a site office to assist with the management and operation of the new pitches. In addition to the content outlined in Part A of this policy, new proposals will also be required to positively address the following:

- Provision of suitable management arrangements, to ensure that pitches are made available on a public basis in perpetuity – unless this is demonstrated to no longer be required;
- Provision of a site layout which is supported by a robust Flood Risk Assessment that has, where possible, sought to accommodate pitches within those areas at least flood risk (all forms). Demonstration is also required that the site itself will be made safe from flood risk, run off will be managed and that flood-this risk-will is not be increased elsewhere will also be required;
- The relationship between the pitches and the adjoining cottages, ensuring that acceptable levels of residential amenity for both sets of occupants can be achieved; and
- Remediation of the site, informed by its phased investigation in line with best practice, which addresses the effects of the lands previous contaminative use and enables residential occupation to safely occur. Post-remediation validation will also be required prior to the commencement of development, to ensure that the remediation has been effective and the site is suitable for the proposed use.

NUA/GRT/<u>12</u> 14 – The Old Stable Yard

The site is allocated for around 14 pitches. In addition to the content outlined in Part A of this policy, new proposals will also be required to positively address the following:

- Provision of a site layout which is supported by a robust Flood Risk Assessment based on a sequential approach to site design that has, where possible, sought to accommodate pitches within those areas at least flood risk (all forms). Demonstration is also required that wider sustainability benefits to the community will be delivered and the site itself will be made safe from flood risk for its lifetime, and that this flood risk will not be increased elsewhere and where possible, flood risk will be reduced overall;
- The appropriate siting of the new pitches within the overall site, to ensure that the impact on the openness of the Open Break designation is minimised, and restricted to that of a localised nature. In order to support this requirement planning application(s) for the above pitches should be supported by submission of a detailed landscaping strategy. The approved contents of this strategy should then be delivered as part of implementing planning consent. The landscape strategy should provide for the following:
 - <u>Retention of the existing landscape planting (including tree belts) along the sites north,</u> <u>east and western boundaries. Where necessary existing planting should be reinforced;</u> <u>and</u>
 - <u>Provision of additional tree and hedge planting along the south western boundary to help mitigate the visual impact of the site.</u>
 - <u>Non-residential facilities, intended to meet the recreational and amenity requirements</u> of occupants should be designed to be communal in nature, and ensure sufficient space remains to meet identified accommodation needs within the boundaries of the site allocation. Non-residential facilities proposed at individual pitch level will require justification;
 - Integration of appropriate measures to reduce noise impact from the A1 and A46, informed through the undertaking of a robust acoustic survey. This should include (but not be limited to) the use of appropriate mitigation measures, consideration being given to the positioning of pitches within the overall site, and the location and design of any amenity facilities. The acoustic performance of any static or touring caravans providing permanent accommodation within the site should be capable of meeting, or exceeding, the relevant sound levels referenced in BS8233 (or applicable successor standard).

NUA/GRT/13 15 - Land at Appleby Lodge

The site is allocated for around <u>8</u> \leq pitches, of which 2 are for the purpose of meeting locally identified needs for planning definition traveller households. In addition to the content outlined in Part A of this policy, new proposals will also be required to positively address the following:

- Provision of suitable vehicular access arrangements to be taken from Barnby Road;
- The siting of the new pitches should be kept outside of the easements to the underground gas pipeline, which passes through the site; and

- <u>Submission of a Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment and details of measures to mitigate the</u> <u>potential for on-site surface water flooding risk and management of run-off and ensure</u> <u>that flood risk is not increase elsewhere; and</u>
- The area identified as a 'broad location' for future additional pitches (shown on the Policies Map under the reference NUA/GRT/BL/1) is reserved for the purposes of meeting-locally identified needs for planning definition- Gypsy Roma traveller needs.-households. Any proposals will need to demonstrate that they are sited beyond the easements to the gas pipeline, and that any onsite infrastructure is acceptable in terms of its impact on the pipeline.

OB/GRT/6 – Land East of Newark Road

The site is allocated for around 6 pitches. In addition to the content outlined in Part A of this policy, new proposals will also be required to positively address the following:

- <u>Provision of suitable highways arrangements, with a point of access that ensures an acceptable standard of visibility can be achieved- taking account of the proximity of the former rail bridge to the south. Should this require the removal of trees registered as highway assets then compensatory planting will be required.</u>
- <u>An appropriate landscaping scheme, submitted as part of any planning application, which</u> <u>seeks to retain the existing landscaping around the periphery of the site and mature tree</u> <u>coverage where possible</u>;
- <u>Provision of a site layout and design which takes account of and minimises the impact of development on the adjacent Local Wildlife Site;</u>
- <u>The investigation of the potential impact arising from the legacy of former coal mining</u> <u>activities within Ollerton & Boughton and the implementation of any necessary mitigation</u> <u>measures; and</u>
- <u>Pre-determination archaeological evaluation submitted as part of any planning application</u> <u>and any necessary post-determination mitigation measures, secured by conditions</u> <u>attached to any planning permission.</u>

Tolney Lane Policy Area

- 8.33 Tolney Lane has a historic connection to the Gypsy Roma Traveller settlement in Newark, with the occupation of some sites pre-dating establishment of the contemporary planning system in 1947. The area represents the largest focus of existing sites within the District, with 317 pitches being recorded across 14 sites as part of the GTAA in 2019. Therefore to support the future management of the area a 'Tolney Lane Policy Area has been defined on the Policies Map. This Policy Area sits inside the Urban Boundary for the Newark Urban Area.
- 8.34 The area is acknowledged to be at flood risk, being split between Flood Zones 2 and 3. This results in a number of sites and the current single point of vehicular access/egress sitting

within the functional floodplain of the River Trent. Wholesale relocation of existing pitches was considered as part of the update to the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (2016), and deemed to be unfeasible. Therefore in order that locally identified Traveller accommodation needs can be met, and following application of the Sequential Test, it has proven necessary, for planning policy support to be provided for additional provision on suitable existing sites, and the bringing back of two sites into exclusive Gypsy Roma Traveller use within the Policy Area. However, reflecting the level of flood risk and with new site provision having also been made away from Tolney Lane, any proposals for pitches, located beyond the boundary to the Policy Area, be they of a temporary or permanent nature, will not be considered suitable.

- 8.35 In recognition of flood risk concerns the strategy towards Tolney Lane integrates a requirement for provision of flood resiliency improvements, alongside additional pitches. These improvements are intended to deliver an overall betterment for residents from a flood risk perspective. This is centred on provision of a flood resilient vehicular access to Great North Road, and various site-level resiliency improvements. In order to provide for resilient access the raising of a section of Tolney Lane has been technically assessed, and the reduction of flood risk to a level equivalent to the surrounding highway network can be achieved without the increase of risk elsewhere. This also has the added benefit of removing adjoining existing Traveller sites out of flood risk, subject to integration of additional site-level measures.
- 8.36 The Policy Area provides a framework to support suitable ancillary forms of residential development, in order that residents can seek improvements to meet their needs and to ensure that sites remain fit for purpose. It is recognised that in some instances there may be demand for non-residential uses within Gypsy Roma Traveller sites, most often of a business or light industrial nature. In assessing such proposals it is therefore important that regard is had to the wider functioning of the area, its broader residential nature and the ongoing need for accommodation needs to be met.

Policy GRT5 - Tolney Lane Policy Area

Land at Tolney Lane, Newark has been defined on the Policies Map as the Tolney Lane Policy Area, and within this Area support is provided for the following:

- Additional pitch provision on existing sites, in line with Policy GRT2, and the bringing back into Gypsy Roma Traveller use of two further sites, as outlined in Policy GRT3. Development beyond the Policy Area will be strictly controlled, and proposals for Gypsy Roma Traveller pitches resisted;
- Delivery of flood alleviation improvements to Tolney Lane, improving the flood risk resiliency of the area and its vehicular access to Great North Road. In addition support is also provided for separate site-level flood resiliency measures within the Policy Area, providing these would not increase the level of risk elsewhere;
- Ancillary forms of residential development which would allow the non-accommodation needs of residents to be met. Proposals should be acceptable in flood risk terms, and not lead to an increase in risk elsewhere. Where proposals are made for amenity buildings, including 'day rooms', then these should be proportionate in size and form, and provide for

an efficient use of land. Ancillary development which would compromise the ability for the identified accommodation needs outlined in Policy GRT2 and GRT3 to be met will be resisted; and

- New non-residential forms of development, either where proposed individually or as part of a mix of uses ,where this would not cause unacceptable harm to;
 - o The wider functioning of the Policy Area;
 - o Residential amenity; or
 - o Compromise the ability for the accommodation needs of Travellers to be met.

In assessing such proposals, regard will also be given to the general policy requirements in the Amended Core Strategy and the Development Management Policies in Chapter 7 of this DPD.

Public Site Delivery, Management and Infrastructure Improvement

8.37 In seeking to implement the approach towards Gypsy Roma Traveller pitch provision, outlined through Core Policy 4 of the Amended Core Strategy the District Council has brought together the strategy outlined in Policy GRT1 – GRT5 (inclusive). Reflecting the resolve to pursue all necessary means this will entail proactive action from the Council to deliver and manage a public Traveller site at the Former Belvoir Ironworks and the design and delivery of flood alleviation works to Tolney Lane. The Council will pursue external sources of funding to support delivery of the Tolney Lane improvements, but where this proves to be unavailable, or falls short of addressing the full cost, then the scheme will be supported through the use of revenue collected via the Community Infrastructure Levy.

Appendix A - Policies Amended or Deleted by the Adoption of this DPD

This Appendix sets out the status of policies following the Adoption of this DPD, most policies replace or amend policies from the Allocations & Development Management DPD however a small number replace policies in the Amended Core Strategy.

Replaced Amended Core Strategy DPD Policies

Core Policy 1 Affordable Housing Provision and Core Policy 3 Housing Mix, Type, and Density in the Amended Core Strategy have been completely replaced by policies of the same name in this DPD.

Policy DM 7 Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure includes a requirement to consider the impact of new residential development on a Zone of Influence around the Birklands and Bilhaugh Special Area of Conservation of 8.9 km. This supersedes the Zone of Influence of 5 km as set out in Core Policy 12 Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure. In all other respects Core Policy 12 remains extant.

Replaced Allocations and Development Management Plan DPD Policies

Where policies have been updated only to reflect updates in terminology such as references to the Amended Core Strategy or from SINCs to Local Wildlife sites, these policies are not included within the schedule below. References to defined uses may also have been amended to reflect the amendments to the Use Class Order.

Policy	Description	Status change	
Newark Area	Newark Area		
NA/MOA	Newark Area – Main Open Areas	Amended	
NUA/Ho/1	Newark Urban Area - Housing Site 1 (De-allocated – no longer deliverable)	Deleted	
NUA/Ho/2	Newark Urban Area - Housing Site 2	Amended	
NUA/Ho/3	Newark Urban Area - Housing Site 3 (De-allocated – no longer deliverable)	Deleted	
NUA/Ho/5	Newark Urban Area - Housing Site 5	Amended	
NUA/Ho/6	Newark Urban Area - Housing Site 6	Amended	
NUA/Ho/7	Newark Urban Area - Bowbridge Road Policy Area	Amended	
NUA/Ho/8	Newark Urban Area - Housing Site 8	Amended	
NUA/Ho/9	Newark Urban Area - Housing Site 9	Amended	

Policy	Description	Status change	
NUA/Ho/10	Newark Urban Area - Housing Site 10	Amended	
NUA/SPA/1	Newark Urban Area - Newark Showground Policy Area	Amended	
NUA/MU/1	Newark Urban Area - Mixed Use Site	Amended	
NUA/MU/2	Newark Urban Area - Mixed Use Site 2 (De- allocated – uncertainty over delivery)	Deleted	
NUA/MU/3	Newark Urban Area - Mixed Use Site 3 (Re- allocated as Opportunity site)	Deleted	
NUA/OS	Opportunity Sites	New	
NUA/E/2	Newark Urban Area - Employment Site 2	Amended	
NUA/E/3	Newark Urban Area - Employment Site 3	Amended	
NUA/E/4	Newark Urban Area - Employment Site 4	Amended	
NUA/Ph/1	Newark Urban Area - Phasing Policy	Amended	
NUA/TC/1	Newark Urban Area - Newark Town Centre	Amended	
NUA/LC/1	Balderton - Local Centre North	Amended	
NUA/LC/2	Balderton - Local Centre South	Amended	
NUA/LC/3	Fernwood Village Centre – Local Centre	New	
NUA/AR/1	Archaeology – Farndon and River Devon Ice Age Landscape	New	
NUA/AR/2	Archaeology – Newark Civil War	New	
NUA/OB/1	Newark Urban Area - Open Breaks	Amended	
Co/LC/1	Collingham - Local Centre	Amended	
ST/MU/1	Sutton-on-Trent - Mixed Use Site 1	Amended	
ST/LC/1	Sutton-on-Trent - Local Centre	Amended	
ST/MOA	Sutton-on-Trent - Main Open Areas	Amended	
Southwell Ar	Southwell Area		
So/Ho/1	Southwell - Housing Site 1 (Completed)	Deleted	

Policy	Description	Status change
So/Ho/3	Southwell - Housing Site 3 (Completed)	Deleted
So/Ho/4	Southwell - Housing Site 4	Amended
So/Ho/5	Southwell - Housing Site 5	Amended
So/Ho/6	Southwell - Housing Site 6 (Completed)	Deleted
So/Ho/7	Southwell - Housing Site 7	Amended
So/MU/1	Southwell - Mixed Use Site 1 (De-allocated – site in use as open space (Higgons Mead)	Deleted
So/HN/1	Southwell Housing Need (Out of date)	Deleted
So/E/1	Southwell - Crew Lane Industrial Estate Policy Area	Amended
So/E/2	Southwell - Land to the east of Crew Lane	Amended
So/E/3	Southwell - Land to the south of Crew (Re- designated as So/RL/1)	Deleted
So/RL/1	Southwell - Reserved Land to the south of Crew Lane	New
So/DC/1	Southwell - Southwell District Centre	Amended
So/AR/1	Archaeology – Southwell Roman Villa	New
Fa/Ho/1	Farnsfield - Housing Site 1 (Completed)	Deleted
Fa/MU/1	Farnsfield – Mixed Use Site 1 (Completed)	Deleted
Fa/LC/1	Farnsfield - Local Centre	Amended
Nottingham Fringe Area		
Lo/Ho/1	Lowdham - Housing Site 1 (De-allocated – No longer deliverable)	Deleted
Lo/Ho/2	Lowdham - Housing Site 2 (Completed)	Deleted
Lo/HN/1	Lowdham Housing Need (Out of date)	Deleted
Lo/LC/1	Lowdham - Local Centre	Amended

Policy	Description	Status change	
Sherwood A	Sherwood Area		
ShA/L/1	Laxton	New	
OB/Ho/1	Ollerton & Boughton - Housing Site 1 (Completed)	Deleted	
OB/Ho/2	Ollerton & Boughton - Housing Site 2 (Completed)	Deleted	
OB/Ho/3	Ollerton & Boughton - Housing Site 3 (Completed)	Deleted	
OB/MU/2	Ollerton & Boughton – Mixed Use 2	Amended	
OB/Ph/1	Ollerton & Boughton - Phasing Policy	Amended	
OB/E/1	Ollerton & Boughton – Employment site 1	Amended	
OB/E/2	Ollerton & Boughton – Employment site 2	Amended	
OB/E/3	Ollerton & Boughton – Employment site 3	Amended	
OB/DC/1	Ollerton District Centre	Amended	
OB/LC/1	Boughton Local Centre	Amended	
OB/Re/1	Ollerton & Boughton – Retail Allocation 1	Amended	
OB/Re/2	Ollerton & Boughton – Retail Allocation 2 (Completed)	Deleted	
Ed/Ho/1	Edwinstowe - Housing Site 1 (Completed)	Deleted	
Ed/Ho/2	Edwinstowe - Housing Site 2	Amended	
Ed/DC/1	Edwinstowe - District Centre	Amended	
Ed/VC/1	Edwinstowe - Sherwood Forest Visitor Centre (Completed)	Deleted	
Bi/Ho/1	Bilsthorpe - Housing Site 1 (Deliverability confirmed)	Re-Instated and amended	
Bi/Ho/2	Bilsthorpe - Housing Site 2	Amended	
Bi/E/1	Bilsthorpe - Employment Site 1	Amended	
Bi/E/2	Bilsthorpe - Employment Site 2 (Completed)	Deleted	
Bi/PH/1	Bilsthorpe - Phasing Policy	Amended	
Bi/LC/1	Bilsthorpe - Local Centres	Amended	

Policy	Description	Status change	
Mansfield F	Mansfield Fringe Area		
Ra/Ho/1	Rainworth - Housing Site 1 (Completed)	Deleted	
Ra/Ho/2	Rainworth - Housing Site 2	Amended	
Ra/MU/1	Rainworth - Mixed Use Site 1	Amended	
Ra/E/1	Rainworth – Employment 1	Amended	
Ra/DC/1	District Centre Boundary	Amended	
Cl/MU/1	Clipstone – Mixed Use Site 1	Amended	
CI/LC/1	Clipstone – Local Centre Boundary	Amended	
Bl/Ho/1	Blidworth - Housing Site 1	Amended	
Bl/Ho/2	Blidworth - Housing Site 2 (Completed)	Deleted	
BI/Ho/3	Blidworth - Housing Site 3	Amended	
BI/Ho/4	Blidworth - Housing Site 3 (De-allocated – no longer deliverable)	Deleted	
BI/E/1	Blidworth - Employment Site 1	Amended	
BI/LC/1	Blidworth Local Centre	Amended	
Developme	nt Management Policies		
DM2	Development on Allocated Sites	Amended	
DM3	Developer Contributions and Planning Obligations	Amended	
DM4	Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Generation	Amended	
DM5	Design (Replaced by DM5(a), DM5(b), DM5(c) and DM5(d)	Deleted	
DM5(a)	The Design Process	New	
DM5(b)	Design	New	
DM5(c)	Sequential Test	New	
DM5(d)	Water Efficiency Measures in New Dwellings	New	
DM6	Householder Development	Amended	

Policy	Description	Status change
DM7	Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure	Amended
DM8	Development in the Open Countryside	Amended
DM9	Protecting and Enhancing the Historic Environment	Amended
DM10	Pollution and Hazardous Materials	Amended
DM11	Retail and Main Town Centre Uses	Amended
DM12	Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development	Amended
DM13	Regeneration Programmes and Schemes	New
CP1	Affordable Housing Provision	New
CP2A	Entry-Level Exception Housing	New
CP3	Housing Mix, Type and Density	New
GRT1	Pitch Requirements	New
GRT2	Additional Provision on Existing Sites	New
GRT3	Sites to be Brought Back into Gypsy Roma Traveller Use	New
GRT4	Site Allocations	New
GRT5	Tolney Lane Policy Area	New

Appendix B Glossary

Glossary

Term	Description
Affordable Housing Definitions	Housing for sale or rent, for those whose needs are not met by the market (including housing that provides a subsidised route to home ownership and/or is for essential local workers); and which complies with one or more of the following definitions:
	(a) Affordable housing for rent: meets all of the following conditions: (a) the rent is set in accordance with the Government's rent policy for Social Rent or Affordable Rent, or is at least 20% below local market rents (including service charges where applicable); (b) the landlord is a registered provider, except where it is included as part of a Build to Rent scheme (in which case the landlord need not be a registered provider); and (c) it includes provisions to remain at an affordable price for future eligible households, or for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable housing provision. For Build to Rent schemes affordable housing for rent is expected to be the normal form of affordable housing provision (and, in this context, is known as Affordable Private Rent).
	(b) Starter homes: is as specified in <u>sections 2 and 3 of the Housing and</u> <u>Planning Act 2016</u> and any secondary legislation made under these sections. The definition of a starter home should reflect the meaning set out in statute and any such secondary legislation at the time of plan- preparation or decision-making. Where secondary legislation has the effect of limiting a household's eligibility to purchase a starter home to those with a particular maximum level of household income, those restrictions should be used.
	(c) Discounted market sales housing: is that sold at a discount of at least 20% below local market value. Eligibility is determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices. Provisions should be in place to ensure housing remains at a discount for future eligible households.
	(d) Other affordable routes to home ownership: is housing provided for sale that provides a route to ownership for those who could not achieve home ownership through the market. It includes shared ownership, relevant equity loans, other low cost homes for sale (at a price equivalent to at least 20% below local market value) and rent to buy (which includes a period of intermediate rent). Where public grant funding is provided, there should be provisions for the homes to remain at an affordable price for future eligible households, or for any receipts to be recycled for alternative affordable housing provision, or refunded to government or the relevant authority specified in the funding agreement.
	Homes that do not meet the above definition of affordable housing may not be considered as affordable housing for planning purposes.

Amended Core Strategy	Sets out the long-term spatial vision for the Local Planning Authority area and the strategic policies and proposals to deliver that vision. Newark & Sherwood's Amended Core Strategy was adopted in March 2019.			
Annual (Authority) Monitoring Report (AMR)	The Annual Authority Monitoring Report monitors the effectiveness of t policies within the Local Development Framework, and progress towards t delivery of its objectives. It also sets out details of the amount of residenti employment and other development within the District.			
Brownfield	Land that is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilag of the developed land and any associated fixed surface infrastructure Brownfield land is also sometimes referred to as 'Previously Developed Land			
Community (or public (engagement)	This is defined by the Royal Town Planning Institute as 'actions and process taken or undertaken to establish effective relationships with individuals groups so that more specific interactions can then take place'. (Se Participation and Public Consultation and Participation.)			
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)	A Charge which Local Authorities in England and Wales can apply to most types of rewdevelopment in their area. CIL charges will be based on the size, type and location of the development proposed. In Newark and Sherwood the money raised will be used to pay for strategic infrastructure required to support development in the District. The current Newark & Sherwood CIL Charging Schedule came into effect on 1st January 2018. CIL is charged in residential and retail development in a number of charging zones, a number of areas have zero charges reflecting viability level.			
Community Right to Build Orders	Under neighbourhood planning legislation, a Community Right to Build Order can be used to grant planning permission for development schemes (see Neighbourhood planning).			
Development Management Policies	Detailed policies to support the implementation of the Amended Core Strategy, deliver specific site allocations and help in the day to day assessment of planning applications			
Development Plan Document (DPD)	A document setting out the plan for the development of the local area, drawn up by the District Council in consultation with the community and subject to independent examination. Both the Amended Allocations & Development Management DPD and the Amended Core Strategy DPD are examples.			
Duty to Cooperate				

Evidence Base	The information and data gathered by a Council to justify the 'soundness' of a Local Development Document, including information on the physical, economic, and socialcharacteristics of the area.					
Examination	Once any Development Plan Document has been consulted upon, the Local Planning Authority must submit it to the Government to test that the document is sound. An Inspector leads the examination and carries out the test, hearing the various arguments surrounding the plan. These will either take place in a discussion format or in a formal hearing session.					
Five Year Land Supply	Local Planning Authorities must ensure that there is a continuous 5 year supply of deliverable sites available for housing at any point in time. This supply of sites must be monitored on an annual basis, usually through the Annual Monitoring Report (AMR).					
Gateway site	Refers to sites which are situated in edge of settlement locations and that are important in defining the transition from the open countryside into the main built up area. In submitting planning application this status should be reflected by the provision of appropriate landscaping treatments to preserve and enhance setting. This status should also be reflected in the provision of appropriate design, density and layout forthe site.					
Greenfield	Land not previously used for built development					
Green Belt Villages	Refers to those settlements located within the Nottinghamshire-Derby Green Belt. Such locations are split between those defined by a settlement boundary inset into the Green Belt and those 'washed over' by the designation with no boundary defined.					
Green Infrastructure	Green infrastructure is a network of multi-functional green space, both new and existing, both rural and urban, which supports the natural and ecological processes and is integral to the health and quality of life of sustainable communities.					
Housing Market Area	Defines a geographical area within which most people in the local community look for their housing. Influenced by where most people live and work, visit family and friends, and go to school, college and other facilities.					
Housing Trajectory	The Housing Trajectory illustrates in graphic or chart form the expected rates of housing delivery for the Plan period. The Trajectory is updated on a regular basis to reflect actual performance and revise projections needed to achieve the housing Need over the Plan Period					
Infrastructure	The basic facilities which connect and service development and which are necessary for development to happen. It may also include the 'social infrastructure' that is necessary to service development and provide sustainable communities and possibly non-physical support services such as local advice and training. Such provision is often dealt with in Planning Obligations.					

Infrastructure Delivery Plan	The Infrastructure Delivery Plan identifies what additional infrastructure required to support the development set out in the Local Development Framework, and in particular the Amended Core Strategy. Also set out when and where they will be needed, approximate costs for provision ar the organisations involved.			
Inspector's Report	A report written by a Planning Inspector about the planning issues debated at the independent examination of a Development Plan Document or considered through an exchange of written representations. The Planning Inspector sets out in their opinion on the Soundness of the DPD including any modifications which will make the plan sound.			
Integrated Impact Assessment and Habitat Regulations Assessment (IIA and HRA)	The Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) is one of the requirements of the Plan Review and in particular the Core Strategy. The IIA integrates Sustainability Appraisal (SA), Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA), Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) and Health Impact Assessment (HIA). Sustainability Appraisals (SA) are a requirement of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Strategic Environmental Assessments (SEA) are required by European Directive EC/2001/42, which was transposed into UK law by the Environmental Assessment Regulations for Plans and Programmes (July 2004). The EqIA is a way of demonstrating the District Council is fulfilling the requirements of the Public Sector Equality Duty contained in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. HIA is a recognised process for considering the health impacts of plans and undertaking this type of assessment is widely seen as best practice.			
Key Diagram	Illustrates the spatial element of policies of the Spatial Strategy			
Local Development Document (LDD)	Forms part of the Local Development Framework and includes Development Plan Documents (DPD's)/Local Plans, Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD's) and the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI).			
Local Development Framework (LDF)	This is a set of documents that contain the policies that will shape how the District develops. These documents include the Core Strategy DPD, the Allocations and Development Management DPD, the Policies Map and number of Supplementary Planning Documents.			
Local Development Scheme (LDS)	Sets out the timetable for the preparation of the Local Development Documents (LDDs).			
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP)	LEP's are locally owned partnerships between local authorities and businesses. They play a central role in deciding local economic priorities and undertaking activities to drive economic growth and create local jobs. D2N2 is the LEP for Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire.			

Local Plan	In this District, this phrase refers to the Amended Core Strategy DPD and the Amended Allocations & Development Management DPD. Taken together, these documents form the plan for the future development of the District. Along with Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) and other documents, the Local Plan makes up the Local Development Framework.					
Local Planning Authority (LPA)	A public authority with responsibility for carrying out certain planning functions for a particular area. The District Council is the Local Planning Authority (LPA) for Newark & Sherwood, and is an example of a non- metropolitan district council. Other types of LPAs in England include Londor borough councils, metropolitan borough councils and unitary authority councils.					
Localism Act 2011	The Localism Act 2011 was intended to give more power to councils and to local communities. The Duty to Co-operate, the Community Infrastructure Levy and right to create Neighbourhood Plans were all introduced by this Act.					
Main Open Area	Areas of predominantly open land within settlements that play an important role indefining their form and structure.					
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)	This document sets out the Government's planning policies for England an how these are expected to be applied. The NPPF is a material consideration in the preparation of planning documents and when considering planning applications.					
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)	The National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) adds further context to the NPPF (See above), together with the NPPF it sets out what the Government expects of local authorities.					
Neighbourhood Forum	Neighbourhood forums are community groups that are designated to take forward neighbourhood planning in areas without parishes. It is the role of the local planning authority to agree who should be the neighbourhood forum for the neighbourhood area.					
Neighbourhood planning	Neighbourhood planning gives communities direct power to develop a shared vision for their neighbourhood and deliver the sustainable development they need. Once 'Made' a Neighbourhood Plan becomes a part of the development plan. The District Council has a duty to assist interested councils and communities in producing their Neighbourhood Plans, and part of this is the requirement to set out which policies are 'strategic'. This is because Neighbourhood Plans must be prepared in line with a local planning authority's strategic policies. For the purposes of Neighbourhood Planning it is considered that all policies within the Amended Core Strategy are Strategic under the teams of the NPPF along with the Policies in Appendix E.					

Neighbourhood plan (or neighbourhood development plan)	A plan prepared by a Parish Council or Neighbourhood Forum for a particular area. It may set out planning policies, describe aims for an area or allocate sites for a particular kind of development. A neighbourhood plan may focus on a single topic or address a wide range of issues. Any policies must conform to wider local and national policies. The plan cannot affect planning decisions that have already been taken, and it cannot be used to prevent development. Neighbourhood plans will be subject to an independent examination and must gain a more than 50% 'yes' vote in a public referendum to come into force.				
Newark Urban Area	Newark Urban Area is the main built up areas of Newark Town, Balderton, and Fernwood as defined by the Urban Boundary on the Newark & Sherwood Policies Map.				
Open Break	Areas under pressure for development which also provide an open break between Newark Urban Area and surrounding settlements. Open breaks seek to prevent the coalescence of communities and protect their separate identities.				
Other Villages in Newark and Sherwood	Refers to the grouping of villages below the Principal Villages, which are r individually identified in the Settlement Hierarchy. Spatial Policy 3 Rural Are of the Amended Core Strategy applies.				
Participation	The extent and nature of activities undertaken by those who take part in public or community involvement.				
Phasing	The definition of phasing, for the purposes of this plan, has three aspects, for which the reasoned justifications are set out below. These are:Monitoring housing delivery				
	Ensuring appropriate infrastructure delivery				
	 On mixed use sites, preventing different uses prejudicing each other's delivery 				
	Monitoring housing delivery				
	It is necessary to maintain a steady supply of housing over the plan period, and the Housing Trajectory sets out how this could be achieved. The assumptions made to produce the Trajectory were based on the best information available about when sites would come forward. By ensuring that the developers of larger sites provide information about progress on their delivery timescale, the trajectory can be kept up-to date, providing a solid basis for review.				
	Infrastructure delivery				
	Where development is dependent on the provision of infrastructure, it is necessary to control this through a form of phasing. We only seek to				

	control the rate at which housing was built, through appropriate planning conditions and agreements, where it is necessary to ensure the delivery of essential infrastructure. By providing site specific criteria we aim to provide a practical framework within which decisions on planning applications can be made with a high degree of predictability and efficiency, and to encourage and not act as an impediment to sustainable growth by making it clear to developers the issues that need to be taken into account when formulating development proposals. <u>Mixed Use Sites</u> On mixed use sites, the delivery of the different uses will progress at different rates according to market conditions. Where development proposals are for less than the full allocation, phasing will ensure that the					
Planning Inspectorate (and Planning Inspector)	development of the rest of the allocation is not compromised An independent organisation who deal with planning application appeals and the Examination of Development Plan Documents.					
Principal Villages	Refers to those villages below the Service Centres in the Settlement Hierarchy. Such locations possess a good range of local services and in most cases local employment opportunities.					
Policies Map	Illustrates the policies and proposals of the Development Plan.					
SANGS	In the context of Newark and Sherwood District the term 'Suitable Alternative Natural Green Space (SANGS)' refers to sites that provide a suitable alternative to the Birklands and Bilhaugh SAC for people in the local area wishing to regularly access natural open space for walking, including dog walking. The definition of natural space development by Natural England in the context of Accessible Natural Greenspace (ANGSt) is "places where human control and activities are not intensive so that a feeling of naturalness is					
	allowed to predominate".					
	In the context of the Birklands and Bilhaugh SAC the terms SANGS refers to:					
	• Sites that are freely accessible to people living within 8.9 km of the SAC that provide an alternative to the SAC for regular (i.e. more than once a week) walking and dog walking;					
	• Sites that provide natural space (using the definition above);					
	• Sites should include some provision for car parking but also be accessible on foot.					
	Such sites provide the opportunity for multi-functional sites that also enhance biodiversity.					

	Sites could be provided as part of new development or through the improvement and management of existing sites.				
Self-Build and Custom Build	The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 requires each releval local authority to keep a register of individuals and associations of individu who are seeking to acquire serviced plots of land in the authority's area order to build houses for those individuals to occupy as homes. This guidar accompanies the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Register Regulatio 2016.				
Service Centres	Refers to the District's fairly large settlements below the Sub Regional Centre of Newark Urban Area in the Settlement Hierarchy. These locations either serve large rural areas or grew to support coal mining communities and possess a wide range of services.				
Settlement Hierarchy	Divides the communities of the District into distinct levels to form a hierarchy of settlements that is based on assessments of sustainability. Defines those settlements which are central to the delivery of the Spatial Strategy.				
Soundness	To be considered sound, a Development Plan Document (DPD) must be justified and effective. This means that it must be founded on robust and credible evidence and be the most appropriate strategy, and also it must be deliverable, flexible and able to be monitored.				
Southern Link Road (SLR)	A road linking the A46 at Farndon and the A1 at Balderton providing access and support to the different phases of residential and industrial development on Land South of Newark, as well as the residential and B1 developments at Land around Fernwood. The road will also alleviate traffic congestion and increase capacity on roads around Newark.				
Spatial Planning	Refers to the shift from a narrow and regulatory land use planning regime to a wider and more inclusive spatial planning system embodied by national level policy, the Regional Spatial Strategy and Local Development Framework. Spatial planning is concerned with places, how they function and relate together, with the objective of securing the best achievable quality of life for all in the community without wasting resources or adversely affecting the environment. Policy will be developed that can impact on land use for example by influencing the demands on, or needs for, development, but which is not capable of being delivered solely or mainly through the granting or refusal of planning permission, and which may be implemented by other means.				
Spatial Vision	A description of how an area will be changed by the end of a plan period (often $10 - 15$ years).				
Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)	Sets out the standards which the District Council intends to achieve in relation to involving the community in the preparation, alteration and continuing review of all Local Development Documents and in significant Development Control Decisions, and also how these standards will be achieved.				

Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA)	An assessment of the environmental impacts of the policies and proposals of the LDF. The European 'SEA Directive' (2001/42/EC) requires a forma 'environmental assessment' of certain plans and programmes, including those in the field of planning and land use. The SEA process is undertaken as part of the wider Sustainability Appraisal/IIA process.			
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) and Employment Land Forecasting Study (ELFS)	The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires local planning authorities (LPAs) to use a proportionate evidence base. Each LPA should ensure that the Local Plan is based on adequate, up to date and relevant evidence about the economic, social and environmental characteristics and prospects of the area. Local planning authorities should ensure that their assessment of and strategies for housing, employment and other uses are integrated, and that they take full account of relevant market and economic signals. In accordance with these requirements Housing and Employment Studies have been produced. The Housing Market Needs Assessment sets out the objectively assessed housing need for the District. The Employment Land Forecasting Study identifies future employment land needs and guides economic development over the plan period.			
Strategic Housing and Employment Land Availability Assessment	The SHELAA assesses the potential suitability of sites for resident employment and other development taking into account the achievabil and availability of sites in 5 year tranches (up to 15 years in total). T provides a comprehensive evidence base concerning the availability of la suitable for housing and other uses for the production of the LDF.			
Sub Regional Centre	Newark is defined as a Sub-Regional Centre This definition applies to settlements which have been identified for their ability to perform complementary role to the Principal Urban Areas and have been selected of the basis of their size, the range of services they provide, and their potentia to accommodate further growth.			
Submission	Once any Development Plan Document has been consulted upon, it must be submitted to the Government so that it can be tested for soundness (see also Soundness of a Development Plan Document). The Submission Development Plan Document is effectively a draft of what the final document will look like.			
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)	A document that provides detailed guidance on the interpretation and implementation of adopted policies, but cannot introduce new policies. SPDs can be material considerations.			
Sustainable Development (SD)	Sustainable development is development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.			
	The NPPF (see National Planning Policy Framework) quotes the UK Sustainable Development Strategy 'Securing the Future' setting out five			

	 'guiding principles' of sustainable development: living within the planet's environmental limits; ensuring a strong, healthy and just society; achieving a sustainable economy; promoting good governance; and using sound science responsibly. The NPPF continues: 'There are three dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and environmental. These dimensions give rise to the need for the planning system to perform a number of roles: an economic role – contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure; a social role – supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect the community's needs and support its health, social and cultural wellbeing; and an environmental role – contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to climate change including 			
Sustainability Appraisal	moving to a low carbon economy'. See Integrated Impact Assessment.			
Urban Boundary	A boundary around Newark Urban Area or a Service Centre which defines where, in principle, development may be allowed.			
Use Class	A Use Class is something that falls under the General Use Classes Order. The General Use Classes Order is a piece of national secondary legislation which groups types of use of premises into classes, so that no development is involved if a building is changed from one use to another within the same class. Changing the use of a building from one class to another constitutes development, and needs planning permission, but in certain circumstances this may be automatically permitted without the need to submit a planning application.			
Use Classes E uses	 Uses under the new E Use Class introduced in September 2020 – Commercial, Business and service: E(a) Display or retail sale of goods, other than hot food E(b) Sale of food and drink for consumption (mostly) on the premises E(c) Provision of: o E(c)(i) Financial services, o E(c)(ii) Professional services (other than health or medical services), or 			

	 o E(c)(iii) Other appropriate services in a commercial, business or service locality E(d) Indoor sport, recreation or fitness (not involving motorised vehicles or firearms or use as a swimming pool or skating rink,) E(e) Provision of medical or health services (except the use of premises attached to the residence of the consultant or practitioner) E(f) Creche, day nursery or day centre (not including a residential use) E(g) Uses which can be carried out in a residential area without detriment to its amenity: o E(g)(i) Offices to carry out any operational or administrative functions, o E(g)(ii) Research and development of products or processes o E(g)(ii) Industrial processes
Village Envelope	A boundary around a village (or part of a village), usually quite tightly drawn, within which development might, in principle, be allowed.

Appendix C Monitoring

MONITORING

- 1 The effective review and monitoring of the LDF, including the AA&DM DPD, is crucial to its successful delivery and critical in understanding the effectiveness of the policies, allocations and designations which have been provided for. The Monitoring Framework for the AA&DM DPD builds on that established for the <u>Amended</u> Core Strategy DPD and the original Allocations and Development Management DPD. Monitoring and reviewing the policies will indicate what impact the policies arehaving and whether policies need reviewing because they are not working as intended or require amendment in light of revisions to national policy.
- 2 The formal monitoring of the AA&DM DPD will take the form of an Annual Monitoring Report on progress during the previous financial year i.e. The Annual Monitoring Report for 2021/22 will assess progress between 1st April 2021 and 31st March 2022 and will be published by the end of December 2022.
- 3 Targets have been developed to measure the direct effects of the policies on achieving the targets. Trajectories for the housing and employment allocations are included at the end of the table below. The monitoring requirements for each of the Amended Allocations and Development Management Policies are set out in the table below.

Key:

- NSDC = Newark & Sherwood District Council
- NCC = Nottinghamshire County Council
- ACS = Amended Core Strategy DPD
- DPD = Development Plan Document
- RSL = Registered Social Landlord
- NH = National Highways

<u>Policy</u>	ACS Policy (strategic/Area Objectives)	<u>Responsible</u> <u>Agency</u>	Implementation	Indicators	<u>Target</u>
NA/MOA	(4)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	No. of applications refused within Main Open Areas No. of applications approved within Main Open Areas	No new built development within the Main Open Areas
NUA/Ho/2 NUA/Ho/5 NUA/Ho/10	SP1, SP2 NAP1 (1, 2, 3, 6,7, 8, 11 and NA O1)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process Affordable Housing SPD Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	Planning Permission and Completion of new residential units in accordance with the Allocation Monitoring performance through the Housing Trajectory to maintain timely delivery	To maintain a minimum 5 year housing land supply Bring forward appropriate housing development to help meet the needs set out in SP2
NUA/HO/4	SP1, SP2 NAP1 (1, 2, 3, 6,7, 8, 9, 10,11, 14 and NA O1)	NSDC Developers Landowners Residents	Masterplan Preparation by NSDC and Partners Development Management process Affordable Housing SPD	Delivery of development in accordance with the Approved Masterplan Planning Permission and Completion of new residential units in	Achieve the regeneration of the Yorke Drive Area To maintain a minimum 5 year housing land supply

			Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	accordance with the Allocation Monitoring performance through the Housing Trajectory to maintain timely delivery	Bring forward appropriate housing development to help meet the needs set out in SP2
NUA/Ho/6	SP1, SP2 NAP1 (1, 2, 3, 6,7, 8, 11 and NA O1)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Brief Preparation by NSDC and Partners Development Management process Affordable Housing SPD Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	Delivery of development in accordance with the Development Brief Planning Permission and Completion of new residential units in accordance with the Allocation Monitoring performance through the Housing Trajectory to maintain timely delivery	To achieve an appropriate development which respects the conservation area. To maintain a minimum 5 year housing land supply Bring forward appropriate housing development to help meet the needs set out in SP2
NUA/Ho/7 NUA/Ho/8	SP1, SP2 NAP1 (1, 2, 3, 6,7, 8, 11 and NA O1)	NSDC Developers	Work in partnership with land owners and developers	Planning Permission and Completion of new residential units in	Achieve regeneration of brownfield land and associated
NUA/Ho/9	,	Landowners	Development Management process	accordance with the Allocation	environmental improvements to the locality
			Affordable Housing SPD	Monitoring performance through the Housing	To maintain a minimum

			Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	Trajectory to maintain timely delivery	5 year housing land supply Bring forward appropriate housing development to help meet the needs set out in SP2
NUA/SPA/1	SP1, SP2, SP6, SP7,SP8, CP6 NAP1 (1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9,14 and NA O1)	NSDC Developers Landowner NH NCC Coddington PC Newark Town Council Winthorpe with Langford PC	Masterplan Preparation by Developers and Landowners in partnership with other interested parties as detailed in NUA/SPA/1 Development Management process	Production of a Masterplan for the Showground Site Planning permission and completion of uses in accordance with the Allocation	Co-ordination of development on the Showground site and resolution of traffic issues in the locality Improved facilities including the leisure offer in the Showground Policy Area
NUA/MU/1	SP1, SP2, SP6, SP7,SP8, CP6 NAP1 (1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9,14 and NA O1)	NSDC Developers Landowner	Preparation of Masterplan by Developers/Landowners Development Management process	Delivery of development in accordance with the Approved Masterplan Planning Permission and completion of additional	No employment uses are approved until appropriate junction improvements have been undertaken

			Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	employment floor space by type and leisure and hotel facilities in accordance with the Allocation	Creation of additional employment uses to help meet the needs set out in SP2 Improved leisure and hotel facilities to complement the Showground uses
NUA/MU/2	SP1, SP2, CP6 NAP1 (1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7 and NA O1)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	Planning permission and completions of additional employment / other uses by floor space and by type	Creation of additional employment uses/roadside services to help meet the needs set out in SP2 Retention of existing use
NUA/MU/4	SP1, SP2, SP8, NAP1 NAP3 (1,2,3,6,7, 8, 9, 11 and NA O1)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Preparation of Masterplan by Developers/Landowners Development Management process Affordable Housing SPD Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	Delivery of development in accordance with the Approved Masterplan Planning Permission and Completion of new residential units in accordance with the Allocation Monitoring performance through the Housing Trajectory to maintain timely delivery	To provide a new Leisure Centre for the District To maintain a minimum 5 year housing land supply Bring forward appropriate housing development to help meet the needs set out in SP2

				Planning Permission and Completion of new Leisure Centre	
NUA/OS	SP1, SP2 (1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 9, and 11)	NSDC Developers Landowners Infrastructure Providers	Co-operation between NSDC and landowners/ developers	Monitoring performance through the Housing Trajectory to maintain timely delivery Where the five year land supply position falls below 5 years for a period of two consecutive years, the LPA will seek to assist the owners of the opportunity site to unlock delivery	Monitoring performance through the Housing Trajectory to maintain timely delivery Where the five year land supply position falls below 5 years for a period of two consecutive years, the LPA will seek to assist the owners of the opportunity site to unlock delivery
NUA/E/1 NUA/E/2 NUA/E/3	SP1, SP2, SP6, SP7, CP6, NAP1 (1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 9,14 and NA O1)	NSDC Developers Landowners Local Businesses NCC	Work in partnership with other interested parties as detailed in NUA/E/1 Development Management process Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	Working with partners to identify in detail, traffic issues and implement solutions Working with partners to identify connectivity issues and seek improvements Planning Permission and completion of additional	Resolution of traffic issues in the locality Improved connectivity between this site and wider area Creation of additional employment uses to help meet the needs set out in SP2

				employment floor space by type	
NUA/E/4	SP1, SP2,CP6, NAP1 (1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 9, and NA O1)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	Planning Permission and completion of additional employment floor space by type	Creation of additional employment uses to help meet the needs set out in SP2
NUA/Ph/1	SP1 SP2 (1, 6 and NA O1)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	Development in accordance with Master Plans where appropriate Monitor through appropriate Planning Permissions and completions	Ensure appropriate resolutions to environmental and infrastructure issues
NUA/TC/1	SP1, SP2, CP8 NAP1 (1, 2, 3, 7, 9, 12 NA O2)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process Town Centre survey Newark-on-Trent Town Investment Plan (TIP) Town Centre Strategy (TCS)	 Planning permission and completions of retail and other town centre uses Losses of retail and other town centre uses Diversity of uses by number and type in centres Number of vacant premises in defined 	To increase the vitality and viability of the Town Centre

				Centres Monitoring indicators included within the TIP /TCS	
NUA/LC/1 NUA/LC/2	SP1, SP2, CP8 (1, 2, 3, and 9)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	Planning permission and completions of retail and other town centre uses Losses of retail and other town centre uses	To increase the vitality and viability of the Local Centres
NUA/Tr/1	SP1, SP2, SP6, SP7, CP6, NAP1 (1, 2, 3, 7, 9,14 and NA O1)	NSDC Developers Landowners Network Rail Train Operating Co. NCC Transport and amenity stake holders	Work in partnership with other interested parties as detailed in NUA/Tr/1	Working with partners to aid Regeneration of the Station Policy Area; improve linkages to the wider area; and Improve transport and parking provision in the area and support walking and cycling to the station	Regeneration of the Station Policy Area Improve linkages to the wider area Improve transport and parking provision in the area and support walking and cycling to the station
NUA/AR/1	CP14, (1, 4, 7, 10)	NSDC NCC	Development Management process	No. of applications refused within NUA/AR/1	To secure the continued protection or enhancement of

		Historic England Landowners Developer		No. of applications approved within NUA AR/1	Heritage Assets
NUA/AR/2	CP14, (1, 4, 7, 10)	NSDC NCC Historic England Landowners Developer	Development Management Process	No. of applications refused within NUA/AR/2 No. of applications approved within NUA AR/2	To secure the continued protection or enhancement of Heritage Assets
NUA/OB/1	SP1 (1, 2, 7)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	No. of applications refused within the Open Breaks No. of applications approved within the Open Breaks	No new built development within the Open Breaks
Co/MU/1	SP1, SP2, SP8, (1,2,3,5, 6, 8, 9, 11)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process Affordable Housing SPD Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	Planning Permission and Completion of new residential units in accordance with the Allocation Monitoring performance	To maintain a minimum 5 year housing land supply Bring forward appropriate housing development to help
				through the Housing Trajectory to maintain timely delivery Planning Permission and completion of additional employment floor space by type	meet the needs set out in SP2 Creation of additional employment uses to help meet the needs set out in SP2
---------	------------------------------------	----------------------------------	--	--	--
Co/LC/1	SP1, SP2, CP8 (1, 2, 3, and 9)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	Planning permission and completions of retail and other town centre uses Losses of retail and other town centre uses	To increase the vitality and viability of the Local Centres
Co/MOA	(4)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	No. of applications refused within Main Open Areas No. of applications approved within Main Open Areas	No new built development within the Main Open Areas
ST/MU/1	SP1, SP2, S(1,2,3, 8, 9, 11)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process Affordable Housing SPD Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	Planning Permission and Completion of new residential units in accordance with the Allocation Monitoring performance through the Housing	Bring forward appropriate housing development to help meet the needs set out in SP2 To provide a retail use on this mixed use site

				Trajectory to maintain timely delivery Planning Permission and completion of retail use	
ST/LC/1	SP1, SP2, CP8 (1, 2, 3, and 9)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	Planning permission and completions of retail uses within the location identified for Future Local Centre	To create a Local Centre as part of ST/MU/1
ST/EA/1	SP1, SP2, CP6 (1, 2, 9)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	Planning Permission and completion of additional employment floor space by type No of Residential Planning Permissions Approved and Completed within ST/EA/1	Creation of additional employment uses To ensure appropriate development within this established area no new residential units will normally be permitted
ST/MOA	(4)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	No. of applications refused within Main Open Areas No. of applications approved within Main Open Areas	No new built development within the Main Open Areas
SoA/MOA	(4)	NSDC	Development Management process	No. of applications refused within Main	No new built development within the

		Developers		Open Areas	Main Open Areas
		Landowners		No. of applications approved within Main Open Areas	
So/Ho/2	SP1, SP2 SoAP1 (1, 2, 3, 6, 8, 11	NSDC	Development Management process	Planning Permission and Completion of new	To maintain a minimum 5 year housing land
So/Ho/4	and SoA O1)	Developers	Affordable Housing CDD	residential units in accordance with the	supply
So/Ho/5		Landowners	Affordable Housing SPD Planning Obligations and	Allocation	Bring forward appropriate housing
So/Ho/7			Developer Contributions SPD	Monitoring performance through the Housing Trajectory to maintain timely delivery	development to help meet the needs set out in SP2
So/E/1	SP1, SP2, SP7, CP6, SoAP1	NSDC	Development Management process	Planning Permission and completion of additional	Creation of additional employment uses to
So/E/2	(1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 9, and SoA O1)	Developers Landowners	Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	employment floor space by type	help meet the needs set out in SP2
So/RL/1	(1, 2, 6, 8, 9)	NSDC Landowners	Development Management Process Next round of Plan Making	No. of applications refused within the Reserved Land	No new built development which would prejudice the approach for the
				No. of applications approved within the Reserved Land	Reserved Land

So/DC/1	SP1, SP2, CP8 SoAP 1 (1, 2, 3, and 9)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process Town Centre survey Development of a District Centre Strategy (DCS)	 Planning permission and completions of retail and other town centre uses Losses of retail and other town centre uses Diversity of uses by number and type in centres Number of vacant premises in defined Centres Monitoring indicators included within the DCS 	To increase the vitality and viability of the District Centre
So/MOA	(4)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	No. of applications refused within Main Open Areas No. of applications approved within Main Open Areas	No new built development within the Main Open Areas
So/PV	SoAP1 (4 and SoA O1)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	No. of applications refused citing policy So/PV	To protect the views of and across the principal heritage assets of Southwell

So/Wh	SoAP1 (4 and SoA O1)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	No. of applications refused citing policy So/Wh	To protect and enhance the setting of Thurgarton Hundred Workhouse
So/AR/1	CP14, (1, 4, 7, 10)	NSDC NCC Historic England Landowners Developer	Development Management process	No. of applications refused within So/AR/1 No. of applications approved within So/AR/1	To secure the continued protection or enhancement of Heritage Assets
Fa/LC/1	SP1, SP2, CP8 (1, 2, 3, and 9)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	Planning permission and completions of retail and other town centre uses Losses of retail and other town centre uses	To increase the vitality and viability of the Local Centres
Lo/LC/1	SP1, SP2, CP8 (1, 2, 3, and 9)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	Planning permission and completions of retail and other town centre uses Losses of retail and other town centre uses	To increase the vitality and viability of the Local Centres
Lo/Tr/1	Lo/Tr/1	NSDC	Development Management process	Planning permission and completions of	To provide parking facilities in association

		Developers Landowners		development in accordance with Allocation	with the adjacent railway station
ShA/MOA	(4)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	No. of applications refused within Main Open Areas No. of applications approved within Main Open Areas	No new built development within the Main Open Areas
ShA/L/1	CP14 (1, 2, 3, 4, 8)	NSDC Thoresby Estates	Development Management process	No. of applications approved for retirement housing for agricultural workers who have been engaged in the open field system	Make adequate provision for retirement housing for agricultural workers who have been engaged in the open field system
OB/MU/1 OB/MU/2	SP1, SP2 (1, 2, 3, 6, 8, 9, 11 and ShA O1)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Preparation of Masterplan by Developers/Landowners Development Management process Affordable Housing SPD Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	Delivery of development in accordance with the Approved Masterplan Planning Permission and Completion of new residential units in accordance with the Allocation Monitoring performance through the Housing Trajectory to maintain timely delivery	To maintain a minimum 5 year housing land supply Bring forward appropriate housing development to help meet the needs set out in SP2

OB/Ho/2	SP1, SP2 ShAP2 (1, 2, 3, 6, 8, 9,	NSDC	Development Management process	Planning Permission and Completion of new	To maintain a minimum 5 year housing land
OB/Ho/3	11 and ShA O1)	Developers	Affordable Housing SPD	residential units in accordance with the	supply
		Landowners		Allocation	Bring forward
			Planning Obligations and		appropriate housing
			Developer Contributions SPD	Monitoring performance through the Housing Trajectory to maintain timely delivery	development to help meet the needs set out in SP2
OB/Ph/1	SP1 SP2	NSDC	Development Management	Development in	To facilitate necessary
	(1, 6)		process	accordance with Master	improvements to
		Developers		Plans where appropriate	infrastructure to support growth
		Landowners			
OB/E/1	SP1, SP2, CP6, ShAP2	NSDC	Development Management process	Planning Permission and completion of additional	Creation of additional employment uses to
OB/E/2		Developers		employment floor space	help meet the needs set
OB/E/3	(1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 9, and ShA O1)	Landowners	Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	by type	out in SP2
OB/DC/1	SP1, SP2, CP8 ShAP 2 (1, 2, 3,	NSDC	Development Management process	Planning permission and completions of retail and	To increase the vitality and viability of the
	and 9 ShA O2)	Developers		other town centre uses	District Centre
	,	Landowners	Town Centre survey		
				Losses of retail and other	
			Development of a District Centre Strategy (DCS)	town centre uses	
				Diversity of uses by	

				number and type in centres Number of vacant premises in defined Centres Monitoring indicators included within the DCS	
OB/LC/1	SP1, SP2, CP8 (1, 2, 3, and 9)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	Planning permission and completions of retail and other town centre uses Losses of retail and other town centre uses	To increase the vitality and viability of the Local Centres
OB/Re/1	SP1, SP2, CP8 ShAP 2 (1, 2, 3, and 9 ShA O2)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	Planning permission and completions of retail and other town centre uses	Deliver Retail and/or Town Centre uses on this site
OB/Tr/1	SP7 (3,6, and 9)	NSDC Developers Landowners NCC	Development Management process	No. of applications refused within area of search No. of applications approved within area of search	Protect an area of search for a potential Station and Car Park from inappropriate development

ED/Ho/2	SP1, SP2 (1, 2, 3, 6, 8, 9, 11 and ShA O1)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process Affordable Housing SPD Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	 Planning Permission and Completion of new residential units in accordance with the Allocation Monitoring performance through the Housing Trajectory to maintain timely delivery 	To maintain a minimum 5 year housing land supply Bring forward appropriate housing development to help meet the needs set out in SP2
Ed/DC/1	SP1, SP2, CP8 (1, 2, 3, and 9)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process Town Centre survey	Planning permission and completions of retail and other town centre uses Losses of retail and other town centre uses Diversity of uses by number and type in centres Number of vacant premises in defined Centres	To increase the vitality and viability of the District Centre
ED/St/1	SP7 (3,6, and 9)	NSDC Developers Landowners NCC	Development Management process	No. of applications refused within allocation No. of applications approved within allocation	To facilitate the Provision of a new Station and associated infrastructure as part of the possible re-opening of the Dukeries Railway line

Ed/MOA	(4)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	No. of applications refused within Main Open Areas No. of applications approved within Main Open Areas	No new built development within the Main Open Areas
<u>Bi/Ho/1</u> Bi/Ho/2	SP1, SP2 (1, 2, 3, 6, 8, 9, 11 and ShA O1)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process Affordable Housing SPD Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	 Planning Permission and Completion of new residential units in accordance with the Allocation Monitoring performance through the Housing Trajectory to maintain timely delivery 	To maintain a minimum 5 year housing land supply Bring forward appropriate housing development to help meet the needs set out in SP2
Bi/MU/1	SP1, SP2 (1, 2, 3, 6, 8, 9, 11 and ShA O1)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process Affordable Housing SPD Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	 Planning Permission and Completion of new residential units in accordance with the Allocation Monitoring performance through the Housing Trajectory to maintain timely delivery Planning Permission and completion of retail use 	To maintain a minimum 5 year housing land supply Bring forward appropriate housing development to help meet the needs set out in SP2 To provide a retail use on this mixed use site

Bi/E/1	SP1, SP2, CP6, (1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 9,	NSDC	Development Management process	Planning Permission and completion of additional	Creation of additional employment uses to
	and ShA O1)	Developers		employment floor space	help meet the needs set
			Planning Obligations and	by type	out in SP2
		Landowners	Developer Contributions SPD		
Bi/Ph/1	SP1 SP2 (1, 6)	NSDC	Development Management process	Development in accordance with Master	To ensure an appropriate level of
		Developers		Plans where appropriate	amenity for occupiers of the development
		Landowners			
Bi/LC/1	SP1, SP2, CP8 (1, 2, 3, and 9)	NSDC	Development Management process	Planning permission and completions of retail and	To increase the vitality and viability of the Local
		Developers		other town centre uses	Centres
		Landowners		Losses of retail and other town centre uses	
Ra/Ho/2	SP1, SP2, SP4A,	NSDC	Preparation of Masterplan by	Delivery of development	To maintain a minimum
Na/110/2	MFAP1 (1, 2, 3,	NSDC	Developers/Landowners	in accordance with the	5 year housing land
	6, 8, 9, 11, MFA	Developers		Approved Masterplan	supply
	O1 and MFA		Development Management		
	02)	Landowners	process	Planning Permission and Completion of new	Bring forward appropriate housing
			Affordable Housing SPD	residential units in	development to help
			Planning Obligations and	accordance with the Allocation	meet the needs set out in SP2
			Developer Contributions SPD		
				Monitoring performance	
				through the Housing	
				Trajectory to maintain	
				timely delivery	

Ra/MU/1	SP1, SP2 MFAP1 (1, 2, 3,	NSDC	Development Management process	Planning Permission and Completion of new	To maintain a minimum 5 year housing land
	6, 8, 9, 11, MFA O1 and MFA	Developers	Affordable Housing SPD	residential units in accordance with the	supply
	O2)	Landowners	Diamaine Obligations and	Allocation	Bring forward
			Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	Monitoring performance	appropriate housing development to help
				through the Housing	meet the needs set out
				Trajectory to maintain timely delivery	in SP2
					To provide a retail/town
				Planning Permission and completion of retail/town centre uses	centre uses on this mixed use site
Ra/E/1	SP1, SP2, CP6, MFAP1(1, 2, 3,	NSDC	Development Management process	Planning Permission and completion of additional	Creation of additional employment uses to
	5,	Developers		employment floor space	help meet the needs set
	6, 9, MFA O1		Planning Obligations and	by type	out in SP2
	and MFA O2)	Landowners	Developer Contributions SPD		
Ra/LC/1	SP1, SP2, CP8	NSDC	Development Management	Planning permission and	To increase the vitality
	(1, 2, 3, and 9)		process	completions of retail and	and viability of the
		Developers	Town Centre survey	other town centre uses	District Centre
		Landowners	Town Centre survey	Losses of retail and other	
				town centre uses	
				Diversity of uses by	
				number and type in	
				centres	

				Number of vacant premises in defined Centres	
CI/MU/1	SP1, SP2, CP6 MFAP1 (1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9 MFA O1 and MFA O2)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Preparation of Masterplan by Developers/Landowners Development Management process Affordable Housing SPD Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	 Delivery of development in accordance with the Approved Masterplan Planning Permission and Completion of new residential units in accordance with the Allocation Monitoring performance through the Housing Trajectory to maintain timely delivery Planning Permission and completion of additional employment floor space by type Planning Permission and completion of retail/town centre uses 	To maintain a minimum 5 year housing land supply Bring forward appropriate housing development to help meet the needs set out in SP2 Creation of additional employment uses to help meet the needs set out in SP2 To provide a retail/town centre uses on this mixed use site
CI/LC/1	SP1, SP2, CP8 (1, 2, 3, and 9)	NSDC Developers	Development Management process	Planning permission and completions of retail and other town centre uses	To increase the vitality and viability of the Local Centres

		Landowners		Losses of retail and other town centre uses	
BI/Ho/1	SP1, SP2, SP4A, MFAP1 (1, 2, 3, 6, 8, 9, 11, MFA O1 and MFA O2)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process Affordable Housing SPD Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	Planning Permission and Completion of new residential units in accordance with the Allocation Monitoring performance through the Housing Trajectory to maintain timely delivery	To maintain a minimum 5 year housing land supply Bring forward appropriate housing development to help meet the needs set out in SP2
BI/Ho/3	SP1, SP2 MFAP1 (1, 2, 3, 6, 8, 9, 11, MFA O1 and MFA O2)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Preparation of Masterplan by Developers/Landowners Development Management process Affordable Housing SPD Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	Delivery of development in accordance with the Approved Masterplan Planning Permission and Completion of new residential units in accordance with the Allocation Monitoring performance through the Housing Trajectory to maintain timely delivery	To maintain a minimum 5 year housing land supply Bring forward appropriate housing development to help meet the needs set out in SP2

BI/E/1	SP1, SP2, CP6, MFAP1(1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 9, MFA O1 and MFA O2)	NSDC Developers	Development Management process Planning Obligations and	Planning Permission and completion of additional employment floor space by type	Creation of additional employment uses to help meet the needs set out in SP2
		Landowners	Developer Contributions SPD		
BI/LC/1	SP1, SP2, CP8 (1, 2, 3, and 9)	NSDC Developers	Development Management process	Planning permission and completions of retail and other town centre uses	To increase the vitality and viability of the Local Centres
		Landowners		Losses of retail and other town centre uses	
DM1	SP1, SP2 (all Strategic Objectives)	NSDC Developers	Development Management process	Planning Permission and Completion of new residential units across	Facilitate growth within the District in accordance with SP2,
		Landowners	Affordable Housing SPD	the District by Parish	SP3 and SP8
			Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	Monitoring performance through the Housing Trajectory to maintain timely delivery	To maintain a minimum 5 year housing land supply Facilitate growth within
				Planning Permission and completion of additional employment floor space by type across the District by Parish	the District in accordance with CP7 and CP8
				Planning permission and completions of retail and	

				other town centre uses across the District by Parish Planning permission and completions of community, cultural, leisure and tourism development across the District by Parish	
DM2	SP1, SP2 (all Strategic Objectives)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process Affordable Housing SPD Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD Phasing plans to show how the site will be comprehensively developed	Planning Permission and Completion of new residential, employment and retail uses across the District by Parish Number of planning applications refused where comprehensive development is not provided for	Facilitate the amount and type of development set out in the Site Allocation policies
DM3	SP6 (all Strategic Objectives)	NSDC Developers Landowners Relevant Stakeholders	Development Management process Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions SPD	Contributions secured through Planning Permissions, S106 Agreements and Unilateral Undertakings	To assess the level of Developer Contributions secured against the requirements of the SPD

DM4	CP10 (1,11)	NSDC Developers Landowners Relevant Stakeholders	Development Management process	No Planning Permissions and completions for renewable and low carbon energy generation projects	To increase the provision of renewable and low carbon energy generation To increase the number of KW hours of renewable energy installed in the District
DM5(a)	CP9 (1, 10)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	No. of Planning Applications refused citing this Policy	To ensure that new development is designed appropriately, using a consistent process
DM5(b)	CP9 (1, 10)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	No. of Planning Applications refused citing this Policy	To ensure that new development is appropriately designed
DM5(c)	CP10 (1, 3, 4, 11)	NSDC NCC Developers	Development Management process	No. of planning permissions granted contrary to the advice of the Environment Agency	No permissions granted contrary to the advice of the Environment Agency
DM5(d)	CP10 (1, 11)	NSDC Developers	Development Management process	No. of Planning Applications refused citing this Policy	To ensure that water is used efficiently

DM6	CP9 (1, 10)	NSDC	Development Management	No. of Planning	To ensure that new householder
		Developers	process	Applications refused citing this Policy	development is
					appropriately designed
		Landowners			
DM7	CP12 (3, 11)	NSDC	Development Management process	Monitoring of nature conservation and	Protect and enhance existing biodiversity and
		Developers	P	biodiversity and Green	green infrastructure
			Nottinghamshire Local	Infrastructure projects	
		Landowners	Biodiversity Action Plan		Secure improvements to
		NCC	Green Infrastructure Strategy	Change in areas of biodiversity importance	the Green Infrastructure Network
		Nec	Green initiastructure strategy		Network
		Notts Wildlife Trust	Nature Conservation Strategy	No. of Planning	No net loss in areas of
				Permissions and	biodiversity importance,
		Notts Biological and Geological		completions including proposals to preserve,	ancient woodland, ancient and veteran
		Records Centre		create or enhance	trees
				habitats	
DM8	SP3 (1, 2, 3, 4,	NSDC	Development Management	No. of Planning	To ensure that new
21110	5, 9, 10, 11)		process	Applications refused	development is
		Developers		citing this Policy	sustainably located
		Landowners			
DM9	CP14(1,3,4,10,	NSDC	Development Management	Number of Heritage	No increase to the
	12)		process	Assets on the 'At Risk	number of heritage
		Developers		Register'	Assets on the 'At Risk
			Historic Environment Record		Register'
		Landowners		No. of Planning Applications refused	To secure the continued
L				Applications refused	To secure the continued

		NCC		citing this Policy	protection or enhancement of Heritage Assets
DM10	(1, 4, 11)	NSDC Developers Landowners Health and Safety Executive	Development Management process	No. of Planning Applications refused citing this Policy	To ensure that new development is appropriate for its location in order to prevent unacceptable risks from pollution and contamination
DM11	CP8 (1, 2, 3, 7, 9, 12)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Development Management process	No. of Planning Applications refused citing this Policy Planning permission and completions of retail and other town centre uses across the District by Parish	To maintain and/or increase the vitality and viability of the Town, District and Local Centres
DM13	NAP1 (1, 4, 5, 10, 11, 14)	NSDC Developers Landowners	Newark-on-Trent Town Investment Plan (TIP) Newark Conservation Area Character Appraisal Newark High Street Heritage Action Zone (HSHAZ)	No. of Planning Applications refused citing this Policy	To deliver the aims and objectives of the Newark-on-Trent Town Investment Plan (TIP), Newark Conservation Area Character Appraisal and Newark High Street Heritage Action Zone (HSHAZ).

Replacements for the trajectories to be provided in separate documents

- Housing trajectory 2022
- Allocations trajectory 2022
- Employment trajectories 2022

Illustrative Local Development Framework Housing Trajectory as at 01/04/2023

				-	-															
	2042/		00454	and a			2010/					2024/	2025/					2020/	2024	
	2013/ 2014	2014/ 2015	2015/ 2016	2016/ 2017	2017/ 2018	2018/ 2019	2019/ 2020	2020/ 2021	2021/ 2022	2022/ 2023	2023/ 2024	2024/ 2025	2025/ 2026	2026/ 2027	2027/ 2028	2028/ 2029	2029/ 2030	2030/ 2031	2031/ 2032	2032/ 2033
Planning Permission on Allocated Sites	71	70	89	173	249	306	221	367	520	452	380	331	341	316	200	390	410	411	390	367
Planning Permission on Unallocated Large																				
Sites (10 or over)	175	271	189	309	148	174	188	294	185	49	72	134	78	91	63	67	51	42	42	42
Planning Permission on Medium Sites (5-9)	18	36	49	47	29	52	89	59	56	33	18	43	36	53	27	3	3			
Planning Permission on Small Sites (0 - 4)	48	85	113	56	82	139	88	79	110	84	62	65	66	71	71					
Allocated SUE - Land East of Newark																25	50	100	100	100
Allocated SUE- Land Around Fernwood																85	85	85	85	85
Sites in the Adopted Allocations & Development Management DPD with no																				
permission as yet																152	215	206	216	182
Total Existing Commitments											532	573	521	531	361	722	814	844	833	776
Opportunity sites																				
Allowance for Windfall														75	75	75	75	75	75	75
Losses	-38	-15	-44	-14	-17	-17	-31	-32	-64	-30										
Total Past Net Completions	274	447	396	571	491	654	555	767	807	588										
Total Projected Completions											532	573	521	606	436	797	889	919	908	851
Cumulative Completions	274	721	1117	1688	2179	2833	3388	4155	4962	5550	6082	6655	7176	7782	8218	9015	9904	10823	11731	12582
PLAN - Overall Housing Requirement																				
(Annualised)	454	454	454	454	454	454	454	454	454	454	454	454	454	454	454	454	454	454	454	454
MONITOR - No. of dwellings above or below																				
cumulative requirement	-180	-187	-245	-128	-91	109	210	523	876	1010	1088	1207	1274	1426	1408	1751	2186	2651	3105	3502
MANAGE - Annual requirement taking account of past/projected completions	454	721	464	468	462	460	446	438	410	374	353	333	303	272	216	172	16	-275	-872	-2651

Housing Trajectory for Allocated Sites (at 01/04/23)

																						Total Dwellin
SHaP 4	Address	13/14	14/15	15/16	16/17	17/18	18/19	19/20	20/21	21/22	22/23	23/24	24/25	25/26	26/27	27/28	28/29	29/30	30/31	31/32	32/33	gs .
NAP 2A	Land South of Newark						57	90	117	152	87	43	25	25	25	25	150	150	150	150	150	893
Nap 2B	Land East of Newark																25	50	100	100	100	375
NAP 2C	Land Around Fernwood							3	53	87	141	125	125	125	125	125	185	185	186	185	175	1541
SHaP 4	Thoreby Colliery								13	47	80	75	51	35	35	26	85	90	90	90	83	660
NUA/Ho/2*	Land South of Quibells L	ane															5	20				25
NUA/Ho/4	Yorke Drive Estate and Li	ncoln F	laying	Fields													40	40	40	40	34	194
NUA/Ho/5	Land North of Beacon																					
	Hill Rd and the																					
	Northbound A1																25	40	45	45	45	200
NUA/Ho/6	Land between 55 and 65 l	Millgate	e									5	4				2	3				14
NUA/Ho/8	Land on Bowbridge Road													40	47							87
NUA/Ho/9	Land on Bowbridge Road	l (Newa	ark Stor	age)													30	30	30	30	30	150
NUA/Ho/10	Land North of Lowfield La	ane															20	25	25	25	25	120
NUA/MU/4	Land at Bowbridge Road,	(Elm A	venue	j						15	23	20	20	9								49
ColMUI	Land in between Swinder	by Roa	id and !	Station	Road B	Extra ca	28	37	21	51	14											0
So/Ho/2	Land South off Hallought									24	8	6										6
So/Ho/4	Land East of Kirklington I	Road															5	20	20			45
So/Ho/5	Land off Lower Kirklingto	n Road																12	24	24		60
SolHol7	Southwell Depot																		5	10		15
OBIMUI	Land at the rear of Peters	miths D	Drive						42	57	48	40	40	40	38							158
OBIMUI2	Land between Kirk Drive,																					
	Stepnall Heights and																					
	Hallam Road																20	25	25	25	25	120
Ed/Ho/2	Land to the North of Man:	sfield R	load														10	10	10	10	10	50
Bi/Ho/1	Adj Wycar Leys Kirklingt	on Road	d														10	10				20
Bi/Ho/2	Noble Foods										13	26	26	26	26	19						123
Bi/MU/1	Land to the East of Kirklin	ngton R	load								18	20	20	20	20	5						85
Ra/Ho/2*	Land to the East of Warso	p Lane	e Resid	lual site	35	53	51	21									15	20	20	20	20	95
Ra/MU/1	Land at Kirklington Road																		2	2	2	6
Bl/Ho/1	Land at Dale Lane																10	15	10	10	10	55
Bl/Ho/3	Land South of New Lane										20	20	20	21								61
CI/MU/1	Land at the former Clipsto	ne Coll	liery														25	25	20	25	25	120
Totals		0	Ó	0	35	53	136	151	246	433	452	380	331	341	316	200	662	770	802	791	734	5327



Sites which have planning permission



Sites without permission

Employment

Newark Area Employment Trajectories 2022 – 2033 (as at 1st April 2022)

Amended Core Strategy Requirement: 51.90ha, Provision 133.08ha

Allocation Ref	Allocation Type	Location	Policy requirements	Total (ha)	Available (ha)		Timeline (h	a)	Remaining ha Outside
	Type					0 – 5 years (to 2027)	5 – 10 years (to 2032)	10 – 11 years (to 2033)	the Plan Period
NUA/E/2	Employment	Stephenson Way, Newark	B2/B8/E(g)	6.85	6.85	6.85	0.00	0.00	0.00
NUA/E/3	Employment	Land off Telford Drive, Newark	B2/B8/E(g)	0.88	0.88	0.88	0.00	0.00	0.00
NUA/E/4	Employment	Former Notts CC Highways Department, Newark	B2/B8/E(g)	2.07	2.07	2.07	0.00	0.00	0.00
NUA/MU/1	Mixed Use	North of the A17, Newark	Employment uses	3.47	3.47	3.47	0.00	0.00	0.00
Co/MU/1	Mixed Use	Swinderby Road and Station Road, Collingham	Employment uses	0.75	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
NAP2C	Core Strategy Allocation	Land around Fernwood, Balderton	Includes B1	15.00	15.00	13.00	2.00	0.00	0.00
Allocation totals				29.02	28.27	26.27	2.00	0.00	0.00
Various	Extant permissions	Newark Plan Areas 1 and 2*	Various	12.45	12.45	10.58	1.87	0.00	0.00
10/01586/OUTM	Extant permission	Land South of Newark	B2/B8	50	50	14.00	28.00	8.00	0.00
Totals				91.47	90.72	50.85	31.87	8.00	0.00

Newark Area Employment Land Summary

	Area (ha)	Notes
Completions (ha) 01/04/13 - 31/03/22	26.81	Newark & Rural South Sub Area (1): 19.24ha, Collingham Sub Area
		(2): 0.09ha, Rural North Sub Area (3) 7.48ha
Commitments 0 – 5 Yrs	24.58	
Commitments 5 – 10 Yrs	29.87	
Commitments 10 – 11 Yrs	8.00	
Allocations 0 – 5 Yrs	26.27	
Allocations 5 – 10 Yrs	2.00	
Allocations 10 – 11 Yrs	0.00	
Available employment land in a designated	28.98	Land north and south of Cross Lane, Fernwood (7.77ha) Land
employment area		off Beacon Hill Road (G park)(15.61ha) Plot 16A Telford Drive
		(1.20ha) South Airfield Farm, Winthorpe (4.40ha)
Sub-total	146.51	
Commitments outside the plan period	0.00	
Allocations outside the plan period	0.00	
Loss of employment land 01/04/19 - 31/03/22	13.43	
Total deliverable ha within plan period	133.08	

Southwell Area Employment Trajectories 2022 – 2033

Amended Core Strategy Requirement: 4.50 ha, Provision 5.74ha

Allocation Ref	Allocation Type	Location	Policy requirements	Total (ha)	Available (ha)		Remaining ha Outside		
						0 – 5 years	5 – 10	10 – 11 years	the Plan
						(to 2027)	years (to 2032)	(to 2033)	Period
So/E/2	Employment	East of Crew Lane, Southwell	B2/B8/E(g)	2.33	2.33	1.43	0.90	0.00	0.00
Allocation totals				2.33	2.33	1.43	0.90	0.00	0.00
Various	Extant permissions	Southwell Area	Various	0.27	0.27	0.27	0.00	0.00	0.00
Totals				2.60	2.60	1.70	0.90	0.00	0.00

Southwell Area Employment Land Summary

	Area (ha)	Notes
Completions (ha) 01/04/13 - 31/03/22	3.36	
Commitments 0 – 5 Yrs	0.27	
Allocations 0 – 5 Yrs	1.43	
Allocations 5 – 10 Yrs	0.90	
Loss of employment land 01/04/19 - 31/03/22	0.22	
Total deliverable ha within plan period	5.74	

Nottingham Fringe Area Employment Land Summary

Amended Core Strategy Requirement: 0.10ha, Provision 0.08ha

	Area (ha)	Notes
Completions (ha) 01/04/13 - 31/03/22	0.13	
Commitments 0 – 5 Yrs	0.00	
Allocations 0 – 5 Yrs	0.00	
Allocations 5 – 10 Yrs	0.00	
Loss of employment land 01/04/19 - 31/03/22	0.05	
Total deliverable ha within plan period	0.08	

Sherwood Area Employment Trajectories 2022 – 2033

Amended Core Strategy Requirement: 16.20ha, Provision 30.58ha

Allocation Ref Allocation Type		n Location Policy requiremen		Total ts (ha)	Available (ha)	Timeline (ha)			Remaining ha Outside
						0 – 5 years (to 2027)	5 – 10 years (to 2032)	10 – 11 years (to 2033)	the Plan Period
OB/E/3	Employment	Land to the south of Boughton Industrial Estate, Boughton	Employment uses	3.78	3.78	3.35	0.43	0.00	0.00
Bi/E/1	Employment	Southern side of Brailwood Road, Bilsthorpe	Employment uses	2.67	2.67	1.90	0.77	0.00	0.00
Allocation totals				6.45	6.45	5.25	1.20	0.00	0.00
Various	Extant permissions	Sherwood Area	Various	0.85	0.85	0.85	0.00	0.00	0.00
16/02173/OUTM	Extant permission	Land at Thoresby Colliery	B uses	8.11	8.11	5.00	3.11	0.00	0.00
Totals				15.41	15.41	11.10	4.31	0.00	0.00

Sherwood Area Employment Land Summary

	Area (ha)	Notes
Completions (ha) 01/04/13 - 31/03/22	15.26	
Commitments 0 – 5 Yrs	5.85	
Commitments 5 – 10 Yrs	3.11	
Allocations 0 – 5 Yrs	5.25	
Allocations 5 – 10 Yrs	1.20	
Loss of employment land 01/04/19 - 31/03/22	0.09	
Total deliverable ha within plan period	30.58	

Mansfield Fringe Area Employment Trajectories 2022 – 2033

Amended Core Strategy Requirement: 10.40ha, Provision 16.08ha

Allocation Ref	Allocation Type	Location	Policy requirements	Total (ha)	Available (ha)	Timeline (ha)			Remaining ha Outside the Plan
						0 – 5 years (to 2027)	5 – 10 years (to 2032)	10 – 11 years (to 2033)	Period
Ra/E/1	Employment	Land West of Colliery Lane	B2/B8/E(g)	5.50	5.50	3.83	1.67	0.00	0.00
CI/MU/1	Employment	Land at the former Clipstone Colliery	Employment uses	12.00	12.00	2.00	6.00	1.00	3.00
BI/E/1	Employment	Land on Blidworth Industrial Park	Employment uses	0.33	0.33	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00
Allocation totals		17.83	17.83	6.16	7.67	1.00	3.00		
Various	Extant permissions	Mansfield Fringe Area	Various	0.14	0.14	0.14	0.00	0.00	0.00
Totals			17.97	17.97	6.30	7.67	1.00	3.00	

Mansfield Fringe Area Employment Land Summary

	Area (ha)	Notes
Completions (ha) 01/04/13 - 31/03/22	1.11	
Commitments 0 – 5 Yrs	0.14	
Allocations 0 – 5 Yrs	6.16	
Allocations 5 – 10 Yrs	7.67	
Allocations 10 – 11 Yrs	1.0	
Loss of employment land 01/04/19 - 31/03/22	0.00	
Total deliverable ha within plan period	16.08	

Appendix D - Open Space Assessment and Strategy (2021) – Quantity Standards

This Appendix sets out the quantity standards adopted as part of the Open Space Strategy & Assessment which was endorsed by Full Council in 2021. These standards are to be used to identify quantitative shortfalls in open space and to help to inform potential priorities for open space provision in a specific area. These quantity standards are also to be used to calculate provision requirements as part of future development.

This appendix should be read in conjunction with the Open Space Assessment & Strategy (2021).

Туроlоду	Quantity Standards
Parks & Gardens	0.60ha per 1,000 population
Amenity Greenspace	0.60ha per 1,000 population
Natural & Semi-natural Greenspace	10.00ha per 1,000 population
Provision for Children & Young People	0.75ha per 1,000 population
Allotment	0.50ha per 1,000 population

Appendix E Neighbourhood Planning - Strategic Policies

Introduction

1 The government has introduced a system of Neighbourhood Planning, which allows Parish and Town Councils to produce Plans and Orders to guide development at a local level. One of the requirements of such Plans and Orders is that they should be in line with the 'Strategic Policies' of the Local Development Framework. Three types of policy have been identified as strategic:

Policies which cover the whole of the District

- 2 The DPD contains a number of Development Management Policies which will provide the context for the consideration of development proposals across the District. In order to facilitate consistent implementation all Development Management Policies are regarded as strategic.
- 3 This DPD also includes two policies which replace policies in the Amended Core Strategy; Core Policy 1 and Core Policy 3, as they were considered strategic in the Amended Core Strategy their replacements in this DPD will continue to be so too.

Policies which allocate land which delivers a large percentage of future development requirements in that location

- 4 The DPD allocates a range of sites for future development across the District. Whilst the Newark Urban Area will accommodate a large percentage of future development, other locations have been allocated development to meet local need and aid regeneration. Larger sites in the context of these settlements should be regarded as strategic. These are:
 - i. A single allocation in one community which delivers development requirements;
 - ii. Allocations delivering 100 dwellings or more in Newark Urban Area;
 - iii. Allocations delivering 50 dwellings or more elsewhere in the District;
 - iv. Mixed Use Allocations of 2.5 hectares or more;
 - v. Employment allocations in or around Newark Urban Area of 5 hectares or more; and
 - vi. Employment allocations elsewhere in the District of 2.5 hectares or more.

Policies which deliver the Council's GRT Pitch Delivery Strategy

- **5** The DPD sets out a range of policies and allocations which seeks to meet the need of the GRT communities in the District. Given the critical need to address this housing need and the challenges that relate to achieving this the District Council has identified that these policies are all regarded as strategic.
- 6 The Policies which are identified as being strategic are set out in detail below:

Table 14

Policies Regarded as Strategic	Reason for Decision	
Policy DM 1 – Development within Settlements Central to Delivering the Spatial Strategy*	The Development Management Policies provide a strategic context for decision making across the	
Policy DM 2 – Development on Allocated Sites	District.	

Policies Regarded as Strategic	Reason for Decision
Policy DM 3 – Developer Contributions	
Policy DM 4 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Generation	
Policy DM 5(a) - The Design Process	
Policy DM 5(b) - Design	
Policy DM 5(c) - Sequential Test	
Policy DM 5(d) - Water Efficiency Measures in New Dwellings	
Policy DM 6 – Householder Development	
Policy DM 7 – Biodiversity and GreenInfrastructure	
Policy DM 8 – Development in the Open Countryside	
Policy DM 9 – Protecting and Enhancing theHistoric Environment	
Policy DM 10 – Pollution and Hazardous Materials	
Policy DM 11 – Retail and Town Centre Uses	
Policy DM 12 – Presumption in Favour ofSustainable Development	
Policy DM 13 - Regeneration Programmes and Schemes	
Clipstone – Cl/MU/1	A single allocation in one community which
Collingham – Co/MU/1	deliversdevelopment requirements.
Sutton on Trent – ST/MU/1	
Bilsthorpe - Bi/Ho/2	Allocations delivering 50 dwellings or more
Blidworth – Bl/Ho/1, Bl/Ho/3	elsewhere in the District (not already identified above).
Edwinstowe – Ed/Ho/2	
Rainworth – Ra/Ho/2	
Southwell – So/Ho/5	
Bilsthorpe – Bi/MU/1	Mixed Use Sites of 2 ½ hectares or more
Newark Urban Area – NUA/MU/1, NUA/MU/2, NUA/MU/4	(notalready identified above)
Ollerton & Boughton – OB/MU/1, OB/MU/2	

Policies Regarded as Strategic	Reason for Decision		
Newark Urban Area – NUA/E/2	Employment allocations in or around Newark Urban Area of 5 hectares or more.		
Bilsthorpe – Bi/E/1	Employment allocations elsewhere in the District		
Ollerton & Boughton – OB/E/3	of 2 ½ hectares or more.		
Rainworth - Ra/E/1			
Core Policy 1 Affordable Housing Provision	Policies which cover the whole of the District and		
Core Policy 3 Housing Type	provide a strategic context for decision making across the District.		
Policy GRT/1 - Pitch Requirements	Policies and Allocations which deliver the		
Policy GRT2 – Additional Provision on Existing Sites	- Council's GRT Pitch Delivery Strategy		
Policy GRT3 – Sites to be Brought Back into Gypsy Roma Traveller Use			
Policy GRT4 – Site Allocations			
Policy GRT5 – Tolney Lane Policy Area			
* Along with Spatial Policy 1 of the Core Strategy, Policy DM 1 is the policy to which Urban Boundaries and Village Envelopes are attached, therefore such designations are Strategic for the purposes of Neighbourhood Planning.			